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Chairlady’s Statement
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Dear Shareholders and stakeholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Ta Yang Group
Holdings Limited (the "Company”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group was principally
engaged in (i) the designing and manufacturing of silicone rubber
products (the “Silicone Business"); (ii) the provision of healthcare
and hotel services (the “Healthcare and Hotel Business”); and (iii)
the provision of retail services (the “Retail Business”) in the UK.

Since 2022, under the combined effect of various factors such as the
pandemic, inflation and geopolitical conflicts, the global economy
has been facing greater downward pressure. In the face of a
challenging market environment with numerous opportunities, the
Group has resolved to (i) enrich the types of silicone rubber products
and establish development strategy of promoting silicon technology;
and (i) operate overseas retail business to increase the market
influence of self-owned brands and expand steadily and orderly.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the results of the Group
slightly declined and recorded a (i) revenue of approximately
HK$343,541,000 (2021: approximately HK$362,528,000), representing
a decrease of approximately 5.24% as compared with the
corresponding period in 2021; (i) loss for the year of approximately
HK$98,904,000 (2021: approximately HK$85,768,000), representing an
increase of approximately 15.32% as compared with the
corresponding period in 2021; and (iii) loss per share of
approximately HK$7.50 cents (2021: approximately HK$7.52 cents),
representing a decrease of approximately 0.27% as compared with
the corresponding period in 2021.
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OUTLOOK

Looking forward, against the backdrop of economic downturn and
rising inflation, the supply chain of global industries will suffer from
short-term or even medium-to-long-term difficulties, and the
operating pressure will undoubtedly increase. The Group will
continue to operate in a diligent and prudent manner, adjust its
business strategies in a timely manner, and seek opportunities to
expand businesses with good development prospects.

The Silicone Business, as the main source of the Group's profit, will
create more value for the Group by virtue of its research and
development capabilities, production technology and high-quality
customer base. The Group will focus on the extension and upgrading
of products, quickly respond to market demand, enrich product
matrix, and will strive to enter into silicone-related industries with
good development prospects through cost-effective products.

Due to harsh business environment and insufficient resources, the
underperformance of the Healthcare and Hotel Business may not be
able to recover in the short term. Therefore, the Group will
continuously explore opportunities and consider measures to realise
the value of its investment in this segment.

The Retail Business is developing well and gradually moving on the
right track. The Group will continue to explore new type of business
to increase profitability and open new stores in an orderly manner to
expand the scale of revenue. The retail market in the UK is huge and
is expected to contribute to the Group's long-term stable operating
results and become one of the Group’s major income sources in the
future.

The Group will continue to optimize the existing business structure
and actively seek for new potential businesses to improve
performance and maximize returns. Should there be any progress,
the Company will make further announcement(s) in relation to such
potential business opportunities as and when appropriate.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

No dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil) is
recommended by the Board.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend our sincere
appreciation to the support and trust of our business partners and
Shareholders for their support. | would also extend my gratitude and
appreciation to all the Directors, management and staff for their hard
work and dedication throughout the year.

Shi Qi
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms, Shi Qi, aged 43, was appointed as an executive Director on 6
April 2016. Ms. Shi is the Chairlady, and a member of each of the
executive committee of the Company (the "Executive
Committee”), the nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration committee of
the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”). She has obtained
a master’'s degree of business administration from Centenary
College, New Jersey, majoring in finance in May 2009. She has more
than 11 years of experiences in corporate reorganization, corporate
and project financing, investments in real estate, securities and non-
securities assets and risk management. In 2009, she founded Seven
Ocean Investments Limited (“Seven Ocean”), and under her
leadership, Seven Ocean has developed from a small scale financing
company to a company that principally engages in providing
financing and corporate solutions and consultancy services, and
large scale medical and healthcare development projects. In 2015,
she invested in the development of Central Maine Healthcare
Institute, which delivers quality healthcare services in Auburn, Maine
(USA). She will also be responsible for the on-going management and
daily operation of the Central Maine Healthcare Institute. She has
also invested in the construction of the Central Leisure Park* (fp sk
K A B ) in Tongzhou Xincheng* (38 JI 7 ¥4 ), Beijing, a public
infrastructure covering an area of approximately 42.62 hectares and
providing sports, entertainment, medical and healthcare related
services. She was responsible for financing, devising the conceptual
design and the implementation plan and monitoring and managing
the progress of the construction. She will also be responsible for the
project’s subsequent operation and maintenance for 30 years.

Ms. Shi, the sole director and the ultimate beneficial owner of the
controlling shareholder of the Company, is deemed to be interested
in 796,875,490 Shares, representing approximately 60.98% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual
report.
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Mr. Li Jiuhua, aged 59, was appointed as an executive Director, the
Chief Executive Officer and the chairman of the Executive Committee
on 1 November 2022. Mr. Li graduated from the Xiamen University in
the PRC with a bachelor degree in Finance in 2003, and obtained a
master degree in business administration from the Jiangxi University
of Finance and Economics in the PRC in 2011. He has over 35 years
of experience in the securities and finance industries. He was (i) the
deputy chief executive officer of China Huarong International
Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of China Huarong Asset Management
Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code of
2799) from March 2017 to August 2017; (i) an executive director of
Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited (“Zhong Ji”, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code of 767) from September
2017 to January 2020, and also the chief executive officer of Zhong Ji
from October 2017 to January 2020 (iii) the chairman of Zhong Bang
International Holdings Limited and the assistant to general manager
for Jiangxi Ganjiang Traditional Chinese Medicine Branch
Chuangcheng Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd. CTFaZ8 T+
BEMAMERKEESEAER QA ) from February 2020 to
November 2021; and (iv) the executive director and chief executive
officer of Zhong Ji from December 2021 to April 2022.

Mr. Gao Feng, aged 42, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on 6 April 2016 and re-designated as an executive Director on 13
November 2019. He has more than 11 years of experience in
corporate management. He has been the general manager of Beijing
Zhongmei Zhengchen Construction Co., Ltd.* (b R EIERER
FR2|]), which mainly engages in real estate and construction since
2012. He was the general manager of Beijing Kaiyun Zhifeng Industry
and Trade Co., Ltd* (Jt REli& 2 & T & B R A7) from 2009 to
2012.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip, aged 44, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 3 August 2020. He has over 16 years’
experience in auditing, financial accounting and reporting. He
worked in BDO Limited and KPMG from 2005 to 2014 and from 2014
to 2019 respectively. His last position with KPMG was a senior audit
manager. He is currently the senior vice president at the group
finance department of Mason Group Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 273)),
acting as the group financial controller and oversees all functions of
the group'’s finance department. He holds a bachelor of information
technology degree in data communications from Queensland
University of Technology in Australia, and a master of practising
accounting degree from Monash University in Australia. He is also a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
CPA Australia.

Mr. Han Lei, aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on 6 April 2016. He has more than 21 years of entertainment and
performing experience in the music industry and had received
numerous awards in the industry. He has participated in CCTV Spring
Festival Evening Galas, charity performances, cultural and tourism
promotion performances, etc. Other than his entertainment career,
he also actively participates in various political associations and
social campaigns. He was a member of the tenth session of All-China
Youth Federation (R ZE2 B FFEE® ). He was appointed as the
“Celebrity of Health”* (f2FZ % A) by the preceding Kang Yi Wang*
(FE %49) and the image ambassador in “Yao Yang” public pension
project* ([#2F5 | EE R &=IEH ) conducted by Red Cross Society of
China.

Mr. Gu Shixiang, aged 56, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 28 December 2022. Mr. Gu graduated from Anhui
Agricultural University and has over 20 years of experience in
management. He was last employed by China Landlord Group
Limited as the chief executive officer.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Siu Tat, aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 4 April 2022. Mr. Chan is the chairman of each
of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
and the Nomination Committee, and a member of the Remuneration
Ccommittee. He graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology with a major in accounting. He is a certified public
accountant (practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. He was (i) an executive director of CIMC-
TianDa Holdings Company Limited (a company previously listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 445)) from 2003
to 2006; (ii) an independent non-executive director and non-
executive director of Tongguan Gold Group Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 340)) from
November 2006 to December 2007 and from December 2007 to May
2008 respectively; and (iii) an independent non-executive director
and executive director of International Business Settlement Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 147)) from September 2016 to September 2020 and from
September 2020 respectively. He possesses over 21 years of
experience in corporate restructuring, financial capital planning and
corporate management.

Mr. Hu Jiangbing, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 31 March 2020. Mr. Hu is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee. He obtained a bachelor’s
degree in computer software from University of Science and
Technology of China (I EIFHKE) in 1984 and a master’s degree
in business administration from Peking University ( 4t 5 A £ ) in
1997. From August 1984 to July 1989, he was the vice general
manager of the Sitong Group* (PU:B& B S 2 F]). From July 1989
to July 1994, he was the general manager (China region) of King Sun
Computer (HK) Limited (&£ LS AR AF]). From July 1994 to
July 1997, he was the government relations director for Compaq
Computer Limited (China) ( 25 Bl 5z 48 & f§ 2 & ). From 1997 to
present, he has been a general manager of Beijing Shengjinnuo
Management Consulting Co., Ltd Gt R A EEZEABRAF).
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Mr. Hu has a personal interest in 850,000 Shares, representing
approximately 0.1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the date of this annual report.

Ms. Wang Lina, aged 39, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 22 April 2020. Ms. Wang is a member of the
Audit Committee. She graduated from Shanghai Lixin University of
Accounting (_ /&7 {2 €588t ) in 2005 where she studied foreign
accounting, and obtained her bachelor’s degree in accountancy from
Northeast Forestry University (BRIbMRZEKE) in 2014. From 2005 to
present, she has been the manager of finance department and the
senior manager of investment department for Shanghai Guoteng
Zhirui Co. Ltd.* ( E/BEIEBUREHRBERAA]).

*  For identification purpose only
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BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group was principally
engaged in (i) the designing and manufacturing of silicone rubber
products (the “Silicone Business”); (ii) the provision of healthcare
and hotel services (the “Healthcare and Hotel Business"”); and (iii)
the provision of retail services (the “Retail Business”) in the United
Kingdom (the “UK").

Since 2022, under the combined effect of various factors such as the
pandemic, inflation and geopolitical conflicts, the global economy
has been facing greater downward pressure. In the face of a
challenging market environment with numerous opportunities, the
Group has resolved to (i) enrich the types of silicone rubber products
and establish development strategy of promoting silicon technology;
and (ii) operate overseas retail business to increase the market
influence of self-owned brands and expand steadily and orderly.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the results of the Group
slightly declined and recorded a (i) revenue of approximately
HK$343,541,000 (2021: approximately HK$362,528,000), representing
a decrease of approximately 5.24% as compared with the
corresponding period in 2021; (i) loss for the year of approximately
HK$98,904,000 (2021: approximately HK$85,768,000), representing an
increase of approximately 15.32% as compared with the
corresponding period in 2021; and (iii) loss per share of
approximately 7.50 HK cents (2021: approximately 7.52 HK cents),
representing a decrease of approximately 0.27% as compared with
the corresponding period in 2021.

The Silicone Business

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Silicone Business remains
the main source of the Group's revenue and is the core business of
the Group. Despite the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in
the PRC, the Silicone Business still managed to stay resilient and
recorded positive results.

The Group is committed to expanding the Silicone Business,
including the application and innovation of lifestyle products, and
seeking opportunities to enter into the new energy vehicle field by
providing silicone accessories for new energy vehicles. For the year
ended 31 December 2022, the major products of the Silicone
Business include consumer electronic devices, peripheral products
and various lifestyle products. In the coming year, the Group will
invest more resources in the research and development of products,
continue to enrich the product matrix of the silicone lifestyle
products, and formulate comprehensive solutions for the provision
of silicone accessories for new energy vehicles.
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The Healthcare and Hotel Business

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Healthcare and Hotel
Business continued to incur operating losses. With the end of the
pandemic control and the expected recovery of the real estate
market, the Group will seize the opportunity of performance recovery
to improve its operating results, and will continue to seek the
possibility of realizing its business assets.

The Retail Business

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Retail Business in the UK
is progressing smoothly, with a product catalogue covering daily
necessities, fruits and fresh produce and silicone products (ranging
from living utensils, kitchen utensils, stationery to beauty products),
and continues to incorporate new elements to create a cultural and
lifestyle cluster with oriental features. Currently, three physical stores
have been opened in London, the UK. It is expected that the Group
will continue to expand its store coverage and enhance the market
competitiveness of its supermarket brands in the coming year.

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, against the backdrop of economic downturn and
rising inflation, the supply chain of global industries will suffer from
short-term or even medium-to-long-term difficulties, and the
operating pressure will undoubtedly increase. The Group will
continue to operate in a diligent and prudent manner, adjust its
business strategies in a timely manner, and seek opportunities to
expand businesses with good development prospects.

The Silicone Business

The Silicone Business, as the main source of the Group's profitability,
will create more value for the Group by virtue of its research and
development capabilities, production technology and high-quality
customer base. The Group will focus on the extension and upgrading
of products, quickly respond to market demand, enrich product
matrix, and will strive to enter into silicone-related industries with
good development prospects through cost-effective products.

The Healthcare and Hotel Business

Due to harsh business environment and insufficient resources, the
underperformance of the Healthcare and Hotel Business may not be
able to recover in the short term. Therefore, the Group will
continuously explore opportunities and consider measures to realise
the value of its investment in this segment.

BERRNBIERS
BE-_ZT-—F+-A=1+—HILFE  &BF
RERAEESFEEALLEER - BEER
EEEREEHEMSHNBEHEE  AEEG
TEEEEHROEE  RSEERE Ti5HE
BEREEKEEZITMNATRE -

TEXK
BE-_ZT-_F+-A=+—HILFE  &£H
TEERERIEF  EREBEREEELT
m MEEHERYBER(REETRA  BF
BAE - XAUZERER)  WHETIATH
TEITERABEHN UL EEERM - BAIE
KERBRGRAR=RERIE - WEAE ~—
FREBER EHE - WIEaBHmMRENTES
BmE o

RE

RERE  EEETT BRESNERT
EREENHEREXIEREEFRHAN
B REBENBERGERBA - NEEE 0
REMNHBEERNOEELE  BEHBER
BB - YSHINRABRIFERATSOERS

WEXE

WRBEBERASBRNNIZRR - #GHE
ey EERMEEENTFERE /X
SEAEEZHEE AREBREERERDN
AR - RERMETSFFR  LEERE
[ WHFBMARMEEBLELNERDAZRASR
R BHRRRE R AL -

BRI GENBIERE

MRERRERS ERTRE  BERRENE
EEBRRTENBREHARHERE -
It AEEBRERRBE REBER AN Z
DEHREEENIE



—_BFFER

AFESFEEZERBERL ST

Management Discussion and Analysis

E12E575m i

The Retail Business

The Retail Business is developing well and gradually moving on the
right track. The Group will continue to explore new type of business
to increase profitability and open new stores in an orderly manner to
expand the scale of revenue. The retail market in the UK is huge and
is expected to contribute to the Group's long-term stable operating
results and become one of the Group’s major income sources in the
future.

Other Potential Business Opportunities

The Group will continue to optimize the existing business structure
and actively seek for new potential businesses to improve
performance and maximize returns. Should there be any progress,
the Company will make further announcement(s) in relation to such
potential business opportunities as and when appropriate.

TERMINATION OF A DISPOSAL OF THE
HEALTHCARE AND HOTEL BUSINESS

On 5 July 2021, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “SPA") to sell 71% interest in Ta Yang Medical
Investment Limited (K B eds & 47 BR/A 7)) (the “Target Company”)
to an independent third party at the consideration of approximately
RMB14,700,000. The Target Company to be disposed of and its
subsidiaries operated the Healthcare and Hotel Business, and owned
properties in Sanya, Hainan Province, the PRC.

The SPA did not complete and was later terminated mainly because
the consideration was not fully paid. On 28 January 2022, the relevant
parties to the SPA entered into a termination agreement to terminate
the SPA immediately. In particular, all transaction arrangements
which had occurred by reasons of the SPA were restored to the
position before entering into the SPA. The termination of the SPA did
not cause any material adverse impact on the financial position and
operation of the Group.
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TERMINATION OF A POSSIBLE
ACQUISITION OF A PACKAGING BUSINESS

On 15 December 2021, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a memorandum of understanding (the “MOU"), with the
purpose of acquiring a packaging business. The MOU granted the
Group an exclusivity period of six months for due diligence and term
negotiation, and the Group paid a refundable deposit of
RMB20,000,000 in return. In June 2022, the parties to the MOU had
not agreed on a formal agreement or an extension. The refundable
deposit of RMB20,000,000 was returned to the Group at nil interest.
Accordingly, the MOU lapsed with effect from 15 June 2022 and the
possible acquisition did not proceed.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$343,541,000 (2021: approximately
HK$362,528,000), representing a decrease of approximately 5.24% as
compared with the corresponding period in 2021.

The revenue was principally contributed by the Silicone Business,
which recorded a revenue of approximately HK$308,101,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately
HK$361,234,000), accounting for approximately 89.68% (2021:
approximately 99.64%) of the total revenue of the Group.

The performance of the Retail Business has achieved a relatively
significant breakthrough, recording a revenue of approximately
HK$35,413,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil),
accounting for approximately 10.31% of the total revenue of the
Group.

The performance of the Healthcare and Hotel Business was
unsatisfactory and recorded a revenue of approximately HK$27,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately
HK$1,294,000), accounting for approximately 0.01% (2021:
approximately 0.36%) of the total revenue of the Group.
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Gross profit

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the gross profit was
approximately HK$83,480,000 (2021: approximately HK$76,281,000),
representing an increase of approximately 9.44% as compared with
the corresponding period in 2021. For the year ended 31 December
2022, the gross profit margin increased to approximately 24.30%
(2021: approximately 21.04%). The increase in the gross profit margin
was mainly due to the Group’s continuous improvement in cost
control. While streamlining the workforce, the overall cost of sales
has been improved due to factors such as the decrease in raw
material prices.

Other income and net gain

For the year ended 31 December 2022, other income and net gain
was approximately HK$31,658,000 (2021: approximately
HK$63,102,000), representing a decrease of approximately 49.83% as
compared with the corresponding period in 2021. The significant
decrease in other income was mainly due to the fact that no other
significant income was generated during the year similar to the one-
off disposal of the properties in Huzhou in the PRC in the
corresponding period in 2021.

Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the selling and distribution
expenses were approximately HK$23,078,000 (2021: approximately
HK$22,125,000), representing an increase of approximately 4.31% as
compared with the corresponding period in 2021. For the year ended
31 December 2022, the administrative expenses were approximately
HK$138,877,000 (2021: approximately HK$157,023,000), representing
a decrease of approximately 11.56% as compared with the
corresponding period in 2021.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$98,063,000 (2021: loss of approximately HK$84,901,000),
representing an increase of approximately 15.50% as compared with
the corresponding period in 2021. For the year ended 31 December
2022, the loss per share was approximately HK$7.50 cent (2021:
approximately HK$7.52 cent), representing a decrease of
approximately 0.27% as compared with the corresponding period in
2021.
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s major source of
funds was cash generated from operating and financing activities,
and the Group’s liquidity improved as compared with the
corresponding period in 2021.

ReRsS kKRR
BE-_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE X%
ENEFEEeRRAKELMEEHEENR
& BT —FREEEL  AEENREE
SRR EFTRE -

2022 2021

—g-= —E-—4F

Cash and cash equivalents (HK$'000) HekIREEEW(TET) 24,005 59,579
Current ratio mENLL = 0.7 1.2
Quick ratio mEpLE = 0.6 1.1
Gearing ratio* A&t & 1.4 0.8

* The gearing ratio of the Group was calculated by dividing total
borrowings by total equity.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s operations, financials and prospects are affected by
risks and uncertainties. The risk factors listed below may directly or
indirectly lead to significant differences in the Group’s operating
performances, financial positions and development prospects from
its expected or past performances. These factors are not
comprehensive, and there may be other risks and uncertainties that
are not identified by the Group or may not be noticeable at present,
but may become significant in the future.

Business risk

Performance of all business segments of the Group may be affected
by fluctuations in market prices and market demands of the final
products. On the other hand, raw materials provided by the Group’s
suppliers are subject to price fluctuations as well. For example, the
Silicone Business requires stocking of silicone/rubber raw materials,
and the Group does not enter into any material contracts to hedge
against such price fluctuations. Therefore, any price fluctuation in
raw materials will exert pressures on the Group’s production costs,
and impact the competitiveness of the Group’s final products. If the
Group fails to adapt and respond successfully to the changing
demands and supplies, its business performance and development
prospects may be adversely affected.
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Industry risk

All business segments of the Group are operating in highly
competitive industries. In particular, the Silicone Business faces
competitions not only from other silicone rubber products, but also
from new material products. Competition may also intensify as the
Group’s competitors expand their product categories, lower their
selling prices, increase their qualities or conduct promotions. If the
Group does not compete successfully against existing or new
competitors, its existing business scale and operation performance
may not be maintained.

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded total current assets of
approximately HK$310,400,000 and total current liabilities of
approximately HK$444,200,000. The bank balances and cash as well
as the current liabilities of the Group remained tight. If the
receivables are not fully recovered, the Group may not have
sufficient resources to repay its short-term obligations as they fall
due.

Event risk

Event risk refers to the risk of a negative impact on the Company’'s
operational performance and financial position as a result of an
unexpected event like a natural disaster or an industrial accident.
These kinds of events may interrupt the Group's operations, increase
prices of raw material and outsourced services, and exacerbate
other risks and uncertainty that the Group is facing. Due to the
unpredictable nature of such event risks, there is no guarantee that
the Group's responsive measures are sufficient.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no change to the
authorised share capital of the Company which is HK$2,000,000,000
dividable into 20,000,000,000 Shares in the par value of HK$0.1 each.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had issued a total of
1,306,767,000 Shares in the par value of HK$0.1 each, and all Shares
were fully paid and rank pari passu with each other in all respects.

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had no outstanding options,
warrants, convertibles or other arrangements to issue Shares.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR ADDITIONS
OF CAPITAL ASSETS

Save for the disclosed, the Group did not have any significant
investments, material acquisition or disposal of any subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures and affiliated companies during the year
ended 31 December 2022, nor were there any future plans for
material investments or additions of capital assets as at 31
December 2022.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Capital commitments contracted by the Group but not yet provided
for in the financial statements as at 31 December 2022 were
approximately HK$9,800,000 (2021: approximately HK$6,000,000),
which was mainly related to the expansion of production capacity of
the Silicone Business. Such capital commitments will be financed by
the net proceeds from operating activities. As at 31 December 2022,
certain properties of the Group of approximately HK$175,400,000
(2021: approximately HK$152,500,000) were pledged to secure
banking facilities or bank and other borrowings granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

No material contingent liabilities of the Group were noted as at 31
December 2022 (2021 nil).
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CURRENCY MANAGEMENT AND
TREASURY POLICY

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's cash receipts
were denominated in United States dollars (“USD"), HKD, Pound
Sterling (“GBP") and RMB, while the labour costs, manufacturing
overheads, selling and administrative expenses of the Group were
mostly negotiated, measured and settled in RMB. As at 31 December
2022, the majority of cash and cash equivalents were held in USD,
HKD and RMB. As the Retail Business in the UK has become one of
the principal businesses of the Group, it is expected that GBP will
constitute a key functional currency of the Group in the future.
Therefore, fluctuations of RMB and GBP will affect the Group's
profitability. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did
not enter into any financial instrument for hedging purpose. The
Group will closely monitor the currency movements and take
appropriate measures to deal with such exchange-rate exposure.

The Group adopted a conservative approach to the cash
management and investment of uncommitted funds. Unused funds
were placed as short-term deposits with authorised financial
institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As the Group is committed to improving production capacity,
developing high-quality products, and expanding industry chain,
experienced workers, engineers and professionals are crucial to the
Group. The Group offers on-the-job training and encourages staff to
attend continuous professional training in order to enhance their
skills and knowledge. The Group also offers competitive
remuneration packages, including quality staff quarters, medical
care, insurance coverage and retirement benefits, to employees. As
at 31 December 2022, the Group employed 853 permanent and
temporary employees (2021: 1,164). The total salaries and related
costs for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$123,800,000 (2021: approximately
HK$124,700,000).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards of
corporate governance best suited to the needs and interests of the
Group as it believes that effective corporate governance practices
are fundamental to enhancing Shareholder value and safeguarding
interests of Shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board sets
appropriate policies and implements corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Group's business.

To the best knowledge of the Board, the Company has complied with
the applicable code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ transactions in the securities of the Company.
Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and all Directors
confirmed that they had fully complied with the required standard of
dealings and the code of conduct adopted by the Company and
there was no event of non-compliance throughout the year ended 31
December 2022 and up to the date of this report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this report, the Board
comprises the following three executive Directors, three non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors
(“INEDS"):

Executive Directors

Ms. Shi Qi (Chairlady)

Mr. Li Jiuhua (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 1 November 2022)

Mr. Liu Wengang (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 5 August 2022)

Mr. Cheng Hong (resigned on 29 June 2022)

Mr. Gao Feng

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip
Mr. Han Lei
Mr. Gu Shixiang (appointed on 28 December 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (appointed on 4 April 2022)
Mr. Hu Jiangbing

Ms. Wang Lina

Mr. Lin Bing (resigned on 4 April 2022)

The Company has maintained on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange an updated list of directors identifying their roles
and functions and whether they are INEDs. INEDs are identified as
such in all corporate communications that disclose the names of
Directors.

The biographical details of the Directors are contained in the section
headed Directors’ Profile of this annual report. Save as disclosed, no
Director has any financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships with other Directors.
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The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. All executive Directors, non-executive Directors and INEDs
bring a variety of experience and expertise to the Company. The
number of INEDS has met the minimum requirement of the Listing
Rules, and represents not less than one-third of the total Board
members. Further, at least one of the INEDS possesses appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and/or financial management
expertise.

The INEDs bring a wide range of skills and business experience to the
Group. They also bring independent judgment on the issues of
strategy, performance and risk through their contribution to the
Board meetings and to the Board's committee meetings. The Board
has received from each INED the written confirmation of his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and
considers all of them to be independent having regard to (i) their
annual confirmation on independence as required under the Listing
Rules; (ii) absence of involvement in the daily management of the
Group; (iii) absence of any relationships or circumstances which
would interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment; and
(iv) absence of remuneration from the Company other than the
directors’ fee which is fixed, not equity-based and not performance-
related.

Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

All Directors (including non-executive Directors) were appointed for a
specific term. Formal letters of appointment or service contracts sets
out the key terms and conditions of their appointment were in place.
Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip, Mr. Han Lei and Mr. Gu Shixiang, the non-
executive Directors, have entered into formal appointment letters for
a term of one to three years subject to termination by giving not less
than one month’s prior written notice. Mr. Chan Siu Tat, Mr. Hu
Jiangbing and Ms. Wang Lina, the INEDs, have entered into formal
appointment letters for a term of one to three years subject to
termination by giving not less than one month’s prior written notice.
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In accordance with the Company’'s articles of association
(“Articles”), (i) all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years, (i) any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting
after his/her appointment; and (iii) any Director appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting. At the forthcoming
annual general meeting, Mr. Gao Feng, Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip
and Ms. Wang Lina shall retire from their respective offices by
rotation and offer themselves for re-election in accordance with
Article 87(1) of the Articles. On the other hand, Mr. Li Jiuhua and Mr.
Gu Shixiang, each being a newly appointed Director, will hold their
respective offices until the forthcoming annual general meeting and
offer themselves for re-election at such meeting in accordance with
Article 86(3) of the Articles.

Functions of the Board

The function of the Board is to guide the management to ensure the
interests of the Shareholders are safeguarded. The Board is
responsible for the oversight of the management of the Company’s
business and affairs with the goal of maximizing long term
shareholder’s value, while balancing broader stakeholder interests.

The Board has the following main duties:

o to establish the Company’s purpose, values and strategy, and
culture;

o to determine material and significant corporate matters;
o to direct and supervise the businesses of the Group; and

o to ensure effectiveness on the Group's financial reporting and
compliance.
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The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations and management of the
Group’s businesses to the executive Directors and senior
management, and certain specific responsibilities to the Board
committees. The Board has matters reserved for its decisions and
these include:

o long-term strategy and business plan;

o major capital projects, acquisitions or divestments;

o long-term and material funding decision;

o internal controls, risk management and compliance; and

. annual and interim financial results and shareholder
communications.

When delegating aspects of the management and administration
functions, the Board has given clear directions as to the powers of
management, in particular, where the management should report
back and obtain prior Board approval before making decisions or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company. While
offering the management substantial autonomy to run and develop
the business, the Board plays a key role in structuring and monitoring
the reporting systems and internal controls.
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Board meetings and Board practices
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings, the general
meeting and the Board committees’ (the “Board Committees”
including, the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee) meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the table

below:

Executive Directors
Ms. Shi Qi (Chairlady)
Mr. Li Jiuhua
(Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 1 November 2022)
Mr. Liu Wengang
(Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 5 August 2022)
Mr. Cheng Hong
(resigned on 29 June 2022)
Mr. Gao Feng

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip
Mr. Han Lei
Mr. Gu Shixiang
(appointed on 28 December 2022)

Independent non-executive
Directors
Mr. Chan Siu Tat
(appointed on 4 April 2022)
Mr. Hu Jianghing
Ms. Wang Lina
Mr. Lin Bing
(resigned on 4 April 2022)
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Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring Board approval were
arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions of all Board
members.

In addition to regular Board meetings, under code provision C.2.7 of
the CG, the chairman should at least annually hold meetings with the
INEDs without the presence of other Directors (the “Chairlady and
INEDs"). During the year, one Chairlady and INEDS Meeting was
held.

The Chairlady is primarily responsible, with assistance of the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
for drawing up and approving the agenda for the Board meeting and
each Director may request to include any matters in the agenda. At
least 14 days' notices are given to the Directors for the regular Board
meetings by the Company to facilitate their attendance. All
substantive agenda items with comprehensive briefing papers are
distributed to Directors at least 3 days before the Board meetings so
as to ensure that the Directors may receive accurate, timely and
clear information to make informed decisions. For non-regular Board
meetings, reasonable advance notices are given.

The Board meetings are structured to allow open discussion. All
Directors participate in discussing the strategy, operational and
financial performance and internal controls of the Group. The Board
may, upon reasonable request, seek independent professional
advise in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense and
ensure independent views and input are available to the Board. The
Board may resolve to provide separate independent professional
advise to Directors to assist them to perform their duties to the
Company.

All Directors may obtain the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who regularly updates the Board on governance and
regulatory matters. The Company Secretary is also responsible for
ensuring the procedures of the Board meetings are observed and
providing the Board with opinions on matters in relation to the
compliance with the procedures of Board meetings.
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If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the Company will not deal with the matter
by way of written resolution or by a Board committee (except if that
Board committee was specifically established for such purpose) but
by a physical Board meeting. The INEDs with no material interest in
the matter will attend the Board meeting to deal with the matter as
appropriate subject to the Listing Rules and the Articles, as
appropriate. Any Director who or whose associates have any
material interest in any proposed Board resolutions shall not vote
(nor be counted in the quorum) on the relevant Board resolutions.

All business transacted at the Board meetings and by written
resolutions were-well documented. Draft minutes are circulated to
the Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.
Minutes of the Board meetings and written resolutions are kept by
the Company and are available to all Directors.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to
ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of the director’s
responsibilities under the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company's business and governance policies.

The Company will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors
to develop and refresh their duties and responsibilities.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. According to
the records maintained by the Company, all the Directors have
participated in continuous professional development on corporate
governance, updates on laws, rules and regulations and accounting/
financial/management or other professional skills to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions and duties
of a listed company director during the year ended 31 December
2022.
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Executive directors

Ms. Shi Qi (Chairlady)

Mr. Li Jiuhua (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 1 November 2022)

Mr. Liu Wengang (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 5 August 2022)
Mr. Cheng Hong (resigned on 29 June 2022)

Mr. Gao Feng

Non-executive directors

Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip

Mr. Han Lei

Mr. Gu Shixiang (appointed on 28 December 2022)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Chan Siu Tat (@appointed on 4 April 2022)

Mr. Hu Jiangbing
Ms. Wang Lina
Mr. Lin Bing (resigned on 4 April 2022)
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Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

The Company has renewed directors’ and officers’ liabilities
insurance for all the Directors and the senior management of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022. The insurance
covers them against costs, charges, expenses and liabilities arising
out of the Company’s activities.

CHAIRLADY AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles of the chairman of the board and the chief executive officer
are segregated in order to reinforce their independence and
accountability. For the year ended 31 December 2022, Ms. Shi Qi
acted as the Chairlady while Mr. Li Jiuhua acted as the Chief
Executive Officer. There are clear demarcations of responsibility and
authority between the Chairlady and the CEO which ensure an
appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater
capacity of the Board for independent decision-making.

The responsibilities of the Chairlady include:

1. to ensure all Directors are properly briefed on matters to be
discussed at Board meetings,

2. to ensure all Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner,

3. to provide leadership for the Board;

4. to ensure that the Board works effectively, performs its
responsibilities and discusses all key issues in a timely manner;

5. todraw up and approve the agenda for Board meetings taking
into account any matters proposed by the other Directors for
inclusion in the agenda;

6. to take primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are in place, and to
oversee implementation of the practices and procedures on
corporate governance;
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to give each Director an opportunity to express his/her
different views at Board meetings and to voice their concerns,
to encourage all Directors to fully contribute to the Board’s
affairs and to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests of
the Company, and to allow sufficient time for discussion of
issues and to ensure that Board decisions fairly reflect Board
consensus;

to ensure that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communication with Shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the Board as a whole; and

to promote a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of non-executive Directors in particular
and ensuring constructive relations between executive and
non-executive Directors.

The responsibilities of the CEO include:

1.

to provide leadership for the management;

to implement and to report to the Board on the Company’s
strategy;

to oversee realisation by the Company of the objectives set by
the Board,

to provide all such information to the Board as is necessary to
enable the Board to monitor the performance of the management;

to lead management of the Company’s relationships with its
stakeholders;

to put in place programs for management development and
succession; and

to establish and maintain proper internal controls and risk
management systems as well as disclosure controls and
procedures.
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MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

In general, the daily management and administration functions of the
Group have been delegated to the management except for certain
matters specifically reserved to the Board for decision. The
management supplied the Board with appropriate and sufficient
explanation and information through financial reports, business and
operational reports and budget statements, in a timely manner, to
enable them to make informed decisions.

In order for the Directors to make enquires where necessary, the
Directors are also provided with names and contact details of the
Company’s senior management and the Company Secretary to
facilitate Director’s access to senior management and the Company
Secretary.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The INEDs support the effective discharge of the duties and
responsibilities of the Board, and to bring independent views and
input to the Board.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2022.The
Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation of
his/her independence, and the Company has assessed and
considered such INED to be independent in accordance with each
and the various guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements
will be granted to INED to avoid bias in their decision-making and
compromise their objective and independence.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties, the Board has
currently delegated specific functions to four Board committees.
They are the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The
Board is responsible for the functions of risk management and
corporate governance functions. For the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this annual report, the composition of
each committee are as follows:

Executive Committee

Mr. Li Jiuhua (chairman)
(appointed on 1 November 2022)

Mr. Liu Wengang (chairman)
(resigned on 5 August 2022)

Ms. Shi Qi

Mr. Cheng Hong
(resigned on 29 June 2022)

Audit Committee

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (chairman)
(appointed on 4 April 2022)

Mr. Lin Bing (chairman)
(resigned on 4 April 2022)

Mr. Hu Jiangbing

Ms. Wang Lina

Remuneration Committee

Mr. Hu Jiangbing (chairman)
Mr. Chan Siu Tat

(appointed on 4 April 2022)
Ms. Shi Qi
Mr. Lin Bing

(resigned on 4 April 2022)

Nomination Committee

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (chairman)
(appointed on 4 April 2022)

Mr. Lin Bing (chairman)
(resigned on 4 April 2022)

Mr. Hu Jiangbing

Ms. Shi Qi
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All the Board committees have clear written terms of reference and
have to report on their decisions and recommendation to the Board.
These written terms of reference are available for access at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong and each
of the committee members was furnished with a copy of the
respective terms of reference. The written terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee are also available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

All business dealt with by the Board committees were well-
documented. All minutes of the Board committee meetings record in
sufficient detail of the matters considered and decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by members of the Board committees
or dissenting views expresses. Draft and final versions of minutes are
sent to all members of each respective committee for their comment
and records respectively. Final versions of the minutes are kept by
the Company and are open to inspection by members of the Board
committees at any time.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee currently comprises two members, both of
which are executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Jiuhua and Ms. Shi Qi.
Mr. Li Jiuhua is the chairman of the Executive Committee.

Responsibility of the Executive Committee

The Executive Committee’s responsibilities include, among others,
the following:

o to set strategies, policies, plans and operational directions for
the Group;

o to manage day-to-day financial and business affairs of the
Group;

o to approve projects not exceeding a monetary amount pre-
determined by the Board,

J to manage funds, bank facilities, loans, inter-company loans of
the Group;

o to manage the share option scheme of the Company.
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Major works done by the Executive Committee HOTZE8RANERIE

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the major works done by the #HE-_Z-——F+_B=+—HI-FE ' 17T
Executive Committee were summarised as follows: ZECEMMNEZ TIERMOT

e managed day-to-day operation of the Group's businesses; s EREEXBHNBEELE:

o managed overall financial performance of the Group in e EIEAREETTHBES T2 NRTEEN
fulfillment of strategy, plans and budgets; RIS 34E ¢

o managed the Group’s capital budgets and expenditures; o EEAEENEATEERSHE

BEASEEENSZEBEENEE

o managed relationship with important stakeholders of the =
Group; and &

e managed the share option scheme of the Company. BEAEENBRESE -

A

08

AUDIT COMMITTEE BEES

PN

The Audit Committee currently comprises three members, all of HEZZEE€BRHR=-RKEAK - 9 EBTIE
which are INEDs, namely Mr. Chan Siu Tat, Mr. Hu Jiangbing and Ms.  #{17&% - BIfRAEL 4 - i T R A K T8
Wang Lina. Mr. Chan Siu Tat is the chairman of the Audit Committee, &+ - B EL A ABZEZESTHE B
who has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in  FEENEXER LA ESEIEEELER
accounting matters. None of the members of the Audit Committee is & - =L S @5k 8 AN 738 B IMNEP1&
a former partner of the existing external auditors of the Company. YEIMBIESEA °

g
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Responsibility of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include, amongst others, the
following:

o to report to the Board on effective financial reporting controls,
internal controls and risk management;

o to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual report and interim report, and to review significant
financial reporting judgements contained therein;

o to oversee the Company’s relationship with the external
auditor, review auditor’s letter of engagement and make
recommendations to the Board on appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor;

o to review and monitor external auditor’'s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

o to review external auditor's management letter and any
material queries raised by the auditor to the management and
the management'’s response;

J to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal;

o to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services; and

o to review the financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems (including the adequacy of resources, and the
effectiveness of the financial and internal audit function).

The Audit Committee has the following veto rights. The Company
cannot implement any of the following matters which have been
vetoed by the Audit Committee:

o to approve any connected transaction within the meaning of
the Listing Rules which requires an independent Shareholders’
vote (unless the approval of such connected transaction is
made conditional on the obtaining of the approval of the INEDs
and the independent Shareholders); and

o to employ or dismiss the Group's financial controller or the
internal audit manager or persons holding similar positions.
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Major works done by the Audit Committee ERZTES8THNE2IE

[==]
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the major works done by the #HE—Z-—F+-A=+—HILFE Tk
Audit Committee were summarised as follows: LZEETMNES TEBMMT :

reviewed with the management and the external auditors (if
applicable) on the interim results for the six months ended 30
June 2022 and the annual results for the year ended 31
December 2022, and related announcements including the
related disclosures, the integrity of financial reporting and the
accounting policies adopted by the Group prior to the
submission to the Board's approval;

discussed with management on significant judgments affecting
Group's consolidated financial statements;

reviewed and discussed the risk management and internal
control report including the status of implementing
recommendations in previous report;

reviewed, assessed the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's risk management and internal controls;

considered the re-appointment of the external auditor;
reviewed and monitored the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness during the audit process;

and

reviewed and monitored the external auditor’'s non-audit
services.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022 up to the date of this
annual report, 3 meetings of the Audit Committee were held for,
inter alia, reviewing the Group's interim and annual results, the
Group's financial reporting and compliance under the CG Code, the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems, and considering the re-election and the change of auditor
of the Company, the individual attendance records of each Director
at the meeting of the Audit Committee is set out on page 27 of this
annual report.

The external auditor and the internal audit adviser of the Company
also attended meetings of the Audit Committee by invitation.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members,
a majority of which are INEDs, namely Mr. Hu Jiangbing (INED), Mr.
Chan Siu Tat (INED) and Ms. Shi Qi (executive Director). Mr. Hu
Jiangbing is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

Responsibility of the Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities include, among
others, the following:

o to recommend to the Board the policy and structure for all
remuneration of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company;

o to review the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives,

o reviewing and making recommendations to the Board the
compensation, if any, payable to the Directors and senior
management of the Group in connection with any loss or
termination of office or appointment;

o to determine, with delegated responsibility, the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management;

o to recommend to the Board's approval the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

o to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration; and

o to review and approve matters relating to share option
schemes of the Company in accordance to chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.
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Major works done by the Remuneration
Committee

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the major works done by the
Remuneration Committee were summarised as follows:

o conducted the annual review of the remuneration for all
Directors (including the executive Directors), based on
remuneration policies and annual performances;, and

o approved terms of service contracts of the executive Directors
and senior management.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, since there was no share
option granted under the Share Option Scheme (defined hereunder),
no material matter relating to the Share Option Scheme has been
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 up to the date of this
annual report, 5 meetings of the Remuneration Committee were
held, the individual attendance records of each Director at the
meeting of the Remuneration Committee is set out on page 27 of this
annual report.

Remuneration policy

The Company has adopted and updated a remuneration policy for
the Directors and senior management. The remuneration for the
executive Directors and senior management may comprise basic
salary, bonus, share options and pensions. Apart from basic salary,
executive Directors and senior management are eligible to receive a
discretionary bonus taking into account factors such as market
conditions as well as corporate and individual’s performance. The
remuneration of non-executive Directors may comprise basic salary
without equity-based and performance-related components, and
should be reviewed annually with reference to comparable
companies and market condition. Remuneration adjustments may
be made, after taking into account performance of the individual,
contribution, responsibilities, and reference to comparable listed
companies in Hong Kong.
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The following table illustrates the elements of remuneration of

executive Directors and senior management.

Remuneration
E 0|

Basic Salary

Discretionary Bonus

Pension

BARE

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the Board and the senior management by band

Purpose
B®

To reflect the market value of
each individual

REREEANTSEER

To motivate employees to help

the Company achieve high
levels of performance and to

achieve individual performance

goals
HENE THEAATEREK
FHERANEMEAREBF

To provide appropriate and
competitive post-retirement
benefits

REEE RAHRFENIHRKE
=l

for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$)

¥riMsE (G )

0-1,000,000
1,000,001-1,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000

%o

Reward
2@

e Cash payment
e Monthly

o WEXN
« A

e (Cash payment
e Annually

o REXMN
- BfF

e Cash payment
e Monthly

o BEX
s BfF

RIRD

TERBANTESRSREBABNTHE

Policy details
BERFE

e Reviewed annually

e Compare against selected
comparable companies

e Market trend

o BERE

o HLEFA AL AR

o MiGEH

e Individual performance

e Market condition

e The Group performance
relative to corporate targets

o AAKRR

o TMHMM

o HERARFAENAEES
A

e MPF scheme

RiEE S

EIRSTRIM ST AMESCEBENSK - &
EeNERSRERENREEZE S -4+

A=+— B FEHFHEERSIMT

Number of
Individuals
A

-
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE RBEEE

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members, a IEZEZES@Hh =LK EHEK * KAZEKE AIE
majority of which are INEDs, namely Mr. Chan Siu Tat (INED), Mr. HU T 3EEVTTE S - BIRR s A BT IEHITE
Jiangbing (INED) and Ms. Shi Qi (executive Director). Mr. Chan SiuTat %) » #I T R ECBY IEWMITES ) MER K

is the chairman of the Nomination Committee. T(HITEF) BRIEXERREZESE
ﬁl_% °

Responsibility of the Nomination Committee REZE8NET

The Nomination Committee’s responsibilities include the following: REAZEENETRFEUTEIE

e toreview the structure, size and composition of the Board; WA EESMEE RERAK

e to review and make recommendation to the Board on the e R ER(CEREFERITHRER) i
succession plan for the Directors, in particular, the Chairman/ 58 - WREFSRLEZ
Chairlady and the CEO;

e to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board o ¥EEHEAEEKRZIATKAEZER

members and to select or to make recommendations to the B ULRHERZETES 2 ATHETT
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for BiE o it ESgREER

directorships;
e toassess the independence of INEDS; o  FEEBMIERNTESR B

e to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters e RETRETEAEENHEREERE
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors; EelRdEs &
and

e to review the Board Diversity Policy (defined hereunder) as o GEREEHEEEZ TR E(EEAT
appropriate, and review the measurable objectives that the ) REHARITEESZULEERT
Board has set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy and EMEAAETE R RRESHNER -
the progress on achieving the objectives.
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Major work done by the Nomination Committee

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the major works done by the
Nomination Committee were summarised as follows:

o reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

J reviewed the Director retirement and rotation arrangement in
the 2022 annual general meeting;

o assessed the independence of INEDs; and

o reviewed the Board diversity policy, the measurable objectives
that the Board has set and the progress on achieving the
objectives.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 up to the date of this
annual report, 5 meetings of the Nomination Committee were held,
the individual attendance records of the each Director at the meeting
of the Nomination Committee is set out on page 27 of this annual
report.

Nomination policy

The Company has adopted and updated a nomination policy for the
Directors. The Nomination Committee and the Board shall consider
the following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

o character and integrity;,
o willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
Board member and other directorships and significant

commitments;

o possessing core competencies that meet the needs of the
Group;

o the Board diversity policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Company for achieving diversity on the Board;

and

o the independence in case of an INED.
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For appointment of a new Director, the Nomination Committee shall,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new Director and
the biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria set out in the
nomination policy. If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank them by order of
preference based on the needs of the Company and reference check
of each candidate (where applicable). The Nomination Committee
shall make recommendation to the Board in respect of the
appointment of appropriate candidate for directorship.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for election as a
director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and the Board shall evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out in the nomination policy whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and the Board shall make recommendation
to Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of director at the
general meeting.

For re-election of a Director at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring Director including his/her attendance of
Board meetings and, where applicable, general meetings, and the
level of participation and performance on the Board. The Nomination
Committee shall also review and determine whether the retiring
director continues to meet the criteria as set out in the nomination
policy. The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then make
recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-
election of Director at the general meeting.

Board diversity policy

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance its performance. Accordingly, the Company adopted and
updated a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
which aims to set out the approach to achieving diversity for the
Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new Directors
from time to time to ensure that it has a balanced composition of
skills, experience and expertise appropriate to the requirements of
the businesses of the Company.
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The Board Diversity Policy is reviewed annually. The Nomination
Committee will consider certain measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board and make recommendation to the Board. For
the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
following measurable objectives were fulfilled as at the date of this
annual report:

o three Directors are INEDs, as compared with the objective of at
least one-third of the Directors should be INEDs;

o one INED has obtained accounting or relevant financial
management professional qualifications, as compared with the
objective of at least one INED should have such qualifications;

o seven Directors are male and two Directors are female
(representing 22.2% of the total nine Directors), as compared
with the objective of no single-gender Board; and

o all Directors have 7 years or more of experience in the industry
he/she is specialized in, as compared with the objective of at
least half of the Directors should have such experience.

As at the date of this annual report, other factors which are non-
measurable but also important to the diversity of the Board are as
follows:

o one Director is within the age range of 30-39, five Directors are
within the age range of 40-49, and three Director are within the
age range of 50-59; and

o one Director serves the Board for less than one year, two
Directors serve the Board for over one year but less than two
years, two Directors serve the Board for over two years but
less than three years, and four Directors serve the Board for
over three years.
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Gender diversity

The gender ratio in the Board as at the date of this annual report was
3.5 (7 males: 2 females), while the gender ratio in the workforce of
the Group as at 31 December 2022 was approximately 1.04 (434
males: 419 females). As at this moment, the Company aims to
achieve a Board and a workforce (including senior management)
without single-gender, but recognises that the gender diversity at the
Board level can be improved given that the majority composition is
male. The Company will ensure there is a gender diversity when
identifying director candidate and recruiting employees so that there
is a pipeline of female employees, management and Directors in
near future. On the other hand, more resources will be invested in
training female employees who have long and relevant experience in
the business of the Group, with the aim of promoting them to the
management or Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for, amongst other things,

o developing and reviewing the policies and practices of the
Company on corporate governance;

o reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices of the
Company on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirement;

J reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

o developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

o reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report contained in
annual reports.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has reviewed the
corporate governance function of the Company, as well as the CG
Code’s compliance practices of each Director and the Board as a
whole.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements for the relevant accounting periods which give a
true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors have applied
applicable accounting policies, adopted appropriate accounting
standards and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Group’s external auditors, Elite Partners
CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”), on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements are set out in the “Independent Auditor’s
Report” on pages 77 to 83 of this annual report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Elite Partners, being the auditor of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2022, acknowledged their reporting responsibilities in
the auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022 as set out in this annual report. For a
detailed statement of the reporting responsibilities of Elite Partners,
please refer to the section headed “Independent Auditor’'s Report” of
this annual report.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, Elite Partners is appointed as
the Group’s auditor until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022 are audited by Elite Partners. The
remuneration paid/payable to Elite Partners and its affiliates in
respect of their audit and non-audit services are as follows:
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2022

—E-=
HK$'000
FHT
Audit services EETRTS 1,500
Non-audit services IEEETIRTS 420
Total 5t 1,920

The non-audit services of Elite Partners for the year ended 31
December 2022 include, among others, reviewing the Group’s
interim financial statements and the Group's risk management and
internal control system. Such non-audit services are performed in
accordance with the Listing Rules with a purpose of providing more
independent information to the Shareholders.

The remuneration of the audit and the non-audit services are
determined with reference to, among others, commitments and
workloads of the services, urgency and time-requirement of the jobs,
complexity of the underlying transactions and quality of the final
service results.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that Elite
Partners be nominated for re-appointment as the auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting. There is no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the
re-appointment of Elite Partners.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, upon the
resignation of Mr. Zhou Danging (“Mr. Zhou") as the Company
Secretary on 3 January 2023, Ms. Xu Jiayuan (“Ms. Xu") was
appointed as the Company Secretary in place of Mr. Zhou. The
primary contact person at the Company during the year and up to
the date of this annual report with Mr. Zhou and Ms. Xu was Ms. Shi
Qi, the Chairlady of the Board.

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, Mr. Zhou
and Ms. Xu were responsible for providing advice to the Board on
corporate governance matters. Mr. Zhou had confirmed that each of
them has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has established
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems, which are reviewed annually. The management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its
duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk management
and internal control systems are described in the sections below:

Risk management system

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the
risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze likelihood and impact of the risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

o Management: Consider risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and continuously monitor the
residual risks.
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Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2022 and save as
disclosed in this annual report, no significant risk was identified.

Internal control system

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COS0") 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness and
efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The components of
the framework are shown as follow:

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
controls across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be
managed.

o Ccontrol Activities: Action established by policies and
procedures to help ensure the implementation of
management’s direction to mitigate risk in order to achieve
objectives.

. Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each component of internal controls is present and
functioning.
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In order to enhance the Group’'s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group adopts and
implements an inside information policy and procedures. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure
requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis, and employees who are
in possession of inside information are fully conversant with
their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

In order to promote transparency and accountability, the Group
implements a whistleblowing and anti-corruption systems and
arrangements. Employees, suppliers, customers and business
partners of the Group can raise concerns, in confidence and
anonymity, about possible malpractice or improprieties in financial
reporting, risk management, internal control or other matters.
Depending on the then situations, whistleblowers may contact the
management, the Chairlady, the CEO and/or the INEDs, and suitable
following-up actions may be taken.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2022, no
significant control deficiency was identified.
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Internal audit function

The Group currently does not have an internal audit department, but
has engaged an external advisor to provide internal audit services
which cover independent analysis and appraisal of adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control.
In light of the corporate structure and operation procedures, as well
as the relevant risks, the Board, as well as the Audit Committee are
of the view that the existing practice is able to provide an internal
audit function which is consistent with the Group’s requirements.
The Group will review and consider to establish an internal audit
department as and when it thinks necessary.

Effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring that a review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually. Several
areas have been considered during the Board’s review, which
include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and extent of
significant risks since the last annual review, and the Group’s ability
to respond to changes in its business and the external environment;
(ii) the scope and quality of management’s ongoing monitoring of
risks and of the internal control systems; (iii) the extent and
frequency of communication of monitoring results to the Board
which enables it to assess controls of the Company and the
effectiveness of risk management; (iv) significant control failures or
weaknesses that have been identified for the year ended 31
December 2022, and the extent to which such failures or
weaknesses have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies,
and (v) the effectiveness of the Company’s processes for financial
reporting and Listing Rules compliance.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company engaged Sinno
Corporate Advisory Limited (“Sinno”) to conduct risk management
and internal control review of the Group’s operation and made
recommendation to Board accordingly. Sinno has, among other
things, enquired, interviewed and discussed with the management,
and observed and inspected the actual control procedures. Based on
the report issued by Sinno, the Board, as well as the Audit
Committee considered that the key areas of the Company's risk
management and internal control systems are reasonably
implemented and the Company has compiled with the requirements
of the CG Code in respect of risk management and internal control.
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The Board, as well as the Audit Committee, concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. It is also considered that the resources, staff qualifications
and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training
programs and budget provided were sufficient.

The risk management and internal control systems, however, are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely
and effective communication with Shareholders and investors. The
Board also recognises that effective communication with investors is
the key to establish investor confidence and to attract new investors.
Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining high degree of
transparency to ensure investors and Shareholders are receiving
accurate, clear, comprehensive and timely information of the Group
via the publication of annual reports, interim reports, press
announcements (“Corporate Communications”).

Corporate Communications issued by the Company are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and in both
English and Chinese versions to facilitate their understanding. A
section titled “Investor Relations” is available on the Company’s
website which provides contact details to allow Shareholders to
contact the Company easily. Enquiries from institutional investors
and analysts on the Group’s strategy, operations, management and
plans are welcome.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the investor relation activities
of the Company include:

o attending to telephone enquiries from analysts and fund
managers,

o updating the Company’s website regularly;
o holding annual general meeting;

o disclosing information on a timely basis via the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

EXeERZEeGHER  RARRER
RAMERRGREBRE RN - ETFARE
R BIEERBEEINERREH  EH
REIEt B R FAE BT

AW EREERAEEAREEEEMIE
HERRBEEKER B RAER - BRREHEE
ARRERAFIBREH SR MIFBHHRE -

BZRBBRESERE

EEeRRERRIREEGTBW - MR
BREANERE - EFENRAREREEN
BROBBIIEIREEREORREIFREEN
BA%E - Hitt - AEBERNEHERE - U
RIREERBRRITEBAEETIENFR - P
s - HEQE ((DFEMR ) EECERE 8
W 2EENEHER -

R AT E A BB R R AN A B S B A P
UEES - WHEB R RIAR - TR T REAA
Be ARBIWURE REEBE] —W B
RIRMHEARE R T B RBE AR - AEH
BOMBREER DTS AR ERE &
& BEENGEIERER -

BE-_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIEFE £AQ
AR EEBIREEBIE

o [OESITAMESKENEHEEN

o TEMEHARRMIEL
o  BURRAFAE:

o ENBBANE MERPTREIEREER

53



54

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Corporate Governance Report
PREIOHRS

SHAREHOLDER AND INVESTOR
RELATIONSHIP POLICY

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company reviewed and
updated its policy for communication with its Shareholders and
investor relations. Having considered (i) practices and procedures to
convene the general meeting of the Company; (ii) practices to
publish and update information of the Company; and (i) feedbacks
from Shareholders and investors, especially absence of material
complaint from the Shareholders, the Company is of the view that its
policy for communication with its Shareholders and investor relations
is effective for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Shareholder
and investor relationship policy were summarised as follows:

Rights of shareholders

o The right to attend the general meeting and to receive
information

The general meetings of the Company provide opportunity for
Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The
Chairlady and the chairlady or chairman of the Board
committees will attend the general meeting to answer
Shareholders’ questions. In their absence, she/he should invite
another member of the committee or failing this her/his duly
appointed delegate, to attend. These persons should be
available to answer questions at the general meeting. The
chairman of the independent Board committee (if any) should
also be available to answer questions at any general meeting
to approve a connected transaction or any other transaction
that requires independent Shareholders’ approval. The external
auditor of the Company will also attend the annual general
meeting to answer questions about conduct of the audit,
preparation and contents of the auditor’s report, accounting
policies and auditor independence.
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The right to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionists themselves may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed by the
Company.

The voting powers at the Shareholders’ meetings

Every Shareholder has the right to vote at the Shareholders
meetings subject to provisions of the Listing Rules and the
Articles.

The power to elect and re-elect Directors and auditor

The Shareholders could hold individual Directors (or the Board
as a whole) to account for their actions by voting against their
re-election. The Articles provide at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of 3, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

For the Directors who retire by rotation, and if they wish, they
may submit themselves for re-election at the annual general
meeting. The retiring Directors are eligible for re-appointment
to the office. Without the prescribed approval of the
Shareholders, the Company shall not agree to any provision
under which a Director’s term of employment exceeds or may
exceed three years.
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The Shareholders also have the right to approve (or reject) the
appointment of the auditor each year. The Company may by a
resolution passed at a general meeting remove the auditor
despite any agreement between the auditor and the Company
or anything in the Articles.

The right to receive information of the Company

The Company shall keep Shareholders informed of certain
developments and to obtain Shareholders approval for certain
transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules. In these
cases, the Company must communicate with its Shareholders
and seek their support.

The right to communicate with the Company

The Chairman/Chairlady or the executive Director should
ensure that the views of the Shareholders are communicated
to the Board as a whole and the Chairman/Chairlady or the
executive Director should discuss strategy and governance
with major Shareholders.

Non-executive Directors should be given the opportunity to
attend general meetings with major Shareholders, and should
be expected to attend general meetings if requested by major
Shareholders.
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Shareholders’ enquires

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings
to the Company’s registrar, Union Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-
04, 33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King's Road, North
Point, Hong Kong.

Shareholders and the investment community may at any time make
a request for the company’s publicly available information. They may
also put forward proposals at the general meetings. The designated
contacts and addresses for making enquires and submitting
proposals are:

Contact: the Board of Directors

Fax: 28511038

Email: TaYang1991@tayanggroup.com

Address: 22/F, H Code, 45 Pottinger Street, Central, Hong Kong

Effectiveness of general meetings

Shareholders should be given the opportunity to send in written
guestions before the meeting. There should be a circulation of a brief
summary of points raised at the general meeting to all Shareholders
after the event. The Board should dispatch a circular accompanying
the general meeting notice, which contains comprehensive
information on the business to be transacted at the meeting,
together with summary procedure governing voting at the general
meeting and frequently asked questions regarding voting
procedures.

The Company should arrange for the notice of the annual general
meeting and the related papers to be sent to the Shareholders at
least 21 days before the meeting. For other general meetings this
should be at least 14 days in advance.

Resolution

At any general meeting there should be a separate resolution to
each substantially separate issue. The Company should avoid
bundling resolutions unless they are interdependent and linked
forming one significant proposal.
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Proxy arrangement

For each general meeting, proxy appointment forms should provide
Shareholders with the option to direct their proxy to vote either for
or against the resolution or to withhold their vote. The Company
should ensure that all valid proxy appointments received are properly
recorded and counted.

Result of general meetings

The Company should announce the poll results as soon as possible
and in accordance with the Listing Rules.

COMPANY WEBSITE

The Company'’s website is www.tayanggroup.com.

Information submitted by the Company to the Stock Exchange is also
posted as soon as practicable on the Company’s website. All
presentation materials provided in relation to the Company’s annual
general meeting and results announcement each year should be
made available on the Company’s website as soon as practicable
after their release.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has updated a policy on payment of dividends (the
“Dividend Policy”) in compliance with the CG Code, which
establishes an appropriate procedure on declaring and
recommending the dividend payment of the Company.

The Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders by
way of cash or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.
It is the policy of the Board, in recommending dividends, to allow the
Shareholders to participate in the Company's profits, and at the
same time, to ensure the Company to retain adequate reserves for
future growth.
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Factors to be considered

The Company's decision to declare or to pay any dividends in the
future, and the amount of such dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the current and future operations, financial condition,
liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates,
which in turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and
associates to pay a dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a
financial year will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders.

General Principle

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the
laws of Hong Kong, the Listing Rules, the Articles and any applicable
laws, rules and regulations.

Review of the Dividend Policy

Whilst this Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the
financial and cash-flow position of the Group, the Board will continue
to review this Dividend Policy from time to time and the Board may
exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify this Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.
There is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any
particular amount for any given period. The Dividend Policy shall in
no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company
that any dividend will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no
way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents for
the year ended 31 December 2022. An up-to-date version of the
Articles is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements for the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Group was principally engaged in
(i) designing and manufacturing of silicone rubber products; (ii)
providing retail services in the UK; and (iii) providing healthcare and
hotel services.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
Note 43 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this annual
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
the financial position of the Company and of the Group at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 84 to
91 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of business review, including a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of
important events affecting the Group that have occurred since the
end of the financial year and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, are set out in the sections
headed “Chairlady’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements of
this annual report. These discussions form part of this report of the
Directors.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its
employees, providing quality services to its customers and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners to achieve its long-term goals.
Accordingly, senior management have kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business update with them
when appropriate. For the year ended 31 December 2022, there was
no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
business partners.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognizes the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. There was no material breach or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group understands the importance of environmental
sustainability and protection and has adopted policies on pollution
prevention, preservation of natural resources and adherence to
environmental laws and regulations. Discussions on the Group's
environmental policies, relationships with its key stakeholders, and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group can be found in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report to be published by the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance through its continuous effort in improving the
business practices. Details about the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out in the section
titled “Financial Summary” of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution comprise the share
premium account, less accumulated losses.

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the section titled
“Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity”, together with
relevant notes to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL

For the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no change to the
authorised share capital of the Company which is HK$2,000,000,000
dividable into 20,000,000,000 Shares in the par value of HK$0.1 each.

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 amounted to approximately HK$124,149
(2021: approximately HK$738,000).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares of the
Company.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the five largest customers of
the Group accounted for approximately 52% (2021: 47%) of the total
revenue of the Group and the largest customer accounted for
approximately 16% (2021: 17%) of the total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the five largest suppliers of
the Group accounted for approximately 35% (2021: 35%) of the total
purchase of the Group and the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 9% (2021: 13%) of the total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2022.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 13 December 2018, the Company adopted the share option
scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) which has been approved by
the Shareholders. The major terms of the Share Option Scheme were
summarised as follows:

1. Purpose

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions to those who had made,
may have made or will make contributions to the Group. The
Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Persons (defined
hereunder) opportunities to have personal stakes in the
Company with the view to achieving the following objectives:

(@ motivate the Eligible Persons to optimize their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and

(b) attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going
business relationship with the Eligible Persons whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term
growth of the Group.

% ~ MERRE
REBRFANDE - BERREEHOFE
HRGAHBREME9 -

FEHERRZP
BE-_Z-__F+-_A=+—HILFE K&
BRAARBEFPHAEBBRRZA2N(ZFE=—
F 1 47%)  MBEAEFPAMGAWZL16% (=
T-—F 1 17%) °

BE_ZE-_—_F+_A=+—HIEFE X&E
ERAREEENAEEERBEENIDB(=ZF
Z—% :35%) r MEAHENEAEBEBEK
ERHI%(— T ——F  13%) °

BE-_ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFE &=
FHHEENTAHEA(TRR LTRA) SE
IR (RBZRATRA - BEARRCEHITR
ARB5% A E)BIEEAEER AT P A ARE
[Elaak ZeRERCIN Eal Falk

fBARiEstH 2l

RIZB-NF+-A+=R " ARFARBEE
B Rt/ B AR AT 81 ([ I IR ERT &) - FBAX
T8Iz TR IGF AT -

1. B#

BRE AR RREHAKED
TR - ATBECFH S BIERERZ A
T BREFEHNEERAL(ERR
T RERARB RS EARDR 2
g UEHTIIER:

@ BEAERALARES R
TR R

b) I MBMEBEERE YA HHAE
BREERAMZ AL SAEM
FREERSEZEBRIE



64

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Report of the Directors
E58WRS

2.

Participants

The administration committee ("“Administration
Committee”), currently comprising Ms. Shi Qi and Mr. Li
Jiuhua, may, at its absolute discretion, invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to
take up options to subscribe for Shares (the "Eligible
Person”):.

@

any full time employee or director of any member of the
Group and any entity(ies) in which the Group holds any
equity interest (“Invested Entity"),

any part time employee of any member of the Group and
Invested Entity;,

any supplier, distributor, service provider, customer of
the member of the Group or any Invested Entity;,

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
holder of any securities issued by any member of the
Group;

any consultant or adviser of or to any member of the
Group who has provided services to such member of the
Group in accordance with the terms of a contractual
relationship entered into between the consultant or
adviser with such member of the Group;

any consultant, adviser, manager, officer or entity that
provides research, development or other technological
support to the Group or Invested Entity; and

such other persons who in the sole opinion of the
Administration Committee from time to time, will
contribute or have contributed to the Group.
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Total number of shares available for issue

The total number of Shares may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 87,117,800 Shares, representing 10% of the
total issued Shares as at the date of passing the relevant
resolution to approve the Share Option Scheme. The maximum
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
shall not exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue
from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from time to
time, unless approved by the Shareholders in the manner as
stipulated in the Share Option Scheme.

For any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or an
INED or any of their respective associates, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant must not:

(@) exceed 0.1% of the total number of Shares in issue; and
(b)  have an aggregate value, based on the closing price of
the Shares on the date of each grant, in excess of

HK$5,000,000.

unless such grant of options is approved by the Shareholders
at a general meeting.
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Acceptance and exercise of options

An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the offer of grant of an option and shall be received by the
Company within such time as may be specified in the offer of
grant of the option, which shall not be later than 28 days from
the offer date.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day after the date on which
the offer for the grant of options is accepted but shall end in
any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.
Unless otherwise determined by the Administration Committee
and stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee,
there is no minimum period required under the Share Option
Scheme for the holding of an Option before it can be exercised.

Subscription price

The subscription price shall be determined by the
Administration Committee in their absolute discretion and
notified to the participant (subject to any adjustment made
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme) and shall be at least the
highest of:

(@) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date,
which must be a trading day;

(b)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily guotations sheets for the 5

trading days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(c)  the nominal value of a Share.
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7. Performance target

Unless the Administration Committee otherwise determined
and stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee, a
grantee is not required to achieve any performance targets
before any options granted under the Share Option Scheme
can be vested in, or exercised by, the grantee.

8. Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on the date on which the Share Option
Scheme is adopted. Accordingly, the remaining life of the Share
Option Scheme was approximately 6.7 years (i.e. until 13
December 2028).

For the year ended 31 December 2022, no options or securities
had been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
Share Option Scheme. As at 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022
and the date of this Annual Report, there was no outstanding
option under the Share Option Scheme.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of these related party transactions constitutes connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which is required to
be disclosed under the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that the
Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
under review.

7. # N8 iTH—

BRIFEEZBEREREMRKHBR
BYARANBOPHE  SRERA
KA ESRITERBBERE SR H AN
EREER - BAEREFEERE -

8. BHRiEsTEIHHAR

BRETESABREASERAER
HET10FHEAN—EAFK - Eit - B
BTESBTERHNATIF(EE-ZT
“NFE+=-A+=H)-

BE—_Z-_—#+-A=+—R1&
[ BIEREERERTEIRE - 1716 -
BUH S 2 KB BRESRES - R
T-—F#—A—H -—ZT-—_F+-H4
=+ BERAFHRAL  BRETEIE
TN 1 R AT A B AR o

FERXARMERS

AEBBE_T-_F+-_A=+—RHILFE
HBE T R S IB RN RS MR MmaRMIFE40 -

ZEBEARSMERBRE ERRATH
ERE'JF%L HRIFEEERS - EBEHER A
NAREEFEANEET EMRAEUAER
WEHTE -

67



68

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Report of the Directors
E58WRS

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Shi Qi (Chairlady)

Mr. Li Jiuhua (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 1 November 2022)

Mr. Liu Wengang (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 5 August 2022)

Mr. Cheng Hong (resigned on 29 June 2022)

Mr. Gao Feng

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip
Mr. Han Lei
Mr. Gu Shixiang (appointed on 28 December 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (appointed on 4 April 2022)
Mr. Hu Jiangbing

Ms. Wang Lina

Mr. Lin Bing (resigned on 4 April 2022)

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles and the Listing Rules, Mr. Li
Jiuhua and Mr. Gu Shixiang (being newly appointed Directors) will
hold their respective offices until the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles and the Listing Rules, Mr. Gao
Feng, Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip and Ms. Wang Lina will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation

of his independence from the Group, and as at the date of this report
still considers them to be independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company are set out on pages 8 to 12 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DISCLOSURE OF CHANGE IN
INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ Profile of this annual report, there
was no change in information of the Directors and chief executives
of the Company up to the date of this annual report which is required
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are recommended
or determined (in the case of executive Director) by the
Remuneration Committee, decided by the Board, and authorised by
Shareholders in the annual general meeting, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance, experience,
responsibility, workload and comparable market securities. No
Director is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. Details of
the remuneration policy for the Directors of the Group are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report under the heading “Remuneration
Policy”.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is reviewed
regularly by the management. Remuneration packages are
structured to take into account the merit, qualifications and
competence of individual employees as well as the general market
conditions.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors of the Company and the
five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save for the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 13
December 2018, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2022 was the Company or any of its associated corporations a party
to any arrangement, which enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate and none of the Directors or
their spouses or children under 18 years of age was granted any
right to subscribe for any Shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any of its associated corporations

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code to regulate the Directors’
securities transactions. The Company had made specific enquiry of
all Directors regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code for
the year ended 31 December 2022, and they all have confirmed their
respective full compliance with the required standard set out in the
Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

There was no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest whether
directly or indirectly, existed at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2022.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2022 had the Company or any of its
subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance with the
controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, nor had any
contract of significance been entered into for the services provided
by the controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of the Company, the applicable laws and
regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in
their offices. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of
the Group, in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of the Company’s activities for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 13
December 2018, no equity-linked agreements that have, will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that have, will or may result in the
Company issuing Shares were entered into by the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2022 or subsisted at 31 December 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they have taken or deemed to
have under such provision of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were
as follows:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of the Company:

Name Nature of interest

e BEME

Ms. Shi Qi (Note 2)
MER L (KYiE2)

Interest of controlled corporation
SRS EEER

Beneficial owner
BEmiEA A

Mr. Hu Jiangbing
PRI

Notes:

1. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2022 (i.e.
1,306,767,000 Shares) has been used in the calculation of the
approximate percentage.

2. Lyton Maison Limited, a limited company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and solely owned by Ms. Shi Qi, was interested in
796,875,490 Shares. Of the 796,875,490 Shares held by Lyton Maison
Limited, 654,810,600 Shares were charged to Mason Resources
Finance Limited, which was indirectly wholly-owned by Mason Group
Holdings Limited.

ESRESTHRASKERMG - 106
RN ES PRSI ¥R

RZBE-_—_F+-_A=1+—H8 EEZLAQA
FETBRAEBRARRSEEREREE (T
ERFLFRHAEKRMNEXVE) (G - BER
MREFFHEEREBEE S MAEKRMNEXVE
F7 &8 EBAE AN B K Bk 3 P B B 2 2ok
B (ERESEREESFRBEKINEEIEX
WRANEEREENERIOAR) « HIREE
F R HAE G058 352 IR ZB B RO R s kP il & 52
e oXk R - SIRBIZESFRIZBME AR
BIREE R FTRER IOR B AT

RARB I MARBEBROEFE

Approximate

Total number percentage

of shares/ of interest in
underlying the Company
shares held (Note 1)
LR AR EREH
ERe, BB
TEE R A E (Ktat 1)
796,875,490 60.98%
(Long) (tf&)
654,810,600 50.11%
(Short) C% &)
850,000 0.07%

(Long) (47 &)
Kiat -
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interests and short positions
in any Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which each of them has taken
or deemed to have taken under the provision of the SFO); or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into
the register referred to therein; or which were required, pursuant to
the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company had, or were deemed to have, interests or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO; or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or
indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at the
general meetings of the Company:

Name Nature of interest

=L EEME

Lyton Maison Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner

Lyton Maison Limited (#:+2) EmEBA

Mason Resources Finance Limited
(Note 2)
ERERWBERAR(Mit2)

Person having a security
interest in shares
R EEERER 2 AT

Mason Group Holdings Limited
(Note 2)
EKREBZERER AR (H72)

Interest of controlled corporation
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Approximate

Total number percentage of

of shares/ interest in
underlying the Company
shares held (Note 1)
EARDBERN
Frisgm, WMABED
R A A (KtaE1)
796,875,490 60.98%
(Long) (47 &)
654,810,600 50.11%
(Short) C£ &)
654,810,600 50.11%
(Long) (47 &)
654,810,600 50.11%

(Long) (47 &)
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Notes:

1. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2022 (i.e.
1,306,767,000 Shares) has been used in the calculation of the
approximate percentage.

2. Lyton Maison Limited was interested in 796,875,490 Shares. Of the
796,875,479 Shares held by Lyton Maison Limited, 654,810,600 Shares
were charged to Mason Resources Finance Limited, which was
indirectly wholly-owned by Mason Group Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors are
not aware of any other person, other than the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, interested in
5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at the general meetings of
the Company or options in respect of such share capital.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors are not aware
of any business or interest of the Directors, the substantial
Shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) that competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interests which any such person has or may have
with the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There were no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
Shareholders unless otherwise required by the Stock Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference (as amended from time to time) in compliance with the
Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company and
discussed auditing, financial reporting, risk management and internal
control matters. The annual results of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been audited. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022, and is of the view that the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the statutory provisions
and sufficient disclosures have been made.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting (the "AGM") of the
Company will be held on Thursday, 29 June 2023. A notice convening
the AGM, together with a circular therefor, will be dispatched to the
Shareholders, and will be available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company in the manner as required by the Listing
Rules in due course.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 26 June 2023 to Thursday, 29 June 2023, both days inclusive
during which no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the AGM or any adjournment
thereof, all transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Union
Registrars Limited, at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem
Exchange Square, 338 King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:00 p.m. on Friday, 23 June 2023.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 3 April 2023, the Company entered into subscription agreements
with two subscribers (each a “Subscriber” and collectively the
“Subscribers”), pursuant to which the Company conditionally
agreed to issue, and the Subscribers have agreed to subscribe for,
convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$40,000,000 (the “Convertible Bonds”), with each Subscriber
subscribing for HK$20,000,000 principal amount of the Convertible
Bonds. The Convertible Bonds have a maturity period of 3 years and
bear interest at the rate of 10% per annum from the date of issuance.
Based on the initial conversion price of HK$0.185 per conversion
shares, an aggregate of 216,216,216 conversion shares will be
allotted and issued by the Company upon the exercise in full of the
conversion rights attaching to the Convertible Bonds. Details of the
Convertible Bonds are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 3 April 2023 and 4 April 2023.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 have
been audited by Elite Partners, who will retire and, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-appointment at the AGM. A resolution will be
proposed at the AGM for the re-appointment of Elite Partners as
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Shi Qi
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Independent Auditor’s Report
181 1% BN 6 iz &5

elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
To The Members of Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ta Yang
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 84 to 201,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2022, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$98,904,000
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and, as of that date, the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately HK$133,810,000.
These conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The directors of the Company are considering a number of
financing measures as set forth in note 1 to improve the Group's
liquidity and financial position and consider that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to fulfil its
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future upon successfully implementing these measures. Our opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.

BRAFEEERERATETRR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FIRBEREEARKRFNZEAHEHS - YK
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated ~ FIBZAENGEAMBREAZFATENS
financial statements of the current period. These matters were 18 « ZZEEEERMERERE S PBHRE
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial — EgtitH BE REETERER - BRI Y
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we  ZEEEIEMHEEFE SR - RFICE X Frts
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have ITEETEABRHRENBEMNBESFEIZEE -
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters

to be communicated in our report.

Key audit matters
BREZEHE

(M

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets
M - BRE KRB R RS E 2 RERE

The Group's property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets stated at amounts of
approximately HK$92,170,000 and HK$144,381,000
respectively as at 31 December 2022.

EEEME BERIBURCRAEEEN=
ECHEFTZA=T—RHIKRSESNRL
92,170,0007% 7t X 144,381,000 /5 7T °

For the impairment assessment, the Group
appointed an independent external valuer to
assess the recoverable amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.
HRETETMES - EEEREBELINFEERD
SHEMIEE - B REREAREREEE 2o
o

We had identified the impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets as key audit matter due to the significant
judgement involved by the management in
impairment assessment.

BIIEE  BERZEAREREEE 2RE
FHEE B REREZEE  RARBEEENRE
SRR R BRI o

Rl EILEIA

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EMNEZ DR RERELSIE

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
included the following:

BME@ADE  BERIEUARCHAEEE 2REBEGZ
BEZRFERFETIIRIE

— We discussed with management whether any
impairment indicator exists and basis for the
impairment recognised.
BMEEEEN RS FEERBRETR RERRE
HYEZE o

— We assessed the methodology used and the
appropriateness of the key assumption adopted in the
valuation.
BPEHEPTR A RMGEMEAN  BREEEEEE -

— We checked, on sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.
BAERMEREZE - REMFEANHE A SURERME
AR

— We evaluated the competence, capacities and
objectivities of the independent external valuer taking
account its experience and qualifications.

B EBILIINDEEMZER £ N REEMNE - I
EREKHRRELR -



—_BFEER

AFESEEZERBERLT

Independent Auditor’s Report

ERVA 74 S Gk S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters
BREZSEE

(2)  Assessment of expected credit losses (‘ECL") on
trade receivable
EREZEREHEEBE(EHEEERE)
B}

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had net
carrying amounts of trade receivables amounting
to HK$63,596,000.
R-BE-_—F+-_A=+—HH ' S£EEMNEK
2 5 R A AREDFE R 63,596,000 7T ©

Management judgement is required in assessing
and determining the recoverability of trade
receivables and adequacy of allowance made
using the ECL model under HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments”.
BEBBHHEREERNEIR [€RTA] - BT
it R TE FE W E 5 BR KA AT UK [l 1 R ER R TR BRfE
EEBRREAMERENT EMREELHEEREH
B o

We had identified impairment assessment of
trade receivables as a key audit matter because
the assessment of the recoverability of trade
receivables and recognition of loss allowance are
inherently subjective and requires significant
management judgement, which increases the
risk of error or potential management bias.

B E Z R RUE R 535 5l 7 AR B %
FI18 - REARTEERE 5 IR A AT E M &
REERERFETERE  TEELEAETERE
FIER - HEmIEIN T ERSEEBERRENRR o

FARESIZEIA (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BPNEXNAIBREREZEE

Our audit procedures in relation to assessment of ECL on
trade receivables included the following:
BMBEATHERESRREHEEBENEZEFRE
THEIE

We tested the design and implementation of the
relevant key controls over the assessment and
monitoring of credit risks, and determination of
allowance for expected credit losses.

BPDRIHUE B R R ATl e BRI 60 AB B RS2 45 I BV 3R &

BB WETHEHAEEEEEE -

We discussed with management and evaluated the
ECL model used in determining the allowance for
expected credit losses. We challenged and evaluated
management'’s assessment on both the guantitative
and qualitative information considered by them that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information such as
credit ratings, trade receivables ageing analysis,
collections subsequent to the end of the reporting
period, local economic conditions, past collection
history and trend analysis, based on knowledge of the
businesses and industry.

BB B wmI st ARE R EEEERE
MIEREEEEEN - ZMERCERITED - 5t
EREHEZERENGERASHNEERELER (R
ERLEBRAEEER  WEETR  BEESHEK
FERER DT~ ME ARG AR - BB - B
MR R SR B B T ) VB BV AT Ak 1R 1 5F e 5 THE -

We checked the subsequent settlements of trade
receivables balances on a sample basis.
BB EEWE SRR ERNBEREFE SN

We assessed the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures
in relation to trade receivable included in the
consolidated financial statements.

B EGRE T BREAMS BEEBEEKE SRR
REBEELSE TS °
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body,
in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAS will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

%NS Z LRSI IRETARIE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the those charge with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

%SNS Z RS M FEIRETARIE
N&E =)

s HEERAREKLLSHERMNBREN
&R - RIBPIGERERR  RER
BEEREHAHBERNEENERNTETE
- Ml EREEESELEDN
ERIBREARE - WEMRREFEE
RATHEEM - Rl 0 BERBEN RS S
RFBFERE EIRAMBRERTAIAR
BEER  SHNBEEEEHNTE - A
ETRMANER - HFINEmIERE
ERBEEE A HLEMRENERR
FeAM: AXREMHRBERAARLSE
¥ BEEBETRRESEREKRE -

s HESAMBHR(BEFNEER WE
BRI - BEERAT  AREEE
BHREEERAARRAEBIZ R FRE -

e i BERETERIEHAINUBE
FERE D LEE N BEZRE - LEER
BUBRRERER - AMARESE .
EBRATEEZZ - HAEHRMN
BRERAERME -

BMEERERRT (A7) T8nERE
BT EAEREREEE B8R
IR Z IR B AR EE R E R E AR
fa e

BATRERBRRER  FHARMENTE
BB MERERENR  YRKREBBME
AR EMER RS E L MBILIERRER
HiEIR  ARBEREBAFRBNTH LD
FERPy gt iE (W@ M) °



_B_FFER

AFESEEZERBERLT

Independent Auditor’s Report
181 1% BN 6 iz &5

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charge with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters
in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse conseguences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Lock Kwong Hang, Simon with Practising
Certificate number P06735.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsuli

Kowloon, Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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L
%HTD ,Q\Lm

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FH&T FH&T
Revenue W zs 9 343,541 362,528
Cost of sales SHE R (260,061) (286,247)
Gross profit EA| 83,480 76,281
Other income and net gain EM U A K U 25558 9 31,658 63,102
Selling and distribution expenses SHERDHAY (23,078) (22,125)
Administrative expenses THAX (138,877) (157,023)
Other operating expenses Hi & 11 (124) (6,472)
Share of results of associates i A= YNS e (1,073) (214)
Finance costs BB R AR 12 (27,989) (22,816)
Impairment losses on interests B E A RIS 2
in associates RIEEE (5,275) (18,968)
Impairment losses under expected credit FEH(ZEBEER T
loss model, net of reversal BEEE - HRED (15,533) (4,558)
Loss before tax BRFLBIE R (96,811) (92,793)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fris®t (X)) e 13 (2,093) 7,025
Loss for the year FREE 14 (98,904) (85,768)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTFATEGRFERESE :
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZZEN (98,063) (84,901)
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR = (841) (867)
(98,904) (85,768)
Loss per share SERERE 16

Basic and diluted (HK cents) HR K #5E (B(L) (7.50) (7.52)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income
moiEmNEMhERW D

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-_F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Loss for the year FREE (98,904) (85,768)
Other comprehensive Hith2mEks  (Bx)
income/(expenses)
Item that will not be reclassified TERHEBREHSEEBEN
subsequently to profit or loss: BH :
Gain on revaluation of properties, Y3 & (h B e
net of income tax (R FTEH12) 6,739 -
Fair value gain on financial assets at 1R A BRI 7 E i 2 T W A
fair value through other WERIE ([HR A FESIRIE
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") Hih2mEKBREE ) WL
BEMAFERZE (347) 828
6,392 828
Items that may be reclassified AREREHSEEIBENIER -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translating ~ #EBINESE LR
foreign operations PE =% (1,406) (10,792)
Release of exchange difference upon &G SN B A R B )
disposal of foreign subsidiaries EHER (11,723) =
Share of other comprehensive i E AR Edemla
income of associates 83 3,847
(13,046) (6,945)
Other comprehensive expenses FREMEEMX
for the year (6,654) (6,117)
Total comprehensive expenses FRAEZEBZERE
for the year, net of income tax (MBRFTEHI %) (105,558) (91,885)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year, LA TNATE(SERNRER S E5E
net of income tax, attributable to: (HIBRFT15FLZ) ¢
Owners of the Company KARIHEAA (104,997) (91,010)
Non-controlling interests FEIEAR M 2 (561) (875)
(105,558) (91,885)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e M AR R

At 31 December 2022 RN-Z-_—F+=-_HA=+—H

2022 2021
—g-= —E-—4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET FE&TT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BWENERE 19 92,170 49,893
Right-of-use assets FRAREEE 20 144,381 64,908
Investment properties "EYHE 21 21,000 =
Goodwill R 22 2,166 2,166
Financial assets at fair value through 1%/ (A5 BRI £ B 2T
other comprehensive income WENRENSMEE 23 3,183 3,921
Interests in associates REEE QR ER 24 4,812 31,882
Deferred tax assets IRIET 1B E B 36 448 545
Loan receivables FEWE X 27 46,289 3,206
Deposit by 26 16,658 24,400
Total non-current assets EmBEELE 331,107 180,921
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 25 59,221 63,987
Trade and other receivables JEUE SRR
HoAth fE IR 26 196,363 243,014
Loan receivables R E TR 27 30,821 35,871
Held-for-trading investments HEEERE 28 = 24
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBREIRS 29 24,005 59,579
310,410 402,475
Assets of disposal group classified DEAFBELHERN
as held for sales HEAREE 33 - 205,053
Total current assets mENEELE 310,410 607,528
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables EREZERA K
B ST RRIR 30 221,289 121,129
Income tax payable FES TS AR 17,911 17,128
Borrowings B 31 192,176 13,500
Lease liabilities HeEaE 32 12,844 14,085
444,220 165,842
Liabilities of disposal group classified 48 A {EHE8 HEHR
as held for sales aE 33 - 327,177
444,220 493,019
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(BE) EESE (133,810) 114,509

Total assets less current liabilities EEAERABAERE 197,297 295,430
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im0 M AR R

At 31 December 2022 WNZZ-_—F+=-_HA=+—H

2022 2021
—=g-= —E-—4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt EE FHExT FHIT
Capital and reserves EXK#HE
Share capital R 34 130,677 130,677
Reserves s 6,786 111,783
Equity attributable to owners of NARHEE AEEER
the Company 137,463 242,460
Non-controlling interests Bl g (1,083) (522)
Total equity EmEE 136,380 241,938
Non-current liabilities JERENEE
Borrowings R 31 4,133 2,146
Lease liabilities HEBE 32 52,110 49,065
Deferred income PEIEWA 35 1,890 2,281
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIBAE 36 2,784 =
60,917 53,492
197,297 295,430

The consolidated financial statements on page 84 to 201 were H$84BEF201 BENGANBRENKESS
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 31 R-TE-=%=H=+— Bt REETZ

March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by: WHTIEEFREEE :
Shi Qi Li Jiuhua
% =hE
Director Director

EE 2F
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Consolidqted Statement of Changes in Equity
mOEAEEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-__F+_-_A=+—HItFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KLOAERARE
Investments  Properties Capital  Statutory Non-
Share Share Other Accumulated  Exchange revaluation revaluation redemption surplus Legal controlling
capital ~ premium reserve losses reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve Total  interests Total
R& 0% 8 iERR FAkK

Brx  BBEE  REEE  FER EX@R EGRRE ERER MEBR 0RE LRER it i it
HKSOOD RSO0 HKSOOD  HKSOO0  HKSOOO  HKSOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOOD  HKSOD HKSO0D

T T T T TanL TR T T Fin TAnL TR Tt T

(Noted) (Notee) (Note b) (Note¢) (Note )
(Kita) (Kiite) (KiztD) (ike) (W)

At January 2021 W-E=-§-8-H 87,118 4,710 (3260 (799,675 143481 (4764) 34,003 200 30920 ] 215060 3182 278202
Loss forthe year FRER = = = (84901 - - - - - = (84901) (87 (85,768)
Eichange differences arsing on HEEERELNES 28

translating foreign operations - - - - (10,784) - - - - - (10,784) ® (10,792
Netgainarisngonrevaluation of ~~~ BERATERIFLELR

financial assets at FVTOC 2EbEARENEHAE

EftbsRE - - - - - 88 - - - - 88 - &8

Share of other comprehensive income. (SRS A TR 2B

of associates - - - - 3807 - - - - - 3807 - 3807
Total comprehensive (expenses)/ ERRE () Wi

income for the year = = = (84901) (6,937) 88 = = = = (91,010 879 (91.885)
Release o revaluaton resenve of HERBERENZSHEE

Investment properties upon disposal - B - 31063 = - (34063 - - - - _ _
Issue of new shares Upon rightsissue  HREBZTHER 13559 1744 - - - - - - - - 60983 - 60983
Share issing expense k%R = (154 = = = = = = = = 754 = (754)
Release ofnon-cortroling nerest TENBRAREEEARER

Upon deregitraton of subsidary - - S o = = o S = = = (5442) (5442)
Release of resenve upon deregisiaion £ EMBAFRER

ofasubsiciary s = - - [ - - - S = ) = S =
Aoquistion of acitonal equity nterest  AESER EMBATENRIE

nanon-wholly owned subsidiary - - (1819 - - - - - - - (1819 1819 -
Acquistion ofinterestinanon-wholy B2 ANBAFMER

Owned subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - 84 834
Appropriation o statutory Suplus resene BEET B AT - - - (5,009) - - - - 5009 - - - -
At 31 December 2021 R-8=-%+=A=1-R 130677 761380 (5,081) (815473) 136,504 (3936) o 200 3599 = 22,460 (52) 21938
At1lanuary 2022 R-E-—%-A-H 130,677 761,380 (5081) (815,473 136,544 (3936) - 2420 35929 - 242,460 (522) 241938
Loss for the year FRER o - - (98,063) - - - - - - (98,063) (841)  (98904)
Exchange diferences arsing on BEBISBELNES %

ranslating foreign operations - - - - (1,686) - - - - - (1,686) 20 (1,406)
Netganarisiigonrevaluationof ~ EHRATEFFLALM

financil assets at FVTOC! PEMEARENSHEAE

EEtbaRE = = = - - (347) - = = - (347) = (347)

Gainon revaluation of propertes, M Efkda

Tt of income tax (M ristee) - - - - - - 6739 - - - 6739 - 6739
Release of exchange difference HEBNHBARRER

upon disposal o foreign subsidiary B} £E - - - - (11,723) - - - - - (11,723) - (11,723)
Share of other comprehensive icome. EBAATMENZE

of associates s - - - - 8 - - - - - 8 - 8
Total comprefiensive (expenses)/ ER2E (AR WieE

income for the year - - - (98,063 (13326) (347) 6739 - - - (104997) (561)  (105,558)
At31 December 2022 RZZZZ%+-A=1-A 130,677 761,380 (5081 (913,536) 123218 (4,283) 6,739 2420 35929 - 137,463 (1,083) 136,380
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Other reserve

Other reserve represents the difference between the capital
contribution received from/(paid to) a non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary and the increase/(decrease) in its shares of net asset value
of that subsidiary.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the shares
repurchased which has been paid out of the distributable reserves of
the Company.

Statutory surplus reserve

As stipulated by regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"), the Company'’s subsidiaries established and operated in the
PRC are required to appropriate 10% of their after-tax-profit (after
offsetting prior year losses) as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to statutory surplus reserve until the
reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before distribution of a dividend to equity
OWners.

Legal reserve

In accordance with Macau Commercial Code, the Company’'s
subsidiary Incorporated in Macau is required to appropriate 25% of its
net profit to a legal reserve until the balance of the reserve reaches
50% of the subsidiary’s registered capital. Legal reserve is not
distributable to shareholders.

Investments revaluation reserve
Investments revaluation reserve represents the change in fair value of

equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

HAitf#

HAth {3 55 48 17 — R BT 88 & B JE #2225 WK
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FEENORD) BERMERE -

EXREEREE
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X BFE AP BARK L K 45 RO BT BB A B R B AR
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e BEEZARESHAERESTMEARD
50% A3k E/,\EAF"J%\ BB ALK E AT

RBRFIFEZE - AR ﬂEA)iFEJ?FH%ﬁJZIEI’J
B /B 2 B 78 Bt EL A ) 9 25% 20K E R
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
OIREMER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —EF-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FH&T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RERETHNRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax BR 7 Al & 18 (96,811) (92,793)
Adjustments for: AT ZIBIEL FHEE
Allowance for inventories, net of reversal TFEEE - RO
(included in cost of sales) (T ASHERAK) 2 -
Amortisation of deferred income i FE U 22 5 (141) (145)
Depreciation of property, VI BB KRBT E
plant and equipment 13,531 20,518
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEETE 18,031 12,019
Dividend income iz EWA (198) (134)
Fair value gain on investment properties HEYEN N FEY R (8,800) =
Fair value loss on held for trading BIEEEREN AT EEIE
investments 24 -
Finance costs BhE pR AR 27,989 22,816
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries i) sl (2) (5,050)
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME - HE REEU KR
and equipment and right-of-use assets FREEERNKE (12,146) (7,330)
Loss/(gain) on early termination of AT ESER
lease liabilities B8 (Ukss) 1,046 219)
Gain on disposal of investment properties — HEXREWEOWE - (31,437)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HERBARMERE 2,865 -
Loss on disposal of an associate & — & A R ES 18 3,624 -
Government grants E&Jﬁ%ﬁﬂj}@ (596) (37)
Impairment losses recognised in ?‘dﬁ)‘&“% AR 31 K EL Ath B U R TB
respect of trade and other receivables E’Jﬂ@ﬁéﬁ?@ (FBREE )
(net of reversal) 15,533 4,558
Impairment losses on interests NN e N (= g
in associates 5,275 18,968
Interest income FEUMA (5,446) (118)
Share of results of associates FE (LB =N R AR 1,073 214
Operating cash flows before movements BEESFPINLERERE
in working capital (35,147) (58,170)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BFERAL,/(3Em) 4,764 (28,568)
Decrease/(increase) in FEU 5 BR 31 K H A E MR R IE
trade and other receivables (3B n) 74,671 (34,643)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and FERTE 5 8RR K& E A RS 5B
other payables Cmd), /& mn (50,486) 60,947
(Increase)/decrease in loan receivables FEUTE =R (320), A (46,099) 1,609
Cash used in operations ARELEHNRE (52,297) (58,825)
Tax refund/(paid) REL(BAR)FIEA 177 (16,665)
Net cash used in operating activities  FAREEEBHNRSFE (52,120) (75,490)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-_ZT—-—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FH&TT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RERETBNHRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant &Y - BKE &R
and equipment HIFT1S K IE 42,635 38,162
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREMERSHKIE
properties - 110,746
Interest received B B 79 118
Dividend received from financial assets B A FEY R EE A2 TSR
at FVTOCI FRIEH) & mh & B WA AR S 198 134
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEE 1% - BE K& (5,353) (10,431)
Investment in an associate R—E#ZE QRN E - (5,889)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of W g — B A RMIE R FE
a subsidiary = (2,379)
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiary &K B A FRER S 7 H F5E (80) =
Net cash generated from RERETENEESFE
investing activities 37,479 130,461
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RERMETHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Cash received from government grants B U T 7 B3R & 596 37
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEARE (16,327) (13,300)
New borrowings raised HEEER 22,608 240,658
Interest paid ERFE (28,448) (21,344)
Repayment of borrowings BB (8,217) (286,054)
Net proceed from issuance of new shares AR ZE1TET AR (D HY
upon rights issue FTiS 5B F 58 = 60,229
Net cash used in financing activities FARBE EENIRES =5 (29,788) (19,774)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH ReRBRSEEWEM ORD)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REE (44,429) 35,197
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FONEERESEEY
BEGINNING OF YEAR 59,579 31,774
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ExRgEE
RATE CHANGES 8,855 (7,392)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRONESRESEEY 8
END OF YEAR, represented by
Bank balances and cash RITEBRIRS 24,005 59,579
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#n O B 55 R R Bl 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS
OF PREPARATION

Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and its
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). Its ultimate holding company is Lyton
Maison Limited which was incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI") and its ultimate controlling party is Ms. Shi
Qi, the Chairlady of the Board and an executive director of the
Company. The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the
“Corporate Information” section to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in manufacturing and sale of
silicone rubber and related products and providing healthcare
and hotel services.

Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (the
"HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA"). In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required by
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"). Other than those subsidiaries established
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and the United
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (the “UK")
whose functional currencies are Renminbi (“‘RMB") and Pound
Sterling (“GBP") respectively, the functional currency of the
Company and its other subsidiaries is HK$. As the Company is
listed in Hong Kong, the Directors consider that it is appropriate
to present the consolidated financial statements in HK$.

1.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-_ZT—-—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS 1.
OF PREPARATION (continued)

—RERREREE 2

Going concern basis

The Group incurred a net loss of HK$98,904,000 (2021:
HK$85,768,000) during the year ended 31 December 2022 and,
as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities of
HK$133,810,000 (2021: net current assets of HK$114,509,000).
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group and its available sources of finance to
continue as a going concern. The Directors considered that it is
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Certain measures have
been and are being taken to manage its liquidity needs and to
improve its financial position, including but not limited to the
following:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

On 16 January 2023, the Group obtained and drew down
a loan with a principal amount of HK$10,000,000 carrying
an interest of 5.737% per annum from independent third
party, available for the Group’s working capital and its
financial obligations. Such credit facilities will mature
after 12-months from 16 January 2023,

The Group has undrawn credit facilities amounting to
approximately HK$190,000,000 from financial institution
for its working capital requirements for the next
18-months which will be drawn as and when required;

The Group will continue to carry out cost control
measurement in forthcoming years, including but not
limited to reduce discretionary expenses and

BEEEE

S =4s
HE_T-—_F+-_A=1+—HI%F
[§ » ZN& B A E 18 75 58 98,904,000 7%
TT(—=Z = —4 : 857680008 7L) * M
HEZR AXSEMNRDEEFEL
133,810,000/ T (Z B = —4F : K#E
B FE114,509,00078 70 ) - RREGE
P HRERE  EEEEEEEAEEN
RRREBE S REABHEE © RIR AR
BRE BEERARNRIULREMBERE
RRAFELEEEEBRE - A5H
ERREERDNE THEEEERSE
THERNSEBBMR  BEEDTR
RATREIE :

() RZTZ=F—A+7RA x&E
BRELE=TDNERRERASER
10,000,0007& STV B 5K » R F F &
5.737%=t 8 - AIREAKEMEE
B REMBER 2ZFEERE
KR -ZE - =F—A+/NHIEL12
(EVEREEI

(i) AEBEBRYBEEENED
190,000,000 7T & 7 $2 EX {= & &t
B AEMEAKISEAMEE
BeHR EHAMEBRERER
HEEN

(i) AR ARREF A5 EEREK
AEFIFE M - BFR BRI E
VEFRZRITHKA - Z—7H

administrative costs. On the other hand, the Group will AL BBERRRSEREANRS
AREFMEBERSRA BN

continue to explore various strategies to improve the
Group's operating cash inflows including putting extra
efforts in the collection of trade receivables; and

The Group will explore possible fund-raising opportunities
including but not limited to issuance of new shares, right
issues or open offer and issuance of convertible bonds
where appropriate.

HREWEZEROEENE - R

(v) AEESERAENEERS B
RERNRNEITHRD - HERHA
FAEEE A M BIT R R E 25 (2058

B)e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-__F+_-_A=+—HItFE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS
OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

In light of the measures and arrangements as described above,
the Directors of the Company consider that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet their financial obligations as
they fall due for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern
basis, adjustments would have to be made to restate the
values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these potential adjustments have
not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

1.

—RERREREE 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-_F+_-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2. EREEIEBHKRSEN
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

(A) Amendments to HKFRSs that are (A) MIRFE@H EWEVEAEE]

mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendment to HKFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to HKFRSS ~ Annual Improvements to
HKFRSS 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

SRS HEL

RAFEE  AEECEHXERES
grMAg ((EBSHMAE])E
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746 ) 5 FZ BRI 58 il A2 A9 bA TV AR
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F16REER] COVID-19 18 & =R
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F16HMET] BTEBRAZAERE
EAEER BEAH—EAANZ
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ERNBEEEN BEMBHREEY
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-__F+_-_A=+—HItFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO 2. EREES]SBNFERSER
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING (&)
STANDARDS (continued)
(B) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue (B) B Haffp{B i 7k 4 B BVF 5T K2
but not yet effective KZ5] BB FIRES %L
The Group has not early applied the following new and AREBENEEFERNATEBME
amendments to HKFRSS that have been issued but are MR AEMBETR] RSIERT B A UTE
not yet effective: HELER -
Effective for
annual periods
beginning on
or after
RUTHHR 2%
BRIBENFERBEN
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments 1 January 2023
BAMBREEAE 175K R & A RAAFIERT —E-=%—A—H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an A date
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture to be determined
BB EREERFE 105 K& FEEREBENTRAERERDN frEBH
BREG TR E 28 KIS ET BELEITE
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease liabilities in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024
BB IERE R E 165 IEFT ERHEONEERE —T-WFE—A—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2023
B SRR E 1 RAEET HRESEARE IR —T-=%—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
BEGFTERIE HMIEET BiHMhET 2 ER —T-=%—A—H
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities 1 January 2023
Arising from a Single Transaction
BEGTERE 125 EFT EXBE-—RFGNEERBBRBNELETIE —E-=%—Af—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of accounting policies 1 January 2023

HKFRS Practice Statement 2
BB GERE 15 RBEBH RS BEIBOREKE
ER BB HE E 2mHERT

The Directors anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will not have material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

—E-_=%#—Hf—H
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-_ZT—-—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain investment
properties and financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
16 Leases (since 1 January 2019) or HKAS 17 Leases (before
application of HKFRS 16 Leases), and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technigue that unobservable inputs are to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results
of the valuation technigue equal the transaction price.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly;, and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

3.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-_ZT—-—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥EgHIE®)

(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liguidation.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥EgHIE®)

(Continued)
Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use.
This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly
probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for
immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be
committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date
of classification. Non-current assets (and disposal groups)
classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. A
discontinued operation is a component of the Group that
comprises operations and cash flows that can be clearly
distinguished, operationally and for financial reporting
purposes, from the rest of the Group. It represents a separate
major line of business or geographical area of operations, or is
part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate
major line of business or geographical area of operations, or is
a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal
or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as
held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs when the operation is
abandoned.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the
assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3.

(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an assets and liability in the Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statement (replaced
by the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in

October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except

that:
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deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date;

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new
leases at the acquisition date, except for leases for which
(a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low
value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and measured
at the same amount as the relevant lease liabilities,
adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable terms of
the lease when compared with market terms.

s REMAREEXRENERSRF
BN EENRED HIRER
BEFEAFE 2R FAER] KE
BETERFE195 [BRERA | ##

RBRETE

o RBRHEURA AEBOMNRE
PSR B AR S 5 AR
BER KR T L2 AR
RERNNRE A2 A EoiE
TR - R B BRBE BT
R AIE 25 AR AR
(R R ¢

o REFBUMBHRELERFSHR[#F
EHEZIFRBDEERDRLELE
EB I BERFFELEZEE (K
HEAS) RBZBENFE - &

e HEBBERHKTHENR(ERR
BEMBRELNFE165%) 2HE
HRLETE - BBz HER
WiEAHZHEE  H@EEH
RUE B R+ —E AR :
(D) HAEEBEER AERID -
ERREEERAARAEREAR
MERERNTE  WIELFE -
A I BR B2 T 355 6 SRAR LE B A 3 )
FTHE 15K

101



102

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#n O B 55 R R Bl 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's
net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at
their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-
date fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise
from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement
period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition
date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥ESHEE )
(Continued)
Business combinations (Continued) XX HE)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. FESHHF %)
(Continued)
Business combinations (Continued) Xzt @)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not quality as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting date and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is
remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or
loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date the have previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income and measured
under HKFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had disposal directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for
the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period, and additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that exist at the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.
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Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as establishment at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group'’s cash generating unit (“CGU") (or groups of
CGUs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and
not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before the
end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the
CGU is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
Group of CGU, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or
cash-generating unit within a group of cash-generating units),
the amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis
of the relative value of the operation (or the cash-generating
unit) disposed of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of
cash-generating units) retained.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥ESHBFK @
(Continued)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥EgHIE®)

(Continued)
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The result and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method, an investment in associates in
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associates. Changes in net assets of the
associates other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When the
Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's
interest in that associate (which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in
which the investment is acquired.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥EgHIE®)

(Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS
36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
it carrying amount.

Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any assets,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate on the same basis as would be
required if that associate had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or
loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal of the relevant associate.

If an associate uses accounting policies other than those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
adjustments are made to make the associate’s accounting
policies conform to those of the Group when the associate’s
financial statements are used by the Group in applying the
equity method.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that
are not related to the Group.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥EgHIE®)

(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the
goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

° The Group's performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° The Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥EgHIE®)

(Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement
of progress towards complete satisfaction of
a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the
value of the goods or services transferred to the customer to
date relative to the remaining goods or services promised
under the contract, that base depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or service.

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its contracts. The
Group first assesses whether these costs qualify for recognition
as an asset in terms of other relevant standards, failing which
it recognizes an asset for these costs only if they meet all of
the following criteria:

(@ The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the Group can specifically identify;

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the Group
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit or
loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer
to the customer of the goods or services to which the assets
relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.
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3.

SRS HR&MIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Leases
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from individual leases
within the portfolio.
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Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the
lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the
non-lease components, including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

Short-term lease and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to lease that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received,

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥ESHBEE#)
(Continued)
Leases (Continued) W& ()
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERFRBA(E)
Right-of-use assets (Continued) (EAERE (&)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities, other than
adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from COVID-19-related
rent concessions in which the Group applied the practical
expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to
obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of
the lease term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed lease payments (including in-
substance fixed payments).

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the date of reassessment; or

. the lease payments change due to changes in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

COVID-19 related rent concessions

In related to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess whether
the change is a lease modification if all of the following
conditions are met:

o the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the same
as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

. any reduction in lease payments affects only payments

originally due on or before 30 June 2021; and

. there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥ESHBE#)
(Continued)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥ESHBER®)
(Continued)
Leases (Continued) HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBERFRBA(E)

COVID-19 related rent concessions (Continued)

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes
in lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same
way it would account for the change applying HKFRS 16 if the
changes are not a lease modification. Forgiveness or wavier of
lease payments are accounted for as variable lease payments.
The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts
forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment
recognised in the profit or loss in the reporting period in which
the event occurs.

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at commencement date at amounts
equal to net investments in the leases, measured using the
interest rate implicit in the respective leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.
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currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period/year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥ESHBE#)
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3.

SRS HR&MIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or 10ss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are presented
under “other income and gain”.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution plans/state-managed
retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for
that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥EgHIE®)

(Continued)
Short-term employee benefits (Continued)

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before taxation because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the recognition
good consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.
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3.

SRS HR&MIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amount of
such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable and is
held within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale.
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For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or lease liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate the items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position as cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production or
supply of goods or services or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss. Costs
include professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy. Such properties are classified to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.
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3. EEESBHBR#E

3.

SRS HR&MIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

If a property becomes an investment property when there is a
change in use, as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value of
that item at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in properties
revaluation reserve. The properties revaluation reserve in
respect of that item will be transferred directly to retained
earnings when it is derecognised.

Depreciation is recognised so as write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held on earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the different between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in
the profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
pUrposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.
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3.

SRS HR&MIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or 10ss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥EgHIE®)

(Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at Fair Value Through Other
Comprehensive Income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that initial recognition of a financial asset the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair
value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income
if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-_ZT—-—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

0]

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from change in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to impairment
assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to accumulated
losses will continue to be held in the FVTOCI reserve.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in “other income and
net gain” line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognized in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “other income and net gain” in line item.
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3.

SRS HR&MIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit loss
("ECL") on financial assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables, other receivables,
loans receivables and bank balances). The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting period to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the end
of the reporting period. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the end of
the reporting period as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and loans receivables without significant financing component.
The ECL on these assets are assessed individually for debtors
with significant balances and/or collectively using a provision
matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Company measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

3.

FREHBR @)

ERMEE®
ARBEBHFREEAEIRETR
EFENEREERE

AEERARBEBMBERELRNF9
BETERENEREE (BRERE K
R B REUERIR - BKRE SRR IRTTAE
gSERBREEER ((ARFESR])
MEBERE BHREEBERSENER
SHEEH  UARBRESERRBNTHE
RLARR B E -

FEAENBREEEBEEBTIAR
AEERRAMB AR EENRBOEN
BEYMEHEEER - HR - 12EAE
HEEBRR(N2EARMEERBR &
AR IR EHIRR 1218 B AT aE A K
ENEHERN AL FERFENTRBIE
EEE - BHEEERENREASER
EEEBRERETHG - AREBA
FERE - —REEMTIA KRR & 8
R 2 BRI B R HAR S FB B 2 5F A4 1E
HARE -

AEE-—EREEESEARLEE X
BMEAKI D EKRERERFERMD
MEMEEEE RNFGZREFEENTE
HEEBER  SiEEERESRNE
Yo B R 1T M B RT A KSR PR A B
MEHEE D EMEEETTRENE

BWAAREMTAMS  ARBFERE
K12 AFEMEEBENERRE - ik
FEMNFEAUNREERRBE LT
RUEER T AR EE R TS RN
EEEE - AT RLERFTENME
BIRREE BRI ER SR IANE
WEREE S ERE D HRBE LT -

125



126

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

&

wn © B 15 2= bfd 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

0]

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the end of the reporting period with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

() Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
1 year past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower,

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(V)

Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of loans receivables, when
the amounts are over 1 year past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

o Nature of financial instruments;
o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
and loan receivables, where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥EgHIE®)

(Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The financial asset is derecognized only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in investment
revaluation reserve is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.
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3.

SRS HR&MIEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

A financial liability is derecognized when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable
is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication
that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the assets belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units to which the corporate assets
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

3.
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Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money
is material).

Contingent assets/liabilities
Contingent assets

contingent assets arise from unplanned or other unexpected
events that give rise to the possibility of an inflow of economic
benefits to the Group and they are not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The Group assesses
continually the development of contingent assets. If it has
become virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits
will arise, the Group recognises the asset and the related
income in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change occurs.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ¥ESHEE )
(Continued)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
Contingent assets/liabilities (Continued)
Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from past
events but is not recognised because it is not probable that an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. Where the Group
is jointly not severally liable for an obligation, the part of the
obligation that is expected to be met by other parties is treated
as a contingent liability and it is not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements. The Group assesses
continually to determine whether an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits has become probable. If it
becomes probable that an outflow of future economic benefits
will be required for an item previously dealt with as a
contingent liability, a provision recognised in the consolidated
financial statements in the reporting period in which the
change in probability occurs, except in the extremely rare
circumstances where no reliable estimate can be made.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
amounts of assets, liabilities revenue and expenses reported
and disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future period.
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4.

SRS HR&MIEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors of the Company have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of resulting
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

The impairment loss of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets was recognised for the amounts by which
the carrying amounts exceed their receivable amounts, in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy when
impairment indicator is identified on those assets. The
recoverable amounts have been determined based on value in
use calculations and fair value less cost to sell. The value in
use calculations require the use of estimates such as the cash
flows projections and pre-tax discount rates. In determining
the fair values, an independent professional valuer assesses
the significant unobservable input by reference to market data
and takes into consider certain estimates of market conditions.

4.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. SZS3AIER &t AARIR

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade
and other receivables. The provision rates are based on
industry forecast as groupings of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on the
Group's historical default rates taking into consideration
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed and
changes in the forward-looking information are considered. In
addition, trade receivables with significant balances and credit
impaired are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables
and other receivables are disclosed in note 26 respectively.
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5.

SRS HR&MIEE

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank balances
and cash, lease liabilities, borrowings, and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and reserves. The directors of the Company review the capital
structure on a regular basis. As a part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors of the Company, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issue and the issue of new debts.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTOCI, trade and other receivables, held-for-trading
investments, bank balances and cash, loan receivables,
deposit, borrowings and trade and other payables (including
trade and bills payables, accrued expenses and other
payables). Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by several
subsidiaries of the Company in currencies other than those
subsidiaries’ functional currencies. In addition, certain portion
of the financial assets at FVTOCI, held-for-trading investments,
trade and other receivables, loans receivables, bank balances
and cash, trade and other payables and borrowings are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies
of the entities to which they relate.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated assets and liabilities at the reporting date are as
follows:

7.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7.
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the directors of the Company continuously
monitor the related foreign currency exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation in
US$, EUR, JPY, GBP, NTD and RMB.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5% (2021:
5%) increase and decrease in functional currency of the
relevant group entity (i.e., mainly HK$ and RMB) against the
relevant foreign currencies, 5% (2021: 5%) is the sensitivity rate
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated items and adjusts
their translation at the year-end for a 5% (2021: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an
increase in loss where respective functional currency
strengthens 5% (2021: 5%) against the relevant currency. For a
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. WEERERBIERIE2)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

In view of the pegged rate between HK$ and US$, the directors
of the Company do not expect there is a material effect by any
changes in movement in value of US$ against HKS.

In the directors’ opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposure to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to its variable-rate deposits with banks and is also exposed to
fair value interest rate risk in relation to its fixed-rate short-
term bank deposits. To mitigate the impact of interest rate
fluctuations, the Group continually assesses and monitors the
exposure to interest rate risk.

The Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial liabilities is
detailed in the liguidity risk management section of this note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rate for non-derivative instruments at
the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis points (2021: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates.

If interest rates have been 50 basis points (2021: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December
2022 would increase/decrease by approximately HK$140,000
(2021: approximately HK$103,000).
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. HEEREEBIRRBE &)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed financial assets at FVTOCI and held-for-
trading investments. The management manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risks. In
addition the Group has appointed a special team to monitor
the price risk and will consider hedging the risk exposure
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risks at the end of the reporting
period.

If the prices of the respective equity securities have been 5%
(2021: 5%) higher/lower:

— Loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$1,200 (2021:
approximately HK$1,200) as a result of the changes in fair
values of held-for-trading investments; and

— Investments revaluation reserve would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$17,000 (2021:
approximately HK$196,000) as a result of the changes in
fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. WEERERBIERIE2)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The Group does
not provide any guarantees that would expose the Group to
credit risk.

In order to minimize the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC, which accounted for 55% (2021:
57%) of the total trade and bills receivables as at 31 December
2022.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 24% (2021: 16%)
and 52% (2021: 27%) of the total trade and bills receivables are
due from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

SRR KRBT
RZF-_—_FR-F-_—F+=H
=t—B AEERHFTETELTM
LAKBERIUBERNEREER
B KEHZEMBIRRKMIIERE
REMEENREE - AREWEEH
HASRAEEEZ EERBROER -

BEREEFEERR  AKEEEED
EEEFREREEERE FEH#Z

NEMEERER - BRKIURE RS I
WEIBmBER - L REBRNERE

HAEHNSENEZERNTKE S
o RARA/TAIKRE S REIEL B
EEE NS ARBEFRR/AN
SENEERRENERE -

AEBERMEBEVESENEERREE
ERRFR T - —F+ - A
=t HHNEKEZE SRR MERERR
FAS55% (=T ——4 : 57%) ©

AEBEFESETNRE  RAZEK
ESRARERBBEEEN 2% (=T

— F 1 16%) M52%( — & — — 4F ¢
27%) B RERAEESZATF R AKX
BFEHFIE o
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7.

SRS HR&MIEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses on
debtors with significant balances individually and/or by using a
provision matrix, grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to past default experience and
current past due exposure of the debtor. As part of the Group's
credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’ past due
status to assess the impairment for its customers because
these customers consist of a large number of customers with
common risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with
the contractual terms. Loss rates from 1.30% to 100% (2021:
0.93% to 100%) were applied by the Group to the trade
receivable with carrying amount of HK$17,763,000 (2021:
HK$25,514,000) which are past due at the reporting period end.
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
are adjusted for forward-looking information that is available
without undue cost of effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure relevant information about specific
debtors is updated.

7.

FERERBIRRER 2)
s SRR MR B S (@)
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RRBA OGRS ATE B R E s A
e AEERRFEH RSB ER®T
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7.

SRS HR&MIEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group'’s
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed collectively based on provision matrix:

7.

MFERERBIRRBER &)
EaRERMREF (@)

TREHREHEASERERBRESRE
AHEEEKE SRR ERERBREER

Average loss rate Gross carrying amount Loss allowance
THERE REELAH EERE

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C —E--F CZE-C —E--F CZE-C —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TET THET THT TET THT
Current (not pastdue)  ENEE(R#ER) 1.30% 0.93% 53,551 78,179 695 724
1-90 days past due BE1ZE90H - 1.13% - 19,234 - 217
91-180 days past due BN Z180H 4.09% 3.03% 11,198 1,553 458 47
Over 180 days past due  #HiEB 1808 100% 100% 6,565 4727 6,565 4,727
71,314 103,693 7,718 5715

The expected loss rate are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

The credit risk on short-term bank deposits and bank balances
is limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are
primarily attributable to trade receivables and loan receivables,
other receivables, bank balances and financial assets at
FVTOCI. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets.

Loan receivables

The management estimates the estimated loss rates of loan
receivables based on historical credit loss experience of the
debtors as well as the fair value of collateral pledged by the
customers to the loan receivables. Based on assessment by
the directors, the loss given default is low in 65.7% (2021:
65.7%).

BHERXIREBEEH AR FHAN
BEBSRABEORGE  AEAN
A B R AR ) R R 1S RO ATRE 1
BRELAE - DETIEHERETEH
ma] o DAREGR BT B TE (B S AARRA R

HREFHOLEBEREEFERERT
SEEFMRNRTT  WHEHRTER
RRITHEBOEERRER -

FEERBEASENEFRERTHEA
MEBIYHAKEERMBERRZE
%o ARBEZEERREIZRERANEK
HHERAREREK - E i EUYRIA
RITEHBERAFEIRLEEMEE
WHNERENEREE ARELER
BEEAEARSEMBEERAARER
EREEZHBEERR

FE U & X
ERERBEEBEANBEEEBELR
UERBEFEHTRERKERNEFRHAD
FEMAERERNEFTEERE - R
EEMNTHER  BEOBEEXERE &
65.7% (—ZFE = —4F : 65.7%) °
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SRS HR&MIEE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. EEEBEESREERDBER &)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk mensE & =R
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors MEERDECREMRMS  AEBER
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed RehBEEEEY UHEEAFNERE
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s ERABRAEIKE  BAREEEBFRE
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash Ee WRERSREERDNTE T
flows. The management monitors the utilization of borrowings BEEZERNER  THREFEER
and ensures compliance with loan covenants. During the years R - RMBE_E-_—_FR_T_-—F
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the loan covenants were +ZA=+—HIEFE BERIZLHWE
breached. Details are set out in note 31. The following table % o FEBEENHIFEST » TRFVAEER
details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its PRABMNBRTERIEERL - KT E
financial liabilities. The table includes both interest and ERBERASIES TS - (45 8% Y
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are BFRETE - AIRBEIR S BIRMmE AR
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from interest MR R G E o
rate curve at the end of the reporting period.
More than More than
oneyear  two years
Within but not but not Total
one year or exceeding more than More than undiscounted Carrying
on demand two years five years five years  cash flows amount
—ER —FHEE MEALE RERES
RER THRBWE TEBEE BELE TEAE RAEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FABT T FAT FTAET T
At 31 December 2022 R=—B==%
+=A=+-H
Trade and other payables FERTE ZER &
HiEfom 123,510 - - - 123,510 123,510
Borrowings =% 194,008 - 4,133 - 198,141 196,309
317,518 - 4,133 - 321,651 319,819
At 31 December 2021 R=ZE=—fF
+=A=+-A
Trade and other payables EfTE S5 ERZ K&
HitpE30E 110,882 - - = 110,882 110,882
Borrowings fEa 14,243 2,146 - - 16,389 15,646
125,125 2,146 = = 127,271 126,528

Borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the “within one year demand” time band in the above
maturity analysis. At 31 December 2022, the carrying
amounts of these borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$196,309,000 (2021: approximately HK$13,500,000). The
directors of the Company believe that such borrowings will be
repaid in accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set
out in note 31. The aggregate principal and interest cash
outflows with amount to approximately HK$36,665,000 (2021:
approximately HK$307,398,000).

RA R EREZ GRG0 Ll B H
BN A [ —FERZRE K] A8
MNT - RZBE_—_F+=-_A=+—8"
ZEEFNEREEL A 196,309,000 7T
(ZZ — — 4 : #713,500,0008 7T ) ° 7
NEIEBE 0 BEEFERENES
FTE T EE R A MEE - A& EF
BRI 4858 4 /5 36,665,000 7T (—
T —4F : #)307,398,00057T) °
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8. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The fair value of held-for-trading investments and listed
securities classified as financial assets at FVTOCI is calculated
using quoted prices.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements were
approximate to their fair values due to their immediate or
short-term maturities.

The following table provides an analysis of financial assets that
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period
for recurring measurement, grouped into level 1 to 3 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable in accordance
to the Group's accounting policy.

Fair value as at

8.

Fair value as at

EfTRNAYE

FIFEERE Ry BRRAFENRL
EEMEZEREANRENSHEENL
MEFN A HERBENE -

ARFBEERR BREEFBHRRR
BERAARNEREER SR AR
BRNEHAIEY  BZEeREER
TREENEREEEEAHERS

TREHNEBEHRARRBEFTERR
FEFENSBEENN - DREAE
BEHNSABRRERATEIBERED R

i — =
E—EBZE o

Valuation

31 December 31 December  Fair value technique(s)
2022 2021 hierarchy and key inputs
—E-CF —E-—F
+ZA=+t—-H +ZA=+—H HEIER
MWAEE MRFE DFEER IEBARE
Financial assets
CREE
Listed equity securities classified HK$3,183,000 HK$3,921,000 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
as financial assets at FVTOCI 3,183,000 & 1T 392100087 H—E active markets
DERRATETE ERTIZATRE AE
TEEMEZABSARENSHEE
B LR E S
Listed equity securities classified HK$Nil HK$24,000 Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
as held-for-trading investments ZHET 24,0008T F—IE active markets

NERFHIEERRE

H)_ET AR 55

ERTISMREAE

There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

REZE—_ZE-_—_FR-_F_—F+_A
=t BUEFE AFEBHZEILE
E{myss % -
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9. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND 9.

NET GAIN

Revenue represents fair value of the consideration received or
receivable and for goods sold and healthcare and hotel
services rendered in the normal course of business to

U &S B2 H fth U A B2 UX

= \TeF
ZN\

om I3 aonR

Weaste o Wk B ERER B EBB
BhmErHEa8miAi kiR BRRRE
KB ERBHREORFE - KA

customers, net of discounts and sales related taxes. MIEEHERNIE -
Revenue recognised for the year are as follows: FABER KT
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Revenue Wias
Sales of goods — point of time HEEm — NE K 343,514 361,234
Healthcare and hotel services — ERERERBIERS —
overtime R— BB 27 1,294
343,541 362,528
Other income and net gain - PN ey}
Interest income FLE A
— Loan receivables — ERER 5,367 5,609
— Bank deposits — RITHER 79 118
Total interest income F B UL A 4B 5E 5,446 5,727
Dividend income & BWA 198 134
Gain on disposal of HEREYEN K
investment properties = 31,437
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BEMKE
plant and equipment and ARfFREEEN
right-of-use assets Iz 12,146 7,330
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries FESH T A B U a 2 5,050
(Loss)/Gain on early termination of IRATKEAEAEN (B8),/
lease liabilities e (1,046) 219
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEH BRI REE (2,865) =
Loss on disposal of an associate HE— R E AR NEE (3,624) -
Exchange gain ER Rl g 6,926 -
Fair value loss on held for BIEEBRENRATE
trading investment [E518 (24) -
Fair value gain on investment S EYER N ERE
properties 8,800 -
Government grants BT Bh &
— Amortisation of deferred income — F IR A B 5
for the year 141 145
— Government grants (Note a) — BUSmBhE (Mfata) 596 37
Net rental income (Note b) MW ASFEE (faED) 410 7,632
Sundry income B 4,552 5,391
31,658 63,102
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9. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND 9. WEREMUXARINGFEE %)

NET GAIN (continued)

Notes: Kt
(@)  The amounts represent unconditional grants from government (8 EERBEBABTREANFEMBAR
for subsidising the operations of the subsidiaries in the PRC. EENEESHEE -
(b)  Ananalysis of the Group’s net rental income is as follows: (b) AKEHRSBAFENSWTAT :
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FA&T
Gross rental income U A 458 410 8,593
Less: Outgoings incurred for investment & : RERELH LW A
properties that generated rental RIIEEMERT S KRS
income during the year - (961)
Net rental income e AT 410 7,632
10.SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. REPER

The Group's reportable and operating segments, based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM"), being the chief executive officer of the Company,
for the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment (with a focus on the type of goods or services
delivered or provided) are as follows:

(@ Silicone rubber and related products — manufacturing
and sale of silicone rubber and related products;

(b)  Retail services — providing retail services in the UK; and
(c) Healthcare and hotel services — providing healthcare
and hotel services.

No operating segment identified by the CODM has been
aggregated in arriving at the reportable segment of the Group.

REZBRTIELERRE((ZEEE
REE |) (AVARRE 2ITHAREL) AHETT
BRDBEMKAFENER (FERAR
NEWHRERBFHER) - KRB
BERLED BB -

@ WBREMER — HENRHEY
BN EREmR

b) ZERE — NEERHZTERY
54

BRERELBEERSE — RHEE
PREE KB T IR TS

e

RO BR 4 B 7 3R 2 085 -
& EBLBARE RANEEHE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-__F+_-_A=+—HItFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

10. RE&ER =)

Segment revenues and results Pkl EEYNE S
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenues and results T AREEIRAIRE REEDHE D
by reportable and operating segments. KU s R SEE DT ©
2022 —E-_F
Silicone
rubber and Healthcare
related Retail and hotel
products services services Total
YEBR BRERER
HEER ZERHK B E R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAL FHL FHEL FAT
REVENUE Wi
External sales HINEE 308,101 35,413 27 343,541
Segment results DEEE 9,470 (23,205) (25,036) (38,771)
Unallocated income AABUA 12,007
Unallocated expenses AOEHAZ (70,047)
Loss before tax K7 BB 1R (96,811)
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FHt_A=+—HLEE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. REp&R =)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) NEPREDmIHELE (&)
2021 —E-—F
Silicone
rubber and Healthcare
related Retail and hotel
products Services services Total
Bk BERER
MBEEm TERS B RS BEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHETT FET FHET
Revenue W=
External sales HINEE 361,234 - 1,294 362,528
Segment results DEEE 35,662 - (25,960) 9,702
Unallocated income AoBE A 2,628
Unallocated expense AOEERE (105,123)
Loss before tax R AT EE (92,793)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment results
represent profit earned by/(loss from) each segment without
allocation of certain other income, directors’ emoluments and
central administrative costs. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.

Segment revenues reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales during the years ended 31 December 2022 and

2021.

REDHN G BREANEE S HR
MHE - DEEEREYEDAE T HM
WA EEME RPRITERANIER
T EZoBmBMEOEN(EENE
1B) WHEWTETELERKEINET
BRDERKBEMENE -

WD AR SIEINBEFELEN
HQ/WEAESZ:% E__FR-FT-_—F
TZA=T—BIEFEIES #BREHEE -
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

10. RE&ER =)
NPEERERE

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities

by reportable and operating segment:

AT RARBEIRAHREREEDHED
MEERBEIN -

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
Assets BE
Silicone rubber and related products W KR E M 255,987 437,320
Retail services E IR 65,822
Healthcare and hotel services B (R i ROB S IRTS 168,737 205,121
Total segment assets DEPEEAE 490,546 642,441
Unallocated corporate assets RKOBAREE 151,025 146,008
Consolidated total assets REEERE 641,571 788,449
Liabilities =F
Silicone rubber and related products W RAEEM 189,691 202,555
Retail services ZERTS 44,778 -
Healthcare and hotel services BB RIE NOB JE AR FS 258,530 327,180
Total segment liabilities DESBREERE 492,999 529,735
Unallocated corporate liabilities APEA Tﬁ% 12,138 16,776
Consolidated total liabilities e BEERE 505,137 546,511

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
assets for corporate use including financial assets at
FVTOCI, held-for-trading investments, interests in
associates, certain furniture, fixtures and equipment,
deposits and other receivables and bank balances and

cash; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than corporate liabilities including certain accrued

expenses and other payables.

ROMREAMRDBZHEADEER

a+ =
it EFF

e KRIERFAAZNEE(BRERAYF
BEFIRRI A HE b 2 W WJ‘EEEE’J
TREE - T%T’Ei%f?é&ﬁ K=
NENER BTEHEM  KEER
B HE REEBRIEA RIRTT
RBRER)IN FIREEADR
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. &R =)

Other segment information Hith P&
Silicone
rubber and Healthcare
related Retail  and hotel
Unallocated products Services services Total
BBR BERE
RAE HEER ZERE REERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TExT TER TER TEx
Year ended 31 December HE2_E-_F
2022 +ZA=+-HLEE
Amounts included in the AL BEEL A HEE
measure of segment results TENDE
or segment assets:
Allowance for inventories, FERE  MkER
net of reversal (including (GTASHERK)
in cost of sales) - 2 - - 2
Additions of property, NENE  BERZE
plant and equipment 790 2,138 2,425 - 5,353
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE
assets 5,433 9,569 3,029 - 18,031
Depreciation of property, % BELRETE
plant and equipment 2,422 7,652 2,570 887 13,531
Impairment losses recognised FAT S IBRER R EESE -
in respect of;
— Trade receivables — KRB SRR - 2,100 - - 2,100
— Loan receivables —EUER 13,433 - - - 13,433
Interest expenses ME RS 790 3,319 1,442 22,436 27,987
Interest income FIBMA (5,199) (72) - (4) (5,275)
Share of results of associates B EARNEE 1,073 - - - 1,073
Gain on disposal of property, HENE - BEREE
plant and equipment and AR REEERN KR
right-of-use assets (12,146) - - - (12,146)
Amounts regularly providedto ~ FHEHFTELEREL
the CODM but not included in BFRFAS S B
the measure of segment profit PEEET BN S
or loss or segment assets:
Change in fair value on held- FEEERBNNTES
for-trading investments 24 - - - 24
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. REp&R =)
Other segment information (Continued) HithnEPER (&)
Silicone

rubber and Healthcare

related and hotel
Unallocated products services Total

WEEk BEREK
iy HERER BIE R o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FTET FTET

Year ended 31 December BEZ-_Z_—-F
2021 +tZA=t-HLEE
Amounts included in the AR BERE S HEE
measure of segment profit SENLE
or loss or segment assets:

Additions of property, RNEVE BERERE

plant and equipment 2,048 8,364 19 10,431
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEENE

assets 5,379 6,640 = 12,019
Depreciation of property, ME - BERRETE

plant and equipment 2,882 14,257 3,379 20,518

(Reversal of impairment losses)/  FEIA & IBRERL
Impairment losses recognised ~ (REREERR),/

in respect of: HEEE :

— Trade receivables — KRB ZER = 2,471) = (2,471)

— Loan receivables —ERER 7,029 - - 7,029
Gain on disposal of investment &R E YRz

properties = (31,437) = (31,437)
Interest expenses FERX 1,195 3,618 18,003 22,816
Interest income FEWA (2,065) (3,642) (20) (5,727)
Share of results of associates JE(EEE AR ES 214 = - 214
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BB KEHE

plant and equipment iollvesy = = (7,330) (7,330)
Gain on deregistration of KB A AM S

subsidiaries - = (5,050) (5,050)
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10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Revenue from major products and services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from sales
of its major products and provision of services to external

F+=A=+—AILEE

10. R3p&ER &)
TEERMIREWE
AEEANSESHELTEERRIR

ARG P s SRE W s D AT a0 T

customers:
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
Consumer electronic devices HEBETREREE®
peripheral products 215,638 234,930
Keypads for computers and notebooks TS [ B 20 B B S R 13,884 19,283
Lifestyle products A EEMm 44,052 81,027
Mobile phone peripheral products FHEZER 7,046 9,172
Automotive peripheral products B FERER 4,905 6,468
Chemical products {LEEmR = 3,957
Other products HMEmM 22,576 6,397
Provision of healthcare and TR R SR JE RS
hotel services 27 1,294
Retail services TE IR 35,413 -
343,541 362,528
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-__F+_-_A=+—HItFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. RER&R 2)
Geographical information EER
The Group’s operations are principally located in the PRC and AREBNZEFEMNNARLRES -
Hong Kong.
Information about the Group's revenue from external AREEREFHEME D 2 KRB IR
customers based on the location of the customers and PrlmER RIZEERE D 2 IER
information about its non-current assets by geographical BEEEMFFHWNT

location of the assets are detailed below:

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
REIEBEF U kREBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E--F T - —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAET FHET TAET

The PRC R (B AERRAN)

(excluding Hong Kong) 178,337 216,220 254,094 108,853
Hong Kong BB 42,204 42,053 29,185 15,372
Other Asian countries NPT 44,997 19,779 - =
America =M 18,884 56,543 - -
Europe &M 51,425 22,242 37,667 18,727
Others Hib 7,694 5,691 - -

343,541 362,528 320,946 142,952
Non-current assets exclude financial assets at FVTOCI, ERHEETBEILALEYEW AR
interests in associates and goodwill. HEARENRENSRIEE R

NEINESE N EE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-_F+_-_A=+—HILFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. REp&R =)
Information about major customers E2EFER
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total REEZE—_ZE-_—F#r-_ZFT-_—F+_—H
sales of the Group in the years ended 31 December 2022 and =+—HIEFE REEEAEEEER
2021 are as follows: B 10% M PR E ST
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Customer A Z2EA 43,047 60,687
Customer B ZFB 36,280 N/A 3 2
1 Sales are derived from the sale of consumer electronic devices g HERDRBHEEHEETREREE
peripheral products. o ©
2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the 2 FE AU B BRI R e A A [ Y e 4R R
total revenue of the Group. 79 10% °
11.OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 11. Hth & &S/
2022 2021
—E-CHF T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Exchange losses PE 5 518 - 2,928
Donation g 124 738
Others Efb - 2,806

124 6,472
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12. FINANCE COSTS 12. &R
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Interest on: A TEIBRIFE
Borrowings EEaN 23,960 20,582
Lease liabilities HEARE 4,029 2,234
27,989 22,816
13.INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 13. PRiSTRMAZ (%)
2022 2021
—E-— —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FET
PRC Land Appreciation Tax A B i IE(E R 136 3,607
Current Taxation RNERT 18
Provision for the year R FHHE 470 5,587
Over-provision in prior years BT EREEERE = (573)
470 5,014
Deferred taxation RIETIE
Current year RNEFE 1,487 (15,646)
2,093 (7,025)
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the HRAEEHEE AN IEEEEEKR
financial statements since the Group has sufficient tax losses HARFE W EARTE N - R R B 7
brought forward to set off against current year's assessable WRFTHRB BN GBI
profit.
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands BERAEHENABERLHS ([ XEBE
and British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"), the Group is not subject ZEEDRARER - REEBAK
to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI. MASHEREBREZHESHNEMFTE
i o
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13. 13. PRiSTRMAZ (%) 2

SRS HR&MIEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

(Continued)

No provision for UK Corporate Tax for the current year has
been made as the Group did not generate any assessable
profits in the UK.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008
onwards. Accordingly, provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax
for the PRC subsidiaries is calculated at 25% of estimated
assessable profits for the current and prior years.

Land appreciation tax of the PRC is levied at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value,
being the proceeds of sales of properties less deductible
expenditures.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as follows:

P A 78 5= [ I 488 7 5 B8 A A ] AR A3
A AR AFRAHRRBBER
B -

REPEEEASHEA(EEREH
D REEMREBORBRES - o B
BRAXR-_ZZNF—A—HENHX
25% ° At - FERBARNFED
EEHBAREAFERBEFENTG
At RERR B FH 25% =1 & -

B+ 3R E AR DRt s B E TR (BN
& W) 3 A 1S SRR AT AR R 32 1B F
30% % 60% B RAERL R HUK

RS R BIX SR A BR RIS
BATEIELEMT :

2022 2021
—E-= B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
Loss before tax bR AT E R (96,811) (92,793)
Tax credit at rates applicable to (loss)/  IRERRABEAEEER
profit in the jurisdictions concerned (B1R),/ BRI R E R
TSR (20,297) (16,426)
Tax effect of income not taxable B AR A R T 7S
for tax purposes (5,398) (211)
Tax effect of expenses that are AR RIS &
not deductible for tax purposes 11,190 12,942
Tax effect of share of results DB E R R EENT IS E
of associates 268 52
Land appreciation tax T Hb IR ER 136 3,607
Utilisation of tax losses previously FABEAVERRNHSER
not recognised (7,636) (9,160)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRR FEE BT 5 23,830 2,171
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year SRS S (EH) 2,093 (7,025)

Details of deferred taxation are shown in Note 36.

BRI RF B FES6 ©
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14.LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14. FAEIE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHEIT
Loss for the year has been arrived at FABR LR, (GTA)
after charging/(crediting): PAR&IR :
Auditor’s remuneration % SN B
— Audit services — BT AR 1,500 1,660
— Non-audit services — JEEET RIS 420 1,010
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BERZEN RS
plant and equipment (12,146) (7,330)
Gain on disposal of investment properties & 3% & )%t 25 = (31,437)
Allowance for inventories, net of reversal  FEEHE & 3K E D
(included in cost of sales) (FFASHEKA) 2 -
Costs of inventories sold (Note) BEEFERA (M) 219,702 284,122
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEENSE 18,031 12,019
Depreciation of property, plant and VI - BB RRETE
equipment 13,531 20,518
Directors’ emoluments E 7,177 8,487
Staff costs (excluding directors’ 8 TR A
emoluments) (TEREEHE) 123,806 124,642
Note: Ktat -
Cost of inventories sold includes approximately HK$72,153,000 (2021: EEFTEXRABRIEEETRA WX - KE
HK$87,499,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation of property, plant BENERFAREAENESENSEY
and equipment and depreciation of right-of-use assets, and such 72,153,0007% jt( = & = — 4 : 87,499,000 7%
amounts are also included in the respective total amounts disclosed L) BASHENTEF AR EXBIEENEG

separately above. FALEZEA o
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15. DIVIDENDS 15. 28
No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended 31 REEZZT-__FR=-FT=-_—F+=HA
December 2022 and 2021, nor has any dividend been proposed =+t —HUIEFEVEINIERIREE
since the end of the reporting period. IS BRE I RARINEZ K
EARE -
16.LOSS PER SHARE 16. 82618
Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss BRERNEBEBEDZEREBEE_T K
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted —E -+ ZA=t+—HIEEEAR
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the years RIEE AEMHEERR B BT @R
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. INEFHEEE -
2022 2021
—E- & —E-—F
Loss for the year attributable to owners AR GEA AE(GERER
of the Company (HK$'000) (F&L) (98,063) (84,901)
Weighted average number of ordinary 2377 E @A H hiiE F 198
shares in issue ('000) (FR%) 1,306,767 1,129,295
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the basic RBE-_F_—_FR_F_—F+_7
loss per share and the diluted loss per share are the same ST—HIEFE  SREABBESHR
because there are no dilutive shares outstanding. BEEEAR - RESLEZITEIN

BER -
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17.

wn © B 15 2= bfd 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

17. ETR (RBHEFEEME)

2022 2021

—E-CHF T —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries, allowances and other benefits Hg BB REAMER 111,245 113,181
Performance related bonuses FRIRAARIIEAL 821 104
Retirement benefit schemes contributions EREFIET 214 % 11,740 11,357
123,806 124,642

The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate defined contribution
schemes under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance which are available to qualified
employees. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the subsidiaries in independently administered
funds. Monthly contributions made by the subsidiaries are
calculated based on certain percentages of the applicable
payroll costs or fixed sums as stipulated under the relevant
requirements, with maximum relevant income level for
contributions of HK$30,000 monthly.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in the
PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group participate in respective
government retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”)
whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute to the
Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of the eligible
employees. Contributions made to the Schemes are calculated
based on certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs as
stipulated under the requirements in the PRC. The relevant
authorities of the PRC are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the Schemes is to pay
the ongoing required contributions under the Schemes.

The retirement benefits schemes contributions represent
contributions by the Group to the Schemes operated by the
relevant authorities of the PRC and the defined contribution
schemes operated in Hong Kong.

EENNBARREBEE SR EATES
TENED BE B8 E B R E R
gl ZEHMEMNEAERBUEEESH
B HIBARMNEESH - HEBAR
BARBATFHRANETE D kiR
FERAAR E AT PR E B SREE B (5K o
KE A U AKTE LR &S A 30,0005

I °

RIETEARERNRSL - KRB
J& 1~ 7] 2 B4 B B 0 R K AR A A 8l
(IZEst8))  HBARARERZE
SHEEL R - REERERMNRINE
MIRHES - A% FaTEELHERTD
B BRGIRTARERFMAANE T
BREE - FEEHEERARRERNK
BEXNEZRRE - AREIZFR
M- EERFEXXNZFTEMR
TR -

BB ERFEASRERTEEH
ERRIMZFERNEBRILNTE
BHSGHEIE R R o
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18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS

(@)

FT-A=+—BILtFE

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s

Emoluments

Directors’ and chief executive officer's emoluments for
the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, are as

follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(@) ESKTBRBME

18. EERITIHAREAME

AEERBERLHRURFER
AP ENEERITRAHMS

R

BE_FT-__F+-"A=1+—-AHL

FE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other Discretionary schemes
Fees benefits bonus contributions Total
e 28 RIKEF
we REMER kg SRR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR THER FER TER
Executive directors: HTES:
Shi Qi il - 3,600 - 18 3,618
Cheng Hong (Note vi) R (Kt vi) - 60 - 3 63
Gao Feng 513 1,500 - - - 1,500
Liu Wengang (Note vil) S0l (it vii) - 1,284 - 12 1,296
Li Jiuhua (Note vii) ZNE (Fia2viii) - 306 - 2 308
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Han Lei BE = = = = =
Chan Tsun Hong Philip BRIEE = = = = =
Gu Shixiang (Note ix) Bt (Hfatix) - - - - -
Independent non-executive By EHITEES :
directors:
Lin Bing (Note v) W (Hiztiv) 63 - - - 63
Wang Lina TEH 120 - - - 120
Hu Jiangbing Ik 120 - - - 120
Chan Siu Tat (Note v) L& (fiitv) 89 - - - 89
1,892 5,250 - 35 7177

161



162

TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#n O B 55 R R Bl 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-__F+_-_A=+—HItFE

18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@

18. EBRITHAHME &)

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s () EBNTHBHME &)
Emoluments (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 Hgz-—2-—F+=-HA=+—A81t
FE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other  Discretionary schemes
Fees benefits bonus  contributions Total
He B RINEH
we  REMER WiEEa HEGS st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR FiET TER TR
Executive directors: HTES :
ShiQi i - 4271 - 18 4,289
Cheng Hong (EVN - 120 - 6 126
(a0 Feng mig - 1,500 - = 1,500
Liu Wengang £l = 2,004 = 18 2,022
Yin Zhigiang (Note ) FE (M) = = = = =
Non-executive directors: FUTES:
Han Lei BE - - - - -
Chan Tsun Hong Philip BRIEE = = = = =
Independent non-executive ~ BIYFHTES:
directors:
Zhang Lijuan (Note i) KB (Hiztii) - - - - -
Lin Bing e - 240 - - 240
Liu Gang (Note i) SU88 (Wit iii) = 70 = = 70
Wang Lina TEH - 120 - - 120
Hu Jiangbing HLE - 120 - - 120
- 8,445 - 2 8487

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of

the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as directors of the Company and
its subsidiaries, if applicable.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the

Company.

ERHITEFNME IR SR
HEBEARNARAEESHE BN
AR M S A

BSERITERHNME TR EFE
RARBNEMBAR (ER)E
ERHEMBRBE M ST o

RS ST B OB S TRk
SRR A EERERBT S
fih o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-_F+_-_A=+—HILFE

18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s
Emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Resigned on 11 January 2021.
(i) Resigned on 19 July 2021.

(i) Resigned on 11 August 2021.
(iv)  Resigned on 4 April 2022.

(V) Appointed on 4 April 2022.

(vi)  Resigned on 29 June 2022.

(vii)  Resigned on 5 August 2022.

(viil)  Appointed on 1 November 2022.

(iX)  Appointed on 28 December 2022.

Liu Wengang has resigned CEO of the Company on 5
August 2022. His emoluments disclosed above include
those for services rendered by him as the CEO from 1
January 2021 to 5 August 2022.

Mr. Li Jiuhua is the CEO of the Company from 1
November 2022. His emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by him as the CEO
from 1 November 2022.

No directors and the chief executive officer waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.

18. EBRITHAHME &)

() ESK{THRIME @)

Hiat

) WN=E——F—HA+—BFE-
iy RZZEZ—FtATIBBHE-
iy M-ZE-_—F/\A+—HEHE-

vy R-ZT-—FHAMHBEHE-

viy R-ZE-—FA-TNBE(E-
Vi) RZEBE-_—_FN\ARBEBT-

(i) R-ZT-—F+—F—HEZXT-

L -

BXHER=—ZE=_—F N\ AHE
FITHAE - EXFEBEOHESR
BREN - —F—fF—HE_-ZT
——FN\ARBEATTRERIEMH
BRISEIBN S o

ThEREE - E-—F+—A—
HRREERRQRITHABE o EXXAT
FENNeRREE =S
+— A —B{EBRITRETIRERE
RS o

RAEFE  HEEEMITHER
MEXFERETAME -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-__F+_-_A=+—HItFE

18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 18. ESRITH@MEE )
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals emoluments (b) hERESHALTIME
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the AEEBREHERGTATH =4
Group, three (2021: three) were directors of the Company (ZZE-——F: =R)BKRAAE
whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of FORBRENMESEN EXX - 82T
the remaining two (2021: two) highest paid employees are ZH(CE-——F  WMB)RSHESR
as follows: HB ST
2022 2021
—EgE-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHEIT
Salaries, allowances and e EREREMEF
other benefits 3,175 2,929
Performance related bonuses B - =
Retirement benefit schemes RIREFET IR
contributions 35 36
3,210 2,965
The emoluments are within the following bands: BN T A TEE -
2022 2021
—E-CF —E—F
Number of Number of
employees employees
EEAE BB AEK
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 2= 1,000,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T £ 1,500,000 78 7T 1 -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 /& 7T & 2,000,000 7 7T 1 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7% 7T £ 2,500,000 T -
2 2




B__FFR

AFESEEZERBERLT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

'-I1
o

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 %},

SRS HR&MIEE

BT

F+=A=+—AILEE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. 1% - BRERRIE
Properties Furniture,
held for Motor Plantand fixturesand  Leasehold Construction
own vehicles ~ machinery  equipment improvements  in progress Total
BiE BER BR-%E RENE
BRNE RE He RekfE %% RRIE Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThEr ThEr Tix TEx TR T ThEr
Cost BA
Asat 1 January 2021 R-E-_—-F-HF—H 126,872 6,115 169,420 72,305 45,542 1,170 421,424
Exchange realignment ST 2,742 39 4,097 1,267 524 87 8,756
Additions NE - 3,165 236 3,094 1,569 2,367 10,431
Acquisition of a subsidiary WeE—mHB A
(Note 38) (Aiz#33) - 135 - 993 66 - 1,194
Reclassified as held for sales B AEARIELE
(Note 33) (H1:£33) (70,041) (610) (3,669) (20,126) (3,929) - (98,375)
Transfer E - - 1,060 408 1,336 (2,804) -
Disposals HE (32,033) (854) (26,531) (4.719) (5,806) - (69,948)
Asat31December2021and  H-Z=—%
1 January 2022 +-A=+-Bk
“Z--%-f-H 27,535 7,990 144,613 53,222 39,302 820 273,482
Exchange realignment ERTEEES (686) (676) (7,377) (4,321) (1,386) (95) (14,541)
Additions NE - 92 1,099 2,307 1,507 348 5,353
Transfer to investment property EEZRANE (27,535) - - - - - (27,535)
Transfer from assets held for sale B EEEE# 70,041 610 3,669 20,126 3,929 - 98,375
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAR - - - (5,465) - - (5,465)
Transfer #E - - 430 98 100 (628) -
Disposals/Write-off HE /i (7,211) (1,450) (3,683) (1,346) - - (13,690)
Asat31December2022  R=B-=#
+ZA=1+-H 62,144 6,566 138,751 64,621 43,452 445 315,979
Accumulated depreciation ~ 2itirE
At 1 January 2021 RZZE=—-F—-F—H 38,486 4,248 137,733 58,860 30,600 - 269,927
Exchange realignment Rt 131 3 932 766 390 - 2,252
Acquisition of a subsidiary e —RME AR
(Note 38) (Hiz£38) - 2 - 84 - = 116
Provision for the year FREE 563 892 9,145 4,300 5118 - 20,518
Reclassified as held for sales  EZABAKIELE
(Note 33) (H1:£33) (7,061) (596) (303) (18,908) (3,240) - (30,108)
Disposals HE (8,800) (42) (24,291) (4.271) (1,712) - (39,116)
Asat31December 2021and  WZB=—%F
1 January 2022 TZA=T-Bk
—E--_%-f-H 23,319 4,567 123,216 41,331 31,156 - 223,589
Exchange realignment AR (90) (506) (5,237) (4,580) (1,665) - (12,078)
Provision for the year FREE 1,478 755 3,318 4,464 3,516 - 13,531
Transfer to investment property ERERENE (23, 405) - - - - - (23,405)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR - - (3,476) - - (3,476)
Transfer from assets held for sale E#{EH & QEL% 7,061 596 303 18,908 3,240 - 30,108
Disposals S (699) (1,006) (2,755) - - - (4,460)
Asat 31December 2022  R=B==f
+ZA=1+-H 7,664 4,406 118,845 56,647 36,247 - 223,809
Carrying amount RAEE
Asat31December2022 R=E-Z#
+=A=t-8 54,480 2,160 19,906 7974 7,205 445 92,170
As at 31 December 2021 R-Z-—F
+-A=t+-H 4216 3423 21,397 11,891 8,146 820 49,893
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19. 19.17% - BEKR=E &)

SRS HR&MIEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for
construction in process, are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives less residential values as
follows:

Properties held for own use situated on leasehold land are
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease
and their estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 years
after the date of initial recognition.

Estimated useful life

AT A ERAFH
Motor vehicles 5 years
art 5
Plant and machinery 10 years
R Bs K g5 104F

Furnitures, fixtures and equipment
i~ HENEE

Leasehold improvements
HEMERE

3E104F

Retail services

The Group resulted a segment loss on retail services of
approximately HK$23,205,000 during the year ended 31
December 2022. The directors of the Group considered an
impairment indicator existed and carried out an impairment
assessment on the CGU of retail services.

At 31 December 2022, the recoverable amount of property,
plant and equipment have been determined based on their
value in use. The Group estimates the value in use of the
leasehold improvement using a pre-tax discount rate of 14.5%.
There was no impairment considered necessary of provide in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

3t0 10 years

BREZTIREN UNEME  BEERE
0B A B ARRIR A N b AT 2 A HR
FIMEEFTENE -

ME T EHRHER RYMERZARERD
AR E AE R EREH(RNTHERR
HIR S0F ) MEEERTEINE -

Residual value

FIEREE

10%

10%

10%

Shorter of the lease term and 5 to 10 years =
HEHAKRSE10F - REE A%

FERRTS
HE-_T-_—_F+-_A=1+—HIHF
B AEBRTERE S @SB D IE
$84923,2050008 - AEBEERA
FERENS  THTERBHNERESE
H BAETTRE RS

N-ZZE-_—E+-A=+—H Y%
R M B A Y A IR Bl & BB B AR IR H 5
BEET - N5 B A 14.5% K T A7 8L
REGFHEMERENEAEE - &
EE-_—F+_A=+—HILEFE "
FEVBmEARPUEER ST ZARERE
HHORBE(ZEZ—F &) -
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19.

SRS HR&MIEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)
Healthcare and hotel service

The Group resulted a segment loss on healthcare and hotel
service of approximately HK$25,036,000 during the year ended
31 December 2022. The directors of the Group considered an
impairment indicator existed and carried out an impairment
assessment on the CGU of healthcare and hotel service.

At 31 December 2022, the recoverable amount of certain
properties have been determined based on their fair value less
cost of disposal. The Group uses direct comparison to estimate
the fair value less cost of disposal of the assets which is based
on the recent transaction prices for similar properties adjusted
for nature, location and conditions of the property. There was
no impairment considered necessary of provide in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022.

19.17% ~ BER®IE 2

EE RGBSR
BHE-_E-_—_F#+-_HA=+—HIt#=E
B AEEREERERBEERESTE
8% 18 5 21 B 18 49 25,036,000 7T » AN
EEERATERETR - WHEBEER
fiE B JE RIS IR & B A B AL EITIRE
FF{d o

R-E-_—_F+-_F=+—H ETY
¥NoREeBEEREEATFERTE
AT - AEEFEREZLEAGR
BEMNAFERHEMRA L HERE
LMELPRSEREL - WmE
ME  NEREHETAR - HE-F
T+ -—A=+—HLFE K8
ERER P W ER R AT BT IRBENR
fH o

The carrying value of properties held for own use shown above Ll rEa RYEREESE
comprises of:
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FAT
Medium-term leases FREEE
— In Hong Kong —UREB = 4,216
— Outside Hong Kong — HABTEHN 54,480 -
54,480 4,216

As at 31 December 2022, properties located in PRC under
medium-term lease with carrying value of approximately
HK$54,480,000 have been pledged to secure facilities granted
to the Group.

As at 31 December 2021, properties located in Hong Kong
under medium-term leases with carrying value of
approximately HK$4,216,000 have been pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group.

R-ZE-—F+—-_A=+—H  RHEHEY
54,480,000 8 7oA A AR SR AP BRF & 4%
BNYED THER  (EAREEERE
EMER -

R-EBE-_—F+-F=+—8 EREEYD
4,216,000 LA R B S IR 15 BiFE & 55
ENWEE TER (EARSEMER
IRITEERER -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-__F+_-_A=+—HItFE

20.RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

20. FHIES=E

Leasehold Lease
land properties Total
HELi HEWE wEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FET
As at 1 January 2021 RZE=Z—F—H—H
Carrying amount BREE 122,529 13,159 135,688
As at 31 December 2021 and NZEBE-_—F+=-A=+—8
1 January 2022 NZ_ZT-_—F—HF—H
Carrying amount REE 3,908 61,000 64,908
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZF+=-H=+—H
Carrying amount REAE 84,233 60,148 144,381
For the year ended HE-ZT-—F
31 December 2021 TZA=+—HLEE
Depreciation Charge TEEH (96) (11,923) (12,019)
Reclassified as held for sales ENHBARELE (117,522) = (117,522)
Acquisition of a subsidiary U BE — R B A Al - 9,259 9,259
Exchange realignment & 3 R (1,003) 118 (885)
Written off s - (3,672) (3,672)
(118,621) (6,218) (124,839)
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRLAE 13,300
Addition to right-of-use assets NEFHEEE 54,059
For the year ended BE-EZ_—F
31 December 2022 +=A=1+—-HBLEE
Depreciation Charge WEEBR (2,311) (15,720) (18,031)
Reclassified from held for sales BRENEEN D 117,522 - 117,522
Disposal/Written off HE s (32,421) (2,446) (34,867)
Exchange realignment P& 3 (2,465) (5,964) (8,429)
80,325 (24,130) 56,195
Total cash outflow for leases HERSMILBRE 16,327
Addition to right-of-use assets NEFRAEEE 23,278
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SRS HR&MIEE

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Retail services

The Group resulted a segment loss on retail services of
approximately HK$23,205,000 during the year ended 31
December 2022. The directors of the Group considered an
impairment indicator existed and carried out an impairment
assessment on the CGU of retail services.

At 31 December 2022, the recoverable amount of certain
leased properties have been determined based on their value
in use. The Group estimates the value in use of the leasehold
improvement using a pre-tax discount rate of 14.5%. There was
no impairment considered necessary of provide in the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Healthcare and hotel service

The Group resulted a segment loss on healthcare and hotel
service of approximately HK$25,036,000 during the year ended
31 December 2022. The directors of the Group considered an
impairment indicator existed and carried out an impairment
assessment on the CGU of healthcare and hotel service.

At 31 December 2022, the recoverable amount of certain
leasehold land have been determined based on their fair value
less cost of disposal. The Group uses direct comparison to
estimate the fair value less cost of disposal of the assets which
is based on the recent transaction prices for similar properties
adjusted for nature, location and conditions of the property.
There was no impairment considered necessary of provide in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, lease land located in PRC under
medium-term lease with carrying value of HK$80,877,000 have
been pledged to secure facilities granted to the Company.

20. [FHIE&E=E 2

TR

HE-_T-—_F+-_A=1+—HLHF
B AEERZTERS S EES D EES
18 4923,205,00078 T - ANEEEFR A
GEBEDRR  WHEERBHREGE
A BAEITRERE ©

RZE-_—F+=-_A=+—H FFH
EMENA KRB CEERELFEHEE
EETE o ANE B 14.5%H 5 BT BE 3R R
HETHEMEREHFERER B2
T —F+-A=+—HIEE H-E
B RERPIUERRAST S IREBEN
BE(ZEZ—F &)

B R MO TE RS
BHE-_T-—_F+-_A=+—HLIHF
B AEBERBERERBERS S ®
$% 15 9 25 B3 48 49 25,036,000 T © AN &
EEERATERETR @ WEHEZR
fiE MOB R RIS HIR € EE B EITRE
2Tl o

R_ZE-_—F#+-A=+—H8 &5TFH
ELimra el £ BERBEE A FER
HEXRAETE - AEBFERAEELSE
Bt EEMNRAFEREERA - b HE
REUDENTRAR ZERSE - W5
MENE B RIEEETHE- &i
B+ -_A=+—HILFE"
B BMER AP W EW R A ﬁxﬁk%ﬁ
HIRE °

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H" EEE
780,877,000 7 JT AL KA AR B 4R 5  HA A
EFRANEELHE FTEE  EAELAA
AIFTEREERER -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-__F+_-_A=+—HItFE

21.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 21. 1R&1%E
HK$'000
FH&T
FAIR VALUE AF{E

As at 1 January 2021 RN-_E - —F—H—H 93,650
Exchange realignment BE 7 % 1,121
Disposals HeE (94,771)

As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZE—_—F+-_A=+—HEK
—E-—F—F—H -
Transfer from building and leased land EREEFRES T 4,130
Fair value charged to other comprehensive income st A H b 2 E U228 A F{E 8,070
Fair value charged to profit or loss FFABENATE 8,800
As at 31 December 2022 RZEBE-_—_F+=-A=+—H 21,000

Notes: et -

@)

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

The investment properties shown above are situated in the HK
and held under medium-term leases.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group disposed
the investment properties at consideration of approximately
RMB115,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$138,748,000).

As at 31 December 2022, properties located in Hong Kong under
medium-term leases with carrying value of approximately
HK$21,000,000 have pledged to secure banking facilities granted
to the Group.

@)

AEERQEHERARNRNEESH
BAIREN A MERRIGU R FER
XFtE WO BERARIEREYE -

A LR AIRETHEERSEURES
HIZEE o

HE-_T-—F+-A=+—HIF
& AEBUREL AR 115,000,000
7T (HE & 7 49 138,748,0005% 7T ) H & 1%

RZZB__F+-_A=+—0 " REME
#921,000,000 7 7oAz 7 & B AR B HA7E
ERBENMEE TEM  (ERAKEM
EERRITEERER -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-_ZT—-—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

22.GOODWILL 22. B8
HK$'000
FH&T
At carrying value: RERHEE :

As at 1 January 2021 RZE—_—F—HF—H =
Arising from business combination (Note 38) BEBa0tESE (M 38) 2,166

As at 31 December 2021 and R=B=—F+=A=+—H"

1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 S &E-f-AR-B-—&

+=B=+—8H 2,166

For the purpose of impairment assessment, goodwill set out
above has been allocated to CGU relating to the silicone rubber
and related products.

The recoverable amount of CGU as at 31 December 2022 has
been determined based on a value in use calculation with
reference to a valuation performed an independent
professional valuer. The calculation use cash flows projections
based on financial budget approved by management covering
5-years period and pre-tax discount rate of 14.5% (2021: 13%).
Cash flows beyond the 5-years period have been extrapolated
using a steady 2% growth rate (2021: 5%). The growth rate is
based on relevant industry growth forecasts and does not
exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant
industry. Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation
relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows include
budgeted sales and gross profit margin.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
management of the Group determines that there is no
impairment on East Shack Ltd.

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying
amount of East Shack Ltd. The Directors believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would
not result in impairment.

SRERENE AR EE s EEH
YRBRABERBBNRSELSEMN -

R-EBE-_—F+_A=+—H REE
E BN R AT E € 5 T ERE B EER
BUWREBLEXGHEMOBEETE
ZETENEREREREIAERER
FHNMEBENIER S RETE R AR
ATAE IR R 145% (—F = —4F : 13%) °
BBRAFHNRERECFEABER R
R2%(ZFE=——4F :5%) FLAHE - i
RETDENAREITHERTER R ER
BEBTENTFHREEER - GFHE
ERA RN EMEREETE
NEERLDEBEHEREREK -

HEz_ZT_—_F#r-_ZFT-_—F+_-A
=+ HLEFE AEBENEEEET
East Shack Ltd. 7 £ R E -

AT Yk 5] 4 58 A 08 = 72 East Shack Ltd. B9 8R
HE - BEEZERATAZEBENEIME
B EE BB I EBURE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-__F+_-_A=+—HItFE

23.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

Listed at Taiwan Ne
— Listed equity securities — EWRRAES

23. AP EYIREGEHE fth 2t Y
=mAEENENEE

2022 2021
—E-= —EF-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FH&T
3,183 3,921

Note:

The above equity securities represent ordinary shares of entities at
Taiwan. These investments are not held for trading, instead, they are
held for long-term strategic purposes. The directors of the Company
have elected to designate these investments in financial assets at
FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-term fluctuations in
these investments' fair value in profit or loss would not be consistent
with the Group's strategy of holding these investments for long-term
purposes and realising their performance potential in the long run.

The listed equity securities are determined based on the quoted
market bid prices available on the relevant stock exchange and
categories as level 1 under fair value hierarchy. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the fair value loss of approximately HK$347,000
had been recognised in the other comprehensive income (2021:
approximately gain of HK$828,000).

24.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

Hfet -

EPRBRAEFEFEREERBNEEM - ZFK
AW FFHEEEMITHIERPRBEEN - A
ARBEZEDEEREZSREMEEZRE
BAFEIREAEEMEERRAEE R
ARERRNIEBERAANRRBZEFREQTEN
SR AARERARSREFRBEN
Rt REBRARBE DR B

ERAFBSHDBRBEREEZESRRZ S ATAIE
HMBEAREET  YREAAFEER
F—EB-REBE-T-_—_F+=-_A=+—H
LWLFE - AF{EEIEL347,0008 L E R H A
2EWEAER(ZE-—F - Ygz547828,000
I °

24. REi=AcINiEs

2022 2021
—E-CHF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Unlisted shares, at cost LM - RN AE

(note a and b) (KtitaXb) 69,136 63,247
Additions (note c) ANE (Mfatc) - 5,889
Disposal (note a and b) HE (HeFakb) (62,022) -
Share of post-acquisition results DIUIER EE (1,160) (2,087)

Accumulated impairment losses ERERRFTREBE (MEd)
recognised (note d) (1,225) (39,132
Exchange realignment PE 5 =& 83 3,965
4,812 31,882
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24.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Details of the associates at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as

follows:
Place of
Form of incorporation/
business place of Registered/
Name of company structure business share capital
B AR: L
ARER EREBRS  KERY /R
BiOcean Holdings Limited ~ Incorporated ~ Hong Kong HK$2,500,000
RauTAE BE 2,500,000 %70
Biomar Industries SdnBhd  Incorporated  Malaysia MYR400,000
Tk SRAE 4000008F
Yuntou (Note @) Established The PRC RMB150,000,000
R (Hita) 3L i AR # 150,000,000 7C
Sinohk Group (Note b) Incorporated ~ Hong Kong HK$150,000
HERE (fizth) RaliZAv Bk 150,000%7C
RFR (Note o) (Hfitc)  Established The PRC RMB110,000,000
4 i ARH10,000,000 7T
Note:

(@)

In 2019, the Group, together with two independent third parties,
set up Yuntou Infrastructure Investment Co., Limited (“Yuntou”)
in the PRC, of which the Group holds 35% equity interests in
Yuntou. The registered capital of Yunton is RMB150,000,000, of
which RMB52,500,000 to be continued by the Group,
representing 35% equity interest in Yuntou. During the period
ended 31 December 2019, the Group’s portion of capital
contribution has been fully paid. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Company disposed of Ta Yang Sojourn
Industry Co. Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, which
indirectly held 35% of Yuntou. Upon the completion of disposal,
Yuntou is no longer an associate of the Group.

In 2019, the Group acquired 33% equity interest in Sinohk Link
Capital Limited and its wholly owned subsidiary, i-Golden Data
Capital Limited (“Sinohk Group”) at a cash consideration of
HK$3,697,000. Sinohk Group is principally engaged in the
provision of financial services business in Hong Kong with Type
4 and Type 9 licenses issued by the SFC. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the Group disposed of the interest held in
Sinohk Group at a consideration of HK$1. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the Group recognised the loss of disposal of
approximately HK$3,624,000. Upon the completion of disposal,
Sinohk Group is no longer an associate of the Group.

24. RS ENES (&)
n =
—t+—HHBE QAR

BE__FR-_FT_—f+-H
BT

Proportion of ownership

interest and voting rights
held by the Group Principal Activities
rEERENERERR
RBRELA) TEER
2022 2021
B —E-—%
49% 49%  Investment holding
REER
49% 49%  Trading of chemistry oil
t2HE5
- 35%  Construction project
in the PRC
BRI
- 33%  Financial services in HK
EEERRE
49% 49%  Retail services
TERB
B -

AZZE—NF  AEEBERMEBBELE
ZHRPERY EREREEILEER
ARIER]) ERAEERBEER
35% A iERS - ERMFMELAAEAR
# 150,000,000 7T * E R AR E EFE A
R #52,500,0007C * b EREANEZEA
3B% - RBE_T—NF+-_A=+—
AILER - AEBIFERHEER I
feREBE_ZE_—_F+=-_A=+—8H
IEFE - ARARHEMEFEEZR35%
%é%ﬁ@ﬁ%%@ﬁk#ﬁ%é%ﬁ

NG ﬁ%$ﬁ K% ERTEA
$E@mﬁéﬁ

REZF—NF AEENUABESKE
3,697,000 T IEF B BRERFRA
AREZENBARAREBIEEETRA

A ([HRBEE|)H)33% AR - B8

EEHAFESHENENERENSE
[ EERERMSBREER - B
BE-_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HIHF
B AEBHERTPBEEEFENE

mRE/IBLT BE-_T__F
TZA=+T—HLEFE  AEEEER

{18 5 11403,624,000 % 7 - i85 3 08
SR - RS EETEBARENEE
27
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-__F+_-_A=+—HItFE

24.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Note: (Continued)

24. REi=AcNiEs &)
et - (&)

©

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group, together
with independent third person, set up db R A REHEFER
RAa (" ARFEHR") in the PRC, of which the Group hold 49%
equity interest of AR . The registered capital of AJFHER is
RMB10,000,000, of which RMB4,900,000 to be contributed by the
Group, represent 49% equity interest in A%ttt 5% . During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Group's portions of capital
contribution of RMB4,900,000 (equivalent to HK$5,889,000) has
been fully paid.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group
engaged an independent external valuer to assist the
management in performing impairment review for associates of
the Group, which is considered as having impairment indicators.
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the management reviewed
the recoverable amounts of associates. Based on the
assessment, the recoverable amount of the Group's interests in
associates is approximately HK$4,840,000 as at 31 December
2022 (2021: HK$22,456,000) and no impairment losses (2021:
HK$18,968,000) recognised for the year ended 31 December
2022.

Summarised financial information of material
associates

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the
Group's material associate is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents amounts shown in the
associate’s financial statements prepared in accordance with

(©

HE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HIHF
€ AEEEBTE =R BRI
R SREHPEBR AR ([ K FH
R])  HRAEEFAENFHRA49%
AR - KFtHRAFMERAAR
#10,000,0007C * EFAREEFTEAR
#4,900,000 7T ¢ i K ¥t R IR AN 25
H49% - RBE_ZT_-__F+_ A
=+—BULFE  AEEFEITHAR
# 4,900,000 7t (48 & 74 5,889,000 % 7t )
EERIIT -

REE-_ZT-_—_FR-_T-_—F+-A
=+—HUIEEE AEERE-RBY
HNERIE (B R 17 B & 32 8 1 AN &2 B B A X
AEETTRESSE T EERBEER
BEZE RZE__FR=-T=—
+—A=+—H EEEEEHBHED
AIMAKEISHE  REFH R=F
——F+=—A=+—8  rEEREE
A AR A A Y Bl 58 49 44,840,000
BT (ZT = —4 : 22,456,000 7T)
BREE_ZT-__F+=-A=+—H1t
FEVERARBESGR(ZSE=_—F:
18,968,00078 7T ) °

SABE LT B E MR

NTREBASEEABERTTEZ
MBERBE - TXRAEZ P HER Y
ERMERNFIRBEEEMBRSE LR
M BEMRAT LB °

HKFRSS.
Yuntou
ER

2022 2021
—E-CHF B —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Non-current assets JEMBNE E - 418
Current assets MENEE - 106,584
Current liabilities mENa A = (64,557)
Revenue Wias = -
Loss for the year FNEIE = (289)
Other comprehensive income EAh 2 Es = 10,992
Total comprehensive income EHEN =B = 10,703
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24.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 24. RS aINES (&)
Summarised financial information of material BSABENS 2 IEERIRE (&)
associates (Continued)
RE R
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
Tz F&TT
Non-current assets IERBEE - -
Current assets M E 12,204 11,821
Current liabilities mEaE (2,383) -
Revenue e 1,482 -
Loss for the year FAEE (2,170) (198)
Other comprehensive income E A 2 169 -
Total comprehensive income ZER B (2,001) (198)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information of RZEBE-_—_FR_FE-_—F+=A
material associate as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 as ZT—HERBEARMNYBEERRE
follows: AEIRRIANT
Yuntou
R
2022 2021
—E_- —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET F&TT
Associate’s net asset BN RN EEFE = 42,445
% of interest held by the Group AEBFEEZNE D = 35%
The Group's share of net assets REBH(HEEFE - 14,856
Goodwill EES - 7,600
Carrying amount in the consolidated e RERNERREE

financial statements

22,456
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24.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Summarised financial information of material

associates (Continued)

24. REi=AcNiEs &)

SABEL T B ERIBE (#)

F¥it R
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET
Associate’s net assets RN RN EEFE 9,821 11,821
% of interest held by the Group AEBRFAEEZNE D 49% 49%
The Group's share of net assets REEDGEESE 4,812 5,792
Carrying amounts in the consolidated e EREMEREE
financial statements 4,812 5,792
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually EFEBEABL AT LSS EEMT
material as follows:
2021
T
HK$'000
FH&T
The Group's share of profit N2 B PR (e A
The Group's share of post-tax profit AN ES B (L BR A 18 0 T
The Group's share of other AEEEGEMEEKE
comprehensive income =
The Group's share of total AEBELEE M EBEE
comprehensive income (113)
Aggregate carrying amount of REERZEHEAFIN
the Group's interests in these R BRTEE
associates 9,426
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 %},

ET__F+-A=1+—HIFE

25.INVENTORIES 25. 78
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Raw materials R #H 8,411 14,252
Work-in-progress ER G 3,019 10,297
Finished goods RUAK T 47,791 39,438
59,221 63,987

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

26. [EUYES 5 8RR 52 H fth U FRIA

2022 2021
—E- —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHET
Trade and bills receivables UL E 5 BR A B I R 4R
— from third parties —ERE=F 71,314 103,693
Less: Allowance for ECLS B TREE B R Ia (7,718) (5,715)
63,596 97,978
Prepayments, deposits and AR - ke &k
other receivables B G 149,425 169,436
213,021 267,414
Presented as: 27545 :
— Non-current assets —IEREEE 16,658 24,400
— Current assets — REEE 196,363 243,014
213,021 267,414

The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances.

The Group normally grants to its customers credit periods
ranging from 30 to 90 days which are subject to periodic review

by the management.

On 15 December 2021, the Group entered a memorandum of
understanding (the “MOU"). The MOU granted the Group an
exclusivity period of six months for due diligence and term
negotiation. The Group paid a refundable deposit of
RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to HK$24,400,000) as an option of
partial payment for the consideration, if an acquisition
materialises. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the

deposit is refunded.

REEW AR ZFEHFFAEMERR -

AEE—RETHEEPNFIRENAH
MEEH MEEESEMRNEHE

AEBR-ZE-_—F+_-_A+HHFIZ
HEETE((RRESE])  REES
BETFAEENEANBRPUETS
BEEMERER AEBEZTARK
20,000,000 7T (F8E 7 24,400,000 7 7T ) #Y
ARER S MEBBEMNEET %
PR EBELMNBORE BHE-Z
——F+-_A=t+—HLFE  BEF
SEERE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-__F+_-_A=+—HItFE

26.

SRS HR&MIEE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The amounts are mainly represented to prepayment of
consultant services and inventories in order to maintain daily
operation.

An ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables, net of
allowance for expected credit loss based on the invoice date at

(%)

26. [EUX & 3 R 58 B2 H fth FE U FR 18

ZEFRTIEARANBERARELREFE

AMERFH B EE o

RBEHR - MRBEHEEBBREER
MWK E ZRA N EREELER B

the end of the reporting period is as follows: MRS T ¢
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FH&T
0-90 days 0£29H 52,856 86,292
91 days to 1 year THEIFE 10,740 11,686
63,596 97,978

The movements in the allowance for ECLs of trade and bill

RUEZERMEREENEREERS

receivables is as follows: EREEZEHNT
2022 2021
—g-= T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 January n—HA—H 5,715 9,318
Impairment loss/(Reversal) recognised B REREAERE () 2,100 2,471)
Exchange realignment bE o 3R (97) (1,132)
At 31 December N+=—BA=+—H 7,718 5,715

Included in the allowance for ECLs recognised are individually
impaired trade receivables with an aggregate balance of
approximately HK$7,718,000 (2021: approximately
HK$5,715,000). The individually impaired receivables mainly
relate to customers that are in financial difficulty or of poor
credit history.

EERTEHEEBERERIEEMREELY
7,718,000 7T (ZF — — 4 : 495,715,000
BT B E R 2R E R E SR - &R
B R (B e W R IE = 2 B A ¥ B B R B sk
EEEHITRENEF,EHA -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-_F+_-_A=+—HILFE

26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26.EI S ARKKRHthEUWFRIE
(Continued) (#&)
At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the analysis of trade and bills R_EBE - —_FR_FT-—F+_A
receivables that are past due but not impaired are as follows: =+—H EafErERENERE

ZEFERREEN DT

Neither Over
past 90 days but
due nor Less than less than
Total impaired 90 days 1 year
I fR I HA IR 90HM £
F ERE LHR90A ELR—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET FHET
As at 31 December 2022 A=—=T=—
+=—A=+—H 63,596 52,856 - 10,740
As at 31 December 2021 RZE——4F
+=H=-+—8 97,978 77,455 19,017 1,506
Trade and bills receivables that are neither past due nor WA HITERENEYNE SRR RE
impaired relate to a wide range of customers for whom there WER BT B | R LN Z 2R P
is no recent history of default. B -
Trade and bills receivables that are past due but not impaired B BB ERE R RS ZRR '
relate to a number of independent customers that have a good WEIERBEAREEZ LA R FNREHEN
track payment record with the Group. Based on past BURFPER - BEBEBELR NG
experience, management believes that no allowance for BEEEWEEKNEE MRS AR
doubtful debts is necessary in respect of these balances as BEUE - NEEEEEHARZSE
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and BREH REREME -

the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26.[EINE AR EHbEUFRIE
(Continued) (&)
Included in trade and other receivables are the following FEUE 5 BR 3k & E th R W SR IE B 3R T 5
amounts in currencies other than the functional currency of UHHEEBR EEANIEEE I ER
the relevant group entity to which they relate: FIEREEE
2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FHEIT
us$ = 31,739 55,442
GBP £S5 877 -
27.LOAN RECEIVABLES 27. EWSER
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHEIT
Loan receivables FEUE T 103,901 52,435
Less: Provision for impairment of loan B R E FORE RS
receivables (26,791) (13,358)
77,110 39,077
Presented as: E55
— Non-current assets —EREFEE 46,289 3,206
— Current assets — REBEE 30,821 35,871
77,110 39,077
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27.LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

The credit quality analysis of the loan receivables is as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired 3 f 460 BR TR (E

27. BUXSTR &)

RRERNEEERZITOT

2022 2021
—E-CHF —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
77,110 39,077

The carrying amounts of the loan receivables are denominated
in the following currencies:

RMB AR

FEWE R BREEIA T E®EHE

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERx FET
77,110 39,077

All of the loans receivable bear interest and are repayable
within the fixed term agreed with the borrowers. As at 31
December 2022, the average effective interest rate of the loans
receivable was 5.5% to 12% (2021: 5.5% t0 12%) per annum.

FrB W EZ At B AR EE R AR
EHEEHRAEE - AT ==
+=—A=+—H BERERNFEHER
MEABGESSHE12% (2T = —F
5.5% % 12%) ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-—ZT - —F+_-_A=+—HILFE

27.LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

Movements on the Group's impairment of loan receivables are

27. BUWER#)
AEEEEREFRER BT

as follows:
Loan receivables
EWER

Lifetime Lifetime

ECL ECL

12-month (not-credit (credit
ECL impaired) impaired) Total

BEEN BFESEN

1288 EHEEFE BEHCESE
BHEEFE (YREEHE) (E&RE) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL TEL TEL
As at 1 January 2021 R-ZZE-_—F—f—H 6,329 - - 6,329
Transfer to 12-month ECL ERZ1VEARHEESE = = = -

Transfer to lifetime EREFERH
(not-credit impaired) (TEEERE) (1,070) 1,070 = =
Transfer to lifetime (creditimpaired) EEZEEEDE (EEHE) = - - -
Total transfer between stages BB 2 R B R B %E (1,070) 1,070 = =
Charge for the year FAZH 4,750 2.279 - 7,029
As at 31 December 2021 and RZZEZ—%5+=ZRA=+—H

1 January 2022 NK=_Z-—F—F—H 10,009 3,349 - 13,358
Transfer to 12-month ECL ERENEARBCEERR - - - -
Transfer to lifetime B FEHH - (381) 381 -
Transfer to lifetime (credit impaired) & ZE &M (EEHE) (1,871) = 1,871 =
Total transfer between stage ERBENEESR (1,871) (381) 2,252 -
Charge for the year FAYML 5,047 3,078 5,308 13,433
As at 31 December 2022 R-E-_—F+-A=+—H 13,185 6,046 7,560 26,791

In general, loans receivable are considered as default with the —MmE - MEKEREE180K - Al
loans receivable being overdue by 180 days. As at 31 R ERBAR BB ° EA_§::$&
December 2022 and 2021, loan receivables were not default —E-—F+-"A=+—8  HMEENK
under lifetime ECL. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, no loan EXRGEHEMNEREESBIETER
receivables nor interest receivables were default. BN -R_BE-_—_FR-_ZT-_—F+=H1
=+—H WMERKERLEWT S

HEEX o

For loans receivables that are not credit-impaired without
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
(“Stage 1"), ECL is measured at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime ECL that results from default events possible
within the next 12 months. If a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition is identified (“Stage 2") but not yet
deemed to be credit-impaired, ECL is measured based on
lifetime ECL. If credit impaired is identified (“Stage 3"), ECL is
measured based on lifetime ECL. In general, when loans
receivable and interest receivables are overdue by 30 days,
there is significant increase in credit risk.

HRE A BORE DA K B #1158 SR DA K
EERRITEBEREN((E—BR] D
FEJ%Z?T/TA EHREEBRENTESEE
AR 1218 A R AT 8 %’*’fﬂ’\]@%"]%#g
BN FERANEREEEB 2B
fin 5 TETE B ¥)96 e R féﬁ%ﬂf%ﬁ%ﬁ%i‘
MIE=ZFERDERRERBEER
B AFEBEEEERBEFERHENTE
HESBEAE - WERETEHREER
ME(E=ZRR])  AFEHEEEER
BEERRNBREEERTE - —R
mE - & REKE R EYR S8 E30 K
ET 1*’%” fAﬂE%i‘j][] °
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27.

28.

SRS HR&MIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-_F+_-_A=+—HILFE

LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the charge of impairment allowance
of loans receivable of approximately HK$13,433,000 (2021:
approximately HK$7,029,000), was due to change in probability
of default and loss given default during the year.

A maturity profile of the loans receivable at the end of the
reporting period, based on the maturity date, net of provision,
is as follows:

27. BUXSTR &)

R-E-_—F+-_A=+—H EK
B R A B 8 30 B 4913,433,0007% 7T
(ZZT——4: 497,029,000/ 7T) * = H
PE RIE KL R K IB 49 1B R B B AT R o

R EHROEWERBIHER - &
H1E (fORRBUE) SHET ¢

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FH&T

Within one year —FR 30,821 35,871
On the second to fifth year inclusive MEL EBTBBRF 46,289 3,206
77,110 39,077

All the interest receivables at the end of the reporting period,
based on the maturity date, are within one year.

HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS

Equity securities at quoted market prices xR E % (IR IG5 HE)

— listed outside Hong Kong — RBEBFINET

RBERR - A RYEF SIZBI BB
BR—FA-

28. HERERSE

2022 2021
—E-CHF T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHET

- 24

Held-for-trading investments are classified as financial assets
at FVTPL and are determined based on the quoted market bid
prices available on the relevant stock exchange and categories
at level 1 under fair value hierarchy.

FIEEERE D BREAFEIRL
ERENEBENESREE  WRENA
BESRZAAIENTSEEAREETE
EEBERAHERRF B -
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SRS HR&MIEE

29. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, bank balances and cash held
by the Group at prevailing market rates. The maturities of bank
balances and bank deposits are within three months.

Bank balances and bank deposits carry interest at average
market rates of 0.3% (2021: 0.3%) per annum.

At 31 December 2022, conversion of the Group's bank balances
and cash denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
RMB12,333,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$13,320,000)
(2021: RMB17,949,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$21,898,000)) into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC's
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts
in currencies other than the functional currency of the Group
to which they relate:

us$ ETT
EUR BT
RMB AR

GBP HgE

29. iRiT

TRBRRIAE

RZE_—_FR-_ZE-_—F+=A
=+—H BOUEBEKAIEERERE
ﬁﬁ%ﬂ¥ﬂ§MEé IR1THERR R 6B
TERR =@ RNEE -

RITHERRIBITEFIZOIE(ZE
F :0.3E)KF m%ia’“ﬂ%ﬂ% °

RZZEZ—_F+-_A=+—0H ' L&
EUAREFENRITEHEBESHOA
R 12,333,000 7T (48 & 1 49 13,320,000
BL) (ZE2E=—F : AR 17,949,000
7T (FEE A #21,898,00078 7T ) ) 3.3 Ak
* 7B 2 P B SN B R AK D) R A BE - B
M EE IR R EFIBR ©

fETT EHR RIS BR TIIAREENI)
BRI EEIIERN SR

2022 2021
—E-= B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T

139 10,838

- 146

1,548 30,742

14 4,607




&
—_ =

—ZFEFR

AFESEEZERBERLT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(=]
TR

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

SRS HR&MIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 %},

BT

F+=A=+—AILEE

30. [Ef1 SRR H fth & {4 FR1A

2022 2021

—E-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAET

Trade and bills payables EREB SRR RENEE 67,119 62,652
Accrued expenses R X 30,238 37,317
Other payables H b~ B 26,151 10,913
Other tax payables H b fET TR IR 7,450 6,032
Deposit received Blize 89,056 -
Contract liabilities aHaE 1,275 4,215
154,170 58,477

221,289 121,129

An ageing analysis of trade and bills payables based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

RBEHR  BNEZERIRENRE

REZAHNREDTIT

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FET

Within 30 days or on demand 30 H kiR Bk 9,966 18,238
31-90 days 31290H 15,928 26,539
91 days to 1 year NHE1F 35,558 11,462
Over 1 year HBiE1F 5,667 6,413
67,119 62,652

The average credit period on purchases of goods is ranging
from 30 to 90 days. The Group has financial risk management
policies in place to ensure that all payables are settled within

the credit timeframe.

BEEmMFHEESMNFI0HZED
B AEERAVBEERERRE A

HRAAE RN RBEEREERAA -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-__F+_-_A=+—HItFE

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Included in trade and other payables are the following amounts

30. & {18 A RAR H fth [& 1 5818

(%)

BNEZEAREMENKBERE TS

denominated in currencies other than the functional currency LA ERE NI EE N T
of the relevant group entity to which they relate: FIEREEE
2022 2021
—E-C-F = —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
us$ ETT 214 184
The following table shows the amount of the revenue TRERREBE_E-_—ER T ——

recognised for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities.

FT_A=1T-BLFEEINEES

MELESNEESRR -

2022
—E-—F
HK$’000
FERT
Revenue recognised that was included ~ #A— A —Hit AA DA BEEHH
in the contract liabilities balance at BERlE — HEYBK
1 January — Sales of silicone rubber EEE MR

and related products 3,888

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FETT

30,420
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31.BORROWINGS 31. 8%
2022 2021
—E-= T —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHIT
Carrying amounts of borrowings that BERE K R B R
are not repayable on demand or —FRNEENER
within one year from the end BRMEE - M
of the reporting period but:
— contain a repayment on demand clause — 2B ERERIFK 192,176 13,500
Amounts classified as current liabilities NEERRBAENKIE 192,176 13,500
Amounts classified as non-current DERIERBEERNFIE
liabilities 4,133 2,146
196,309 15,646
Carrying amounts repayable (based on EEENREE(ENER M
scheduled repayment dates set out Frs MGt EIE R B E) -
in the loan agreements):
Within one year —&ER 192,176 13,500
More than one year but not exceeding —F U BENEBRE
two years - 2,146
Over two years but exceeding five years ~ R BT BB R E 4,133 -
196,309 15,646
As at 31 December 2022, borrowings of approximately RZE_—_F+-_A=+—H " g%
HK$196,309,000 are repayable in 2023 to 2027 (2021: 196,309,000/ B T HER — S -_=F%F
approximately HK$15,646,000 are repayable ranged from 2022 —+HFEEE(ZT = —F : #15,646,000

to 2023).

The effective interest rates on the Group’s bank borrowings
ranged from 3.25% to 14% (2021: 2.64% t0 3.06%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2022, investment properties located in
Hong Kong under medium-term leases with carrying value of
approximately HK$21,000,000 (2021: approximately
HK$4,216,000) have been pledged to secure borrowing
granted to the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, land and building located in PRC
under medium-term leases with carrying value of
approximately HK$135,357,000 (2021: Nil) have been pledged
to secure borrowing granted to the Group.

BILER_E-_—_FEx_ZT_=FRNHE
E) e

REBRITEROERENENF325
EZEUE(ZT = —F : 264[EE3.06
E) =

21 000, OOO/’éTE(_7 ——F: %'34,216,000
BN EBREFHEERENIRE
MEE TER  (EARASBMEREBRK
HPELR o

R-ZE-_—F+-_A=+—H" EEE
#7135,357,0008 t(ZE = —F : &)L
REBEREFHHESHEN L REF
EFHRIE - (EARNSBFTERERAE
& o
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32.LEASE LIABILITIES 32. 1lE6E
2022 2021
—E-CF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T Fi&TT
within 1 year 1FER 12,844 14,085
Within a period of more than 1 year 1FA LB B2 F 2 BN
but not exceeding 2 years 12,353 13,366
Within a period of more than 2 years 2F A EEN BB F 2 HIF R
but not exceeding 5 years 23,141 26,221
Within a period of more than 5 years S5F A EZ HIMA 16,616 9,478
64,954 63,150
Less: Amount due for settlement with B mEIBERR 12 AR
12 months shown under BIR4EE 2 IR
current liabilities (12,844) (14,085)
Amount due for settlement after EREBEEMR12E A%
12 months shown under FIEB4EE 2 IR
non-current liabilities 52,110 49,065

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to
lease liabilities range from 3.45% to 11.13% (2021: 3.45% to

15.70%).

Lease obligations are denominated in the functional currencies

of the relevant group entities.

R A53.45%%11.13%
Z15.70%) ©
HEEBUAHBEER
=

ERANEER B/ INEFIHEEERA

.

=

—4F : 3.45%
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SRS HR&MIEE

33.ASSETS AND LIABILITIES OF DISPOSAL

GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 5 July 2021, the Group entered into a sales and purchase
agreement (the "Agreement”) with United Crown Century
Company Limited (the “Purchaser”) to dispose of its 71% of
equity interest in Ta Yang Medical Investment Limited and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, which through its subsidiary hold the
properties in Hanian, PRC at consideration of approximately
RMB14,771,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$17,725,000) in
cash and the repayment of borrowing as at the date of
disposal. The disposal had not been completed as at 31
December 2021 and the subsidiaries’ net assets were classified
as held for sales.

33. i

BRISIFLEENLEHNSS
Ekafs

RZEBE-_—FtARBE  NEEEBT
HLEERARATERDILEE e
(TZHh&E ) UHEERKFEERE
BRARREZEHBR T 71%E0AHE -
BEZBEMBRABBEMN TR ERE
Wy REAHARE14771,0007T
(FEER#17,725000/8 T) & M EE
RHEBHNER R_T=-—F+=
A=+—8 H&EFBEHATK B
ARNEEFEDBAIBELE -

At 31 December 2021, the major classes of assets and liabilities R-E-_—F+_A=+—H HEHA
of the disposal group are as follows: EMEFEEERAGBEANNT :
HK$'000
FET
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R 68,267
Right-of-use assets CREEE 117,522
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR IR E 1,886
Other receivables H At R FRIE 17,378
Total assets classified as held for sales SEARBIEHENEELE 205,053
Trade and other payables FES B 2 BR 5k SR Ho A FE - 5RIE 150,277
Borrowings B 176,900
Total liabilities associated with assets classified HABEARENENEEMRBLN
as held for sale ABfERsE 327,177

As at 31 December 2021, right-of-use assets and properties
with carrying amount of approximately HK$148,250,000 has
been pledged to secure borrowings of approximately
HK$174,460,000.

On 28 January 2022, the Group and the Purchaser entered into
a termination agreement whereby the parties have agreed to
terminate the Agreement and restore on transaction
arrangements which have occurred by cause of the Agreement
to the position before entering into of the Agreement.

R-E-—F+-_A=+—H " KHEE
#9148,250,000 78 JT K {5 FR 1 & 22 R W 35
BT - 1EAE K4 174,460,0007% 7T
HPELR o

R-ZBE-_—F#—A=-+/\B K&EEH

BRI RIS B ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬂ
IFZ e THEREZBHRNEENR

LHEIRIE = 3] 3 32 ek AT RIARRE ©
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34.SHARE CAPITAL 34. 37K
Authorised and issued share capital EERBESBITRIK
Number of shares Share capital
ROEE R
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE —E--F —E-CF B

‘000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR THET

Ordinary shares of SREE01ETH

HK$0.1 each EF il
Authorised: BE

At 1January and 31 December ~ R—A—BEt+-A=+—H 20,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

Issued and fully paid: BREIKBHE

At 1 January R—A—H 1,306,767 871,178 130,677 87,118

Issuance of shares (Note) TR (B E) - 435,589 - 43,559

At 31 December W+=A=1+—H 1,306,767 1,306,767 130,677 130,677

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company W HE—FT=-_—F+=-_A=+—HItF
completed a rights issue (the “Rights Issue”) on the basis of B ARARR=—E-_—FRAA=-1+N\AH
one rights shares for every two existing shares held on 28 May RER/HEMREABRMDERE —RERR
2021 at the subscription price of HK$0.14 per rights share and PR EAETER (THR]) - REES
allotted and issued 435,589,000 shares of the Company. Gross FIEIATD 0148 T - WHLEE KRBT
Rights Issue proceeds of HK$60,983,000 of which HK$43,559,000 7R R ] #9 435,589,000 A% A 17 o 4 A% FiT
was credited against share capital and the remaining proceeds 15 7} I8 42 58 /60,983,000 Jr » E A
of HK$17,424,000 were credited against the share premium 43,559,000 Tt ABR AR - i HERETS
account. FKIE 17,424,000 7T aT ARR 5 5= EER o
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35. DEFERRED INCOME 35. IBREUX A

2022 2021

—E-CF —E -4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FAET

At 1 January n—H—H 2,281 3,165
Exchange realignment PE 5 & (250) 68
Release upon disposal o = B ) - (807)
Credited to profit or loss FFAEZE (141) (145)
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 1,890 2,281
In 2013, the Group received a government grant (“Grant B”) of RZZ—=F AEERBERSHDHE
approximately HK$2,962,000 from 2 2= & £ 5 fig /5 for the Z BB REMKE REMEIERMNBD
development of high resolution flexible circuit board 4 T #92,962,000 % T KB AT f B & ([ 48
technology. During the year ended 31 December 2022, B&Ez)) REZE-_ZT-_—_F+=A8
deferred income of approximately HK$141,000 (2021: = +—HLFE ' BELEWAL 141,000 7%
HK$145,000) has been recognised for Grant B in the L (=ZZ = —% : 14500078 7C) B 5L B

consolidated statement of profit or loss. SRR EERRER o
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #Z_Z_-__F+_-_A=+—HItFE

36. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The following are the major deferred tax (assets)/liabilities

36. EETRIASE &l

REERBEFECHAN T ERTER

recognized and movements thereof during the current and B(EE)/BEREEFHNT :
prior years:
Deferred
income
Unrealised Change in arising
(profits)/  Accelerated fair value from
loss on tax  Estimated of government
inventories depreciation  tax losses  properties grants Total
BREBE
FENRER mE fbst WEN EENEL
(%7, B8 BEHE BHEBRE AVESE WA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET FET TET FET FET
As at 1 January 2021 R=Z-—%—f—H 25 266 (266) 15,653 (807) 14,871
Exchange realignment B AR = = = 207 23 230
Released upon disposal &R - = - (15,860) 214 (15,646)
As at 31 December 2021 and RZE=—F
1 January 2022 +-A=+—-HkK
—“T-—%#—f—H 25 266 (266) - (570) (545)
Exchange realignment B R = = - - 62 62
Charge from OCl AEM2EKENR - - - 1,332 - 1,332
Charge to PIL stABRHE = = = 1,452 35 1,487
As at 31 December 2022 R-F-=F
+-A=+—H 25 266 (266) 2,784 (473) 2,336

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary differences attributable to the profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$7,272,000 (2021:
approximately HK$10,448,000) as the Group is able to control

the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
foreseeable future.

itis
the

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax
losses of approximately HK$332,292,000 (2021: approximately

HK$383,726,000) available for offset against future profits.

No

deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of the losses

due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

RBOEMRBHE  HEMBARHA
ZZENF-A-BRARMARENE K
M B B BMMIEINT - AEBIY EREZS
AR ERR R Rl BB A RDE N EL
BB M E 497,272,000 T( ZF
Z——% : £910,448,000 % 7T ) TR IERERT
TREE - RAR/ANKEE MR
RUEZENKE BRFEREERET
RAJBERA A) B SR ]

RBERR - AEREH WA BRIAE

B #332,2920008 T (ZF=—F : 4

383,726,000/87T) » Al {HE SHARIOG A o

R R BETRRT R A& AR - BLELE
REERBEE °
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37.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those
for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

37.

MEEMEENSEHIR

TRAMAGBAEERETHELRE
MBS BREASRIFRCE - BE
ABELNABRASREREDKLHARRK
BenE8RenGaRenERN B R
BETPHELRSRENARE -

Interest
payables
(including
in trade
and other Lease
Borrowings payables) liabilities Total
ERFIE
(BHEREM
EAHRRK
R HttEARE) HESE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THT TET THT
As at 1 January 2021 RZE-_—%—f—H 237,591 762 14,004 252,357
Financing cash flow BEHRETE (65,978) (762) (13,300) (80,040)
Increase in lease liabilities from HEESHEREEM
entering into new leases - - 54,059 54,059
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — B AR - - 9,831 9,831
Early termination of leases AR IEEE = = (3,891) (3,891)
Reclassified as held for sales BN BERRELE (176,900) = = (176,900)
Interest expense incurred BELFEHAY 20,582 - 2,234 22,816
Exchange adjustment Ik 351 - 213 564
As at 31 December 2021 and RZE-_—F+-A=+—H
1 January 2022 —Z-—%—f-H 15,646 - 63,150 78,796
Financing cash flow MERERE (14,057) - (16,327) (30,384)
Increase in lease liabilities from A AEESHESEEN
entering into new leases - - 23,278 23,278
Reclassified from held for sales BRELEENHE 176,900 - - 176,900
Early termination of leases AL E - - (2,699) (2,699)
Interest expense incurred BEAFERY 23,960 - 4,029 27,989
Exchange adjustment R (6,140) - (6,477) (12,617)
As at 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_F+-A=+—H 196,309 - 64,954 261,263
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38. ACQUISITIONS OF A SUBSIDIARY 38. Wi —REMIE A S)
On 4 June 2021, WTS 2020 Limited, a subsidiary of the Group RZE-Z—FANHE  AEEHRBEA
entered into share transfer agreement with independent third AIWTS 2020 Limited 2% 37 55 = 7 5] 3L
parties, pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase 60% e ZEGE Bt ~AEEREEE
equity interest of East Shack Ltd. at consideration of East Shack Ltd. 60% % # - X B &9 &
approximately GBP318,000 (equivalent to HK$3,417,000). 318,000 &% (FE 7 3,417,000 47T ) °
The acquisition of East Shack Ltd. was completed on 13 August East Shack Ltd. WIESEITHEER =T = —4F
2021. NA+=BA5%K °
HK$'000
FET
Fair value of assets and liabilities RREHHEINEER
recognised at the date of acquisition: BEAFE:
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB KRG 1,078
Right-of-use assets FREEE 9,259
Trade receivables FEUE 2 IR 5K 26
Inventories FE 542
Prepayment and other receivables TR FRIE K Bt R MR IE 984
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRIRS 1,038
Trade payables B E ZERR (806)
Other payables H fth fE T 3IR (205)
Lease liabilities HEBE (9,831)
Total fair value of identifiable net FrisiE B2 R EEFE 2
assets acquired N ERE 2,085
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEBEENEE
HK$'000
FET
Consideration transferred EEERE 3,417
Add: non-controlling interest 40% Jn B East Shack Ltd.
in East Shack Ltd. FEFEARHE 53 1 40% 834
Less: recognised amount of net acquired B BRI F R (2,085)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WHRE AR P8 2,166
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38. ACQUISITIONS OF A SUBSIDIARY

(Continued)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of East Shack Ltd.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
#n O Bl 855 R Bl 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022 #HZ—-_ZT—-—F+_-_A=+—HILFE

38. KE—RMEAS (2

Uk B8 East Shack Ltd. WIR &7 558

HK$'000

FExT

Consideration paid BEfRE (3,417)
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances acquired & : PFTURIEIR & RIR S EEW4E4 1,038
(2,379)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

Included in the loss for the year is HK$2,158,000 attributable to
the additional business generated by East Shack Ltd.

Had the acquisition of East Shack Ltd. been completed on 1
January 2021, revenue for the year of the Group from
continuing operations would have been HK$20,958,000, and
loss for the year from continuing operations would have been
HK$6,474,000. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1
January 2021, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the Group
had East Shack Ltd. been acquired at the beginning of the
current year, the directors of the Company calculated
depreciation of property, plant and equipment based on the
recognised amounts of property, plant and equipment at the
date of the acquisition.

WREREIEERENE

N B8 B 45 East Shack Ltd. A48 & 58 4h
SRR 2,158,000 7T ©

figj East Shack Ltd. i EBE R =T = —
F—HA—HBHEK AEBRAFELE
T H F WUk 2 6 & 20,958,000% 7T
MREBFELEEFNFANEEL B
6,474,000/ 7 - EZERHEMRFE K
WRER-_TE-_—F—F—BUWESHE
TEREREEETREES 2 W KL
EEBEZIEE - TR ERREE ZTEA -

REEEARBERNAFE U East
Shack Ltd. 155 T &Y [ B2 | Wt Ks
MEF - RABEFRBEWE R HC HER
MYE - BMELRBLBEAEDE K
FRERBOITE -
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed
of its entire interests in Ta Yang Sojourn Industry Co., Limited
and its subsidiaries, which in engaged in investment project in
the PRC. The net assets of Ta Yang Sojourn Industry Co.,
Limited and its subsidiaries at the date of disposal were as

39. HEMIE S
HEeE—_ZT-_ -+ _-_A=+—HI&
B AEBHEERKNFREEERR
RRIREKRB AR (ERFREREREE
B2 -  KFIREEXBRAF
MEMBARNEE R HNEEFEN

follow, s

HK$'000

FET

Net assets disposal of: BEHEEEFHE
Property, plant and equipment VI - BB RERE 1,988
Interest in an associate R— A& QR 17,181
Cash and bank balance Re MRTTHE R 80
Other receivables H M pE U IR 339
Group’s share of net assets disposed of AEERGEENEEEFE 19,588
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBATNERE
Group's share of net assets disposal of AEBEGCEHEEETFE (19,588)
Consideration receivables YR E 5,000
Exchange reserves b 5 (e 11,723
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMN B AR R EE (2,865)
Net cash outflow arising on disposal HEEENRSRTFRE
Cash and bank balance disposal of EHERS RIRITHER (80)

Subsequent to the end of reporting period, the consideration
receivable of HK$1,500,000 was received.

1,500,000 7T ©

BB E KB
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. FiERRX 5
(a) oOther than disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated Q) BRAGAMBHREIITHEEN
financial statements, the Group entered into the following RER  REBEEBERI VAT
transactions with related parties during the year: R5:
Name of related party Nature of transaction 2022 2021
BELER XEZHE —EICF T —5F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHET
Ms. Shi Qi (Note) Rental expense - 241
Merr 2z + (M at) HeMx
Note: The transaction were carried out at terms determined and Hiat : ZRSTIRANEEEEGES
agreed by the Group and the related party. EETE R E BV IGTRETT -
(b) Compensation of key management (b) FLEIEASIRHM
personnel
The emoluments paid to the directors of the Company, MAQNREE(AASBEETEEE
who are the key management of the Group, are included AB) X2 e E Rk 18@)
in note 18(a).
41.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 41. ERIE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FHT

Capital expenditure contracted for but THRBHEETLEERREGES
not provided for in the consolidated W BENELRAX
financial statements in respect of:
— Acquisition of property, — WY - B KR
plant and equipment 9,849 5,964
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42.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42. K ASIN8FARiRZE
OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021
—E-CHF T —F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P5E FET FET

Non-current assets kRBEE
Plant and equipment = & & 3,412 4,544
Investment in subsidiaries R B RRIMIEE 124,160 124,160
127,572 128,704

Current assets REEE
Other receivables E fib e W IR 10,962 11,787
Amounts due from subsidiaries A = NGIE (a) 74,575 66,962
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS 2,372 2,073
87,909 80,822
Current liabilities REBAE

Other payables HAth FE T FRIR 6,945 6,104
Amounts due to subsidiaries FETHT B A R ZI8 (a) 233,634 198,206
240,579 204,310
Net current liabilities mEaEFER (152,670) (123,488)
Total assets less current liabilities  EE&ER B A G (25,098) 5,216

Capital and reserves BEXR#HE
Share Capital A% 7 130,677 130,677
Reserve & (b) (155,775) (125,461)
Total equity ERBEE (25,098) 5,216




_B_FFER

AFKEBEZERBERAST

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

S B 5 ¥ = bid 51
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ll‘l

42.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(@) Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries

(b)

The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and

repayable on demand.

Reserves

42. IRABINBTFEARIR % (&)

(@) FEU(FEfT) Bt B A BRI

BREE
Bi&

(b) f&t

R REER - 2B RRER

Capital
Share Accumulated redemption
premium losses reserve Total
B3R E ZitEE BEXEERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHET FHET
As at 1 January 2021 R—ZE-—%—HF—H 744,710 (754,594) 2,420 (7,464)
Issue of new shares upon %R 3417 H AL (D
rights issue 17,424 - - 17,424
Share issuing expense RDEEITHX (754) - - (754)
Total comprehensive FANEARZLE
expenses for the year - (134,667) - (134,667)
As at 31 December 2021 NZZEZ—F
and 1 January 2022 +-—A=+—HBK
—E-—#—HF—H 761,380 (889,261) 2,420 (125,461)
Total comprehensive FANZHERXEHE
expenses for the year - (30,314) - (30,314)
As at 31 December 2022 A=—T=—F
+=-A=+—8 761,380 (919,575) 2,420 (155,775)
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43. T 2MEAS

43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries held by the Company at the
end of the reporting periods are as follows:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
Name of subsidiary and operation
MR L
HEARER WHREELE
Ta Yang Silicone Rubber Industrial Hong Kong
Company Limited
KNEWBBIZERAR 30
Chief Ocean Limited Hong Kong
FEERRA 30
Ta Yang Medical Investment Hong Kong
Limited (“Ta Yang Medical")
AFBEREABRAR 30
([REBE])
Ta Yang Group Limited BVI/Hong Kong
AFEEEERAR EBREARE/
BE
Top View Investment Holdings BVI/Hong Kong
Limited
BREREERERAR EBREARE/
BE

Dongguan Ta Yang Silicone Rubber The PRC (note i)
Industrial Company Limited
RERNFYBERBERAR HB (Bt i)
Huzhou Ta Yang Electronic
Technology Company Limited
MMAFEFRBAERAR

The PRC (note i)

hE (ffati)

Class of
shares held

iR B85

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Contributed capital

BAER

Contributed capital

BAER

Issued share
capital/
registered
capital
BRITRE/
HEMER

HK$1,000,000

1,000,000 % 7T

HK$1

1787

HK$20,000,000

20,000,000 % 7T

US$11,930,811

11,930,811 %L

Uss$1

1%

HK$86,000,000
86,000,000 7T
US$38,000,000

38,000,000 7T

RBERR ARAFANEIEZMER

RGBT ¢
Attributable equity
interest of the Group
REBEERFER

2022 2021
—E-F —T-—F
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

Principal activities

TEER

Trading of silicone
rubber

BEWE

Provision of

management services

REERRS
Investment holding
REER
Investment holding
REER
Investment holding
REER
Manufacturing of
silicone rubber
SUEW R
Manufacturing of

silicone rubber
SEYR
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43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEARAH

Dongguan Tai Yang Rubber
Plastic Company Limited
(“Dongguan Tai Yang")

RENFSEARBRAR

(IREXH])

RF (88 BREXER

BRARA

=EEGRBEBRAR

WTS 2020 Limited

East Shack Ltd. (Note iif) (47 iii)

Notes:

Place of

incorporation/
establishment
and operation
MR AL
HHREEGY

The PRC (note i)

hE (ffati)

The PRC (note i)
H B (Bt i)

The PRC (note i)

hE (ffati)

United Kingdom

4

HEH

=

United Kingdom
HE

Class of
shares held

Fris R0 R

Contributed capital

BAER

Contributed capital
BABR

Contributed capital

BAER

Contributed capital

BAER

Contributed capital
BANER

F+=A=+—AILEE

43.

Issued share
capital/
registered
capital
BRTRE/
HEMER

HK$130,000,000

130,000,000 7% 7T

RMB150,000,000
A 150,000,000 7

RMVB50,000,000
AR 50,000,0007C
GBP1,001

1,001 &85

(GBP60,000
60,000 8%

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affect the
results or assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

The subsidiaries are wholly-owned foreign enterprise in the PRC.

i) For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired 60%
equity interest in East Shack Ltd. from the non-controlling
shareholder. Accordingly, East Shack Ltd. became a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group. Details are set out in Note 38.

T E2MEAT (%)

Attributable equity
interest of the Group Principal activities
FEBESRAES FEER
2022 2021
—E-F —ZT-—F
100% 100%  Manufacturing of
silicone rubber
SUEWR
100% 100% Healthcare service
BERERS
100% 100% Hotel service
BIEBR
100% 100%  Trading of silicone
rubber
BEVE
60% 60%  Retail service
TERY
Btat -

() ERITARFAEERREIBETEARE
EXEREENAEEMBAR - AR
AEERRFIIELHBEARENSS
HREBNITE

(i) ZEWBRARRETENINGBEE R
.,

iy BE—ZE-_—F+-_A=t+—HLHF
& AN 5 B ) JE 4R % A% R UK BE East
Shack Ltd. #960% A% # ° It » East
Shack Ltd. X AAEERIEZEHME R
7)o BRAFIEHNHIFESS ©
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A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

M EE T BREEZG AU BHRRNAEEB
EREAVBRFENEEUREEREBERES

published audited consolidated financial statements is set out below: AT -
RESULTS E 35
Seventeen
Yearended  months ended Year ended Yearended  Year ended
31July  31December  31December  31December 31 December
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—Z-N\E “E-NE e —Eo-F “E-CF
tA=t—B tZA=t—B +ZA=+-A +ZA=+—-A t=A=t-H
EFE TR IFEE EFE LEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHL THET THT TR
Revenue e 377,160 520,956 354,190 362,528 343,541
Loss for the year/period F/HRNER (4,310 (90,980) (95,825) (85,768) (98,904)
Attributable to: AT ALTFEL
—owners of the Company ~ — AREHEAA (3,756) (86,420) (95,822) (84,901) (98,063)
— non-controlling interests ~ — JEIERHER (554) (4,560) €) (867) (841)
(4,310) (90,980) (95,825) (85,768) (98,904)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES aEn8lE
As at As at As at As at As at
31July  31December  31December  31December 31 December
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
—T-)N\F “E-NF “Z-%F —E-&F —E-CF
+A=+—-H +ZA=+—-8 +ZA=+—-H +=ZA=+—-H +t=ZA=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL FTHL THL THT TR
Total assets BERE 914,240 804,363 786,340 788,449 641,517
Total liabilities BERE (467,856) (467,443) (508,138) (546,511) (505,137)
Total equity BEnigE 446,384 336,920 278,202 241,938 136,380
Equity attributable to: MTATEG#ES
owners of the Company AREEBA 442,173 333,765 275,060 242,460 137,463
non-controlling interests IFERR i R 4211 3,155 3,142 (522) (1,083)
Total equity BEnigE 446,384 336,920 278,202 241,938 136,380
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Definitions

“Board”
3l

“Company”
[ARRE]]

“connected person(s)”,
“percentage ratio(s)” and
“subsidiary(ies)”

[BEAT] [BOoE] R
(AR

“Directors”
(%]

“Group”
[AREE |

“HK$", "HKD"
[&7t]

“Hong Kong"
[ &%

“Listing Rules”
[ AR Al

"PRC"
[

“RMB”, “Renminbi”
(AR

“SFO"
[ 5827 R AR RA

“Shareholder(s)”
&5 ]

the board of Directors of the Company
KRBEEE

Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability, whose Shares are listed on the Main Board of

the Stock Exchange
NESEZERERAGF - —FARHASEHSTMAIHERAF - HRHRN
B FTEAR

each has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

FBEALETRAET 2 RE

the directors of the Company
KRRESE

the Company and its subsidiaries
AREREWE QA

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
B BAEEEHY

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEBRRITTEHR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
B FTEES E AR Al

the People’s Republic of China (for the purpose of this report, excluding
Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan)
FEARENEH  BHAREMS - TREES  BPIFIITHRE RS E

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
ARY  pBUXEEY

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended or supplemented from time to time
BREGIFE 571 BEF LAEGRD (G NRHERT ST )

holder(s) of the Shares
EEHESTEPN
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Definitions

“Shares”
[ixn ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B 22 P

“the year”
[FR]

ny
[%]

“Chief Executive Officer/CEQ”
[1TER 4B, |

“Chairlady”
[E/F]

“Model Code”

[ ra)]

ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company
AR E AR AR EE 0.10 T /) I A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BBBMERIMERAA]

the year ended 31 December 2021
BE-_T-—F+-_A=+—RHIFE

per cent

ANk

chief executive officer of the Company
RNAFHTHAREL

chairlady of the Board
ExgIR

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers

stated in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
LETRBIEETFTEC LM ETAZESETESF R HHIZLESFA])

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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